Public Document Pack

AGENDA
CABINET
Thursday 17 March 2022 at 10.30 am
Council Chamber, Town Hall, Royal Tunbridge Wells, TN1 1RS

Members:

Councillor Dawlings (Chairman), Councillors Scott (Vice-Chairman), Fairweather,
March and McDermott

Quorum:

3 Members (to include either the Leader or Deputy Leader)

1

Apologies
To receive any apologies for absence.

(Pages 5 - 6)

2

Declarations of Interest
To receive any declarations of interest by Members in items on
the agenda. For any advice on declarations of interest; please
contact the Monitoring Officer before the meeting.

(Pages 7 - 8)

3

Notification of visiting Members wishing to speak
To note any members of the Council wishing to speak, of which
due notice has been given in accordance with Cabinet Procedure
Rule 28.4, and which item(s) they wish to speak on.

(Pages 9 - 10)

4

Minutes of the meeting dated 10 February 2022
To approve the minutes of a previous meeting as a correct record.
The only issue relating to the minutes that can be discussed is
their accuracy.

(Pages 11 - 14)

5

Questions from Members of the Council
To receive any questions from members of the Council, of which
due notice has been given in accordance with Cabinet Procedure
Rule 28.3, to be submitted and answered.

(Pages 15 - 16)

6

Questions from Members of the Public
To receive any questions from members of the public, of which
due notice has been given in accordance with Cabinet Procedure
Rule 28.5, to be submitted and answered.

(Pages 17 - 18)

7

Consideration of the Forward Plan as at 8 March 2022
To note any forthcoming items as set out in the Forward Plan.

(Pages 19 - 32)

Page 1

Leader of the Council
8

Town Hall - Appointment of Co-working Tenderer
To consider and decide on the recommendations as set out in the
associated report.

(Pages 33 - 62)

9

Performance Summary Quarter 3
To consider and decide on the recommendations as set out in the
associated report.

(Pages 63 - 114)

10

Capital Management Report Quarter 3
To consider and decide on the recommendations as set out in the
associated report.

(Pages 115 - 178)

11

Revenue Management Report Quarter 3
To consider and decide on the recommendations as set out in the
associated report.

(Pages 179 - 208)

12

Treasury and Prudential Indicator Management Report
Quarter 3
To consider and decide on the recommendations as set out in the
associated report.

(Pages 209 - 228)

Communities and Wellbeing Portfolio
13

Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 20212026
To consider and decide on the recommendations as set out in the
associated report.

(Pages 229 - 312)

14

Urgent Business
To consider any other items which the Chairman decides are
urgent, for the reasons to be stated, in accordance with Section
100B(4) of the Local Government Act 1972.

(Pages 313 - 314)

15

Date of Next Meeting
To note that the date of the next scheduled meeting is Thursday
14 April 2022 at 10:30am.

(Pages 315 - 316)

EXEMPT ITEM(S)
It is proposed that, pursuant to section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 and the
Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006, the public be excluded from
the meeting for the following item(s) of business on the grounds that it/they may involve the
likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part I, Schedule 12A of the Act, by virtue
of the particular paragraph(s) shown on the agenda and on the attached report(s).
16

Exempt Appendices to Town Hall - Appointment of Coworking Tenderer (Item 8)
Exempt from disclosure by virtue of paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A
of the Local government Act 1972 (as amended): Information
relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person
including the authority holding that information.

Page 2

(Pages 317 - 348)

Democratic Services Team
Tel:
(01892) 554413
Email: Committee@TunbridgeWells.gov.uk

Town Hall
ROYAL TUNBRIDGE WELLS
Kent TN1 1RS

Watch Live
Watch this meeting live via the Council’s website.
Archived recordings of previous meetings are also available.
Visit www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/webcasts
Go Paperless
Easily download, annotate and keep all committee paperwork on your
mobile device using the mod.gov app – all for free!.
Visit www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/modgovapp

Page 3

Attending Meetings
Meetings are held in the town hall and are webcast live online.
Any member of the public may attend to watch/listen in person or online live via our website on
the relevant committee’s meeting page. A recording of the meeting will also be available shortly
after the end of the meeting.
All meetings and agenda are open to the public except where confidential information is being
discussed. The agenda of the meeting will identify whether any meeting or part of the meeting is
not open to the public and explain why.

Speaking at Meetings
Members of the public are encouraged to participate and may speak to the Council directly on
any item on the agenda for up to 3 minutes. Members of the public (and any members of the
Council who are not members of the committee) will need to register with Democratic Services
in advance. Please see the agenda item titled Notification of Persons Registered to Speak
for more details.

Coming to the Town Hall
All visitors attending a public meeting at the Town Hall should report to Reception via the side
entrance in Monson Way no earlier than 15 minutes before the start of the meeting.
Seating will be allocated on a first-come-first-serve basis. The Council may alter the number
and location of available seats if necessary on safety or public health grounds.
The public proceedings of this meeting will be recorded and made available for playback on the
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council website. Any other third party may also record or film
meetings, unless exempt or confidential information is being considered, but are requested as a
courtesy to others to give notice of this to the Clerk before the meeting. The Council is not liable
for any third party recordings.
Further details are available on the website www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/meetings or from
Democratic Services

If you require this information in another format
please contact us, call 01892 526121 or email
committee@tunbridgewells.gov.uk

Page 4

Agenda Item 1

Apologies for Absence
For Cabinet on Thursday 17 March 2022

Procedural Item
To receive any apologies for absence.

Page

1 of 1

Page 5

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Apologies for Absence

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 2

Declarations of Interest
For Cabinet on Thursday 17 March 2022

Procedural Item
To receive any declarations of interest by members in items on the agenda in accordance
with the Members’ Code of Conduct. For any advice on declarations of interest, please
contact the Monitoring Office before the meeting.

Page

1 of 1

Page 7

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Declarations of Interest

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 3

Notification of Persons Registered to
Speak
For Cabinet on Thursday 17 March 2022

Procedural Item
To note any members of the Council or members of the public registered to speak, of which
due notice has been given in accordance with Cabinet Procedure Rule 28.4 and 28.6, and
which item(s) they wish to speak on.

Page

1 of 1

Page 9

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Notification of Persons Registered to Speak

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4
1
TUNBRIDGE WELLS BOROUGH COUNCIL
CABINET
MINUTES of the meeting held at the Council Chamber, Town Hall, Royal Tunbridge Wells,
TN1 1RS, at 10.30 am on Thursday, 10 February 2022
Present: Councillor Tom Dawlings (Chairman)
Councillors Scott (Vice-Chairman), Fairweather, March and McDermott
Officers in Attendance: Lee Colyer (Director of Finance, Policy and Development (Section
151 Officer)), Paul Taylor (Director of Change and Communities), John Antoniades (Estates
Manager), Jane Fineman (Head of Finance and Procurement), Denise Haylett (Head of
Facilities and Community Hubs), Claudette Valmond (Head of Legal Partnership and Interim
Monitoring Officer) and Caroline Britt (Democratic Services Officer)
Other Members in Attendance:
APOLOGIES
CAB123/21

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Hamilton.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
CAB124/21

There were no disclosable pecuniary or other significant interests declared at
the meeting.

NOTIFICATION OF VISITING MEMBERS WISHING TO SPEAK
CAB125/21

There were no visiting Members who had registered as wishing to speak.

MINUTES OF THE MEETING DATED 13 JANUARY 2022
CAB126/21

Members reviewed the minutes. No amendments were proposed.
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting dated 13 January 2022 be
approved as a correct record.

QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL
CAB127/21

There were no questions from members of the Council.

QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC
CAB128/21

There were no questions from members of the public.

CONSIDERATION OF THE FORWARD PLAN AS AT 14 JANUARY 2022
CAB129/21

Members considered the plan. No amendments were proposed.
RESOLVED – That the Forward Plan as at 14 January 2022 be noted.

*BUDGET 2022/23 & MEDIUM TERMS FINANCIAL STRATEGY
CAB130/21

Lee Colyer, Director of Finance, Policy and Development introduced the
report set out in the agenda.

Page 11

Agenda Item 4
2

Discussion and questions from Members included the following:
-

-

It was noted that the Council had moved to a point where the deficit
was now reducing.
It was right that the Council had focused its attention on its residents
and businesses throughout the pandemic.
Going forward the Council was adopting a strategy that focused on
looking at possible income streams. This included the possible letting
out of the Town Hall for co-working.
It would be important for the Council to continue to investigate
opportunities to reduce costs and ensure efficiencies were made.

RESOLVED – That Full Council be recommended:
1. That the changes to the base budget along with the assumptions
and approach set out throughout the report be approved.
2. That the responses to the budget consultation be approved.
3. That the rolling forward of the capital programme including
additional gross funding of £2,140,500 for new schemes list within
the report be approved; and
4. That an increase in the Basic Amount of Council Tax of £5 per
annum for a Band D property be approved.
REASON FOR DECISION: To deliver a sustainable budget to deliver the
Council’s key objectives.
*ASSET MANAGEMENT PLAN 2022/23
CAB131/21

John Antoniades, Estates Manager introduced the report set out in the
agenda.
RESOLVED – That Full Council be recommended that the Asset
Management Plan 2022/23 be adopted
REASON FOR DECISION: The Plan supports the Council’s Corporate
Priorities in the Five-Year Plan.

PROPERTY TRANSACTION REPORT JULY TO DECEMBER 2021
CAB132/21

John Antoniades, Estates Manager introduced the report set out in the
agenda.
Discussion and questions from Members included the following:
-

-

-

The issue of the flying freehold was unusual in that some time ago
access on the first floor of the building had been blocked. This
became a blight on the Council’s assets as the Council did not receive
any benefits from its use or any rental income.
The Council had now been able to exclude the flying freehold from the
lease.
It was noted that a number of commercial properties that had been
available had now been either sold or rented out. It was hoped the
buoyancy in the market would continue and the Council’s assets
would strengthen.
There were no vacancies as a result of the pandemic that the Council

Page 12

Agenda Item 4
3

-

had not managed to relet.
The team were congratulated on their hard work during what was a
very challenging year.

To note the matter was decided taking the exempt information set out in the
Agenda as read.
RESOLVED – That the report be noted.
REASON FOR DECISION: To comply with the Constitution.
*TREASURY MANAGEMENT POLICY AND STRATEGY
CAB133/21

Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement and Parking introduced the
report set out in the agenda.
RESOLVED – That Full Council be recommended that the Treasury
Management Policy and Strategy 2022/23, as set out in Appendix A to the
report, be adopted.
REASON FOR DECISION:
The security of the Council’s cash and effective cash flow management is
vital in order to support all the services provided by the Council. The interest
received from the Council’s investments is an important source of income in
helping the Council set a balanced budget.

*CAPITAL STRATEGY
CAB134/21

Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement and Parking introduced the
report set out in the agenda.
RESOLVED – That Full Council be recommended that the Capital Strategy
2022/23, as set out at Appendix A to the report be adopted.
REASON FOR DECISION:
To provide guidance on the Council’s capital programme and the use of its
capital resources as required by the Chartered Institute for Public Finance
and Accountancy and Prudential Code and Treasury Management Codes

CCTV MONITORING CONTRACT
CAB135/21

Denise Haylett, Head of Facilities and Community Hubs introduced the report
set out in the agenda.
Discussion and questions from Members included the following:
-

-

The team were congratulated for successfully negotiating the contract
and the savings achieved.
This was a very valued and successful service that supported the
whole community.
The current tender included the space in the basement of the Town
Hall to house the CCTV equipment. However, the aim was to move
the operation to Sevenoaks, which would then free up the space in the
basement.
Tonbridge and Malling were happy to be included as part of the West
Kent Partnership with Sevenoaks.

Page 13

Agenda Item 4
4
-

Freeing up more space for co-working opportunities was welcomed.

To note the matter was decided taking the exempt information set out in the
Agenda as read.
RESOLVED –
1. That the head of Facilities and Community Hubs be given
delegated authority to award the new CCTV Monitoring Contract to
Supplier A and enter into a Contract with said Contractor for a
period of two years from 1 June 2022 with the option of two annual
extensions be approved.
2. That delegated authority be given to the head of Legal Services
and S151 Officer to undertake all legal and financial requirements
necessary to complete the CCTV Monitoring Contract be
approved.
3. That the Head of Legal Services be given delegated authority to
negotiate and complete the contract and all ancillary documents
as may be necessary be approved.
REASON FOR DECISION:
To provide the Council with the necessary services and provide certainty of
cost over the next four years using the most cost effective supplier.
URGENT BUSINESS
CAB136/21

There was no urgent business.

DATE OF NEXT MEETING
CAB137/21

The next meeting would be held on Thursday 17 March 2022 commencing at
10:30am.

NOTES:
The meeting concluded at 11.09 am.

Page 14

Agenda Item 5

Questions from Members of the Council
For Cabinet on Thursday 17 March 2022

Procedural Item
To receive any questions from members of the Council, of which due notice has been given
in accordance with Cabinet Procedure Rule 28.3, to be submitted and answered.

Page

1 of 1

Page 15

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Questions from Members of the Council

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6

Questions from Members of the Public
For Cabinet on Thursday 17 March 2022

Procedural Item
To receive any questions from members of the public, of which due notice has been given in
accordance with Cabinet Procedure Rule 28.5, to be submitted and answered.

Page

1 of 1

Page 17

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Questions from Members of the Public

This page is intentionally left blank

TUNBRIDGE WELLS BOROUGH COUNCIL

FORWARD PLAN
www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/forwardplan

Notice of Key Decisions / Notice of Private Meetings
Pursuant to the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012

This Plan gives at least 28 days notice if the Cabinet of Tunbridge Wells Borough Council intends to make a key decision1 or
make a decision in private2. Other decisions by the executive are also included on the Plan wherever possible.

Page 19

Relevant documents can be downloaded from the Council’s website or are available on request from: Democratic Services,
Town Hall, Royal Tunbridge Wells, TN1 1RS or committee@tunbridgewells.gov.uk. Documents may be submitted to the
decision maker via Democratic Services.
If it is necessary to hold a meeting in private, the reasons for this are stated alongside the decision. These reasons are
prescribed by Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) and summarised at the back of this Plan.

If the Council is unable to give 28 days notice, it will publish the reasons for this on its website and at its offices.

Councillor Tom Dawlings
Leader of the Council

Publication Date: 8 March 2022
The most recent version of the Plan supersedes all previously issued versions
Guidance notes are provided at the back of this document

Agenda Item 7

Representations against the intention to make a decision in private can be submitted in writing to Democratic Services no less
than ten working days before the meeting date.

Members of the Cabinet and their respective portfolios
Councillor Tom Dawlings
Finance and Governance
(Leader of the Council)
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Page 20

•
•
•

Strategic Policy
Finance
Property and Estates
Facilities
Operational Partnerships (including Mid
Kent Services)
Revenues and Benefits (including Fraud
and Debt Recovery)
Internal Audit
Legal Services
ICT / Digital Transformation / Cyber
Security
Project and Programme Management
Democratic Services
Human Resources (including Learning and
Development)

Councillor Andy Fairweather
Communities and Wellbeing
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Housing (including Private Sector and
Housing Needs)
Health
Community Centres and Hubs
Community Partnerships
Assets of Community Value
Rural Communities
Younger and Older People
Equalities and Equal Access
Lead Member for Rural Communities
Recycling and Waste Collection
Street Cleaning and Littering
Fly Tipping and Abandoned Vehicles

Councillor Alan McDermott
Planning and Transportation
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Planning Policy
Strategic Sites and Delivery
Development Management
Heritage and Conservation
Planning Enforcement
Land Charges
Building Control
Parking (on and off-street)
Transportation

•
•
•

Environmental Protection
Environmental Health
Food Hygiene and Health & Safety
Standards in businesses
Corporate Health and Safety
Licensing
Sustainability

Councillor David Scott
Economic Development
(Deputy Leader of the Council)

•
•
•

Economic Development and Tourism
Events (excluding the ice rink)
Business Engagements
Supporting economic recovery across the
Borough
Supporting the Town Centre
Community Safety and CCTV
Lead Member for Royal Tunbridge Wells

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Culture, Leisure and the Arts
Assembly Hall Theatre and Ice Rink
The Amelia Scott
Parks and Grounds Maintenance
Sports and Leisure Centres
Community Grants
Customer Access
Cemeteries and Crematorium

•
•
•

Agenda Item 7

•
•
•
•

Councillor Jane March
Environment, Culture and Leisure

Leader of the Council/ Finance and Governance Portfolio – Councillor Dawlings
Date of decision/ Full Council
Decision maker

Advisory
Board

Not before
07/02/22
Leader of the
Council

17/03/22
Cabinet

Report Title, Summary and Ward

Consultation Details

Removal of Restrictive Covenant for land
in Southborough

Page 21

01/03/22
Finance and
Governance
Cabinet
Advisory Board

17/03/22
Cabinet

01/03/22
Finance and
Governance
Cabinet
Advisory Board

Performance Summary Quarter 3
To consider an outline of the Council’s
performance against key strategic indicators.
Measures prescribed by Central Government
through the Single Data List (SDL) and the
progress against each of the strategic projects
as at end of December 2021.
(All Wards)
Revenue Management Report Quarter 3
To receive the financial position as at the end
of December 2021.
(All Wards)

Private?2
Full

Cabinet decision in July Katie Exon,
2021 approved supplier Corporate Property
engagement. Ongoing Manager
internal engagement
with CCWG and
Members. In addition
wider engagement
during tender process
is proposed. The
Finance and
Governance CAB will
be consulted.

Yes

Part

The Finance and
Governance Cabinet
Advisory Board will be
consulted.

Jane Clarke, Head
of Policy and
Governance

No

Open

The Finance and
Governance Cabinet
Advisory Board will be
consulted.

Jane Fineman,
Head of Finance
and Procurement

No

Open

Agenda Item 7

17/03/22
Cabinet

John Antoniades,
Estates Manager

Key?1
No

Report to be
published before
The Council disposed of this piece of land decision is made.
in 1987. The owner has requested the
removal of a restrictive covenant to
enable the construction of one house.
(Southborough & High Brooms)
01/03/22
Town Hall - Appointment of Co-working
Finance and
Tenderer
Governance
The report is to set out the compliant process
Cabinet
of selection and approval of the proposed CoAdvisory Board working tenderer to take a lease of some
19,800ft2 of the overall office accommodation,
wide operational management within the
Town Hall building and the external central
courtyard.
(All Wards)

Relevant Officer

Leader of the Council/ Finance and Governance Portfolio – Councillor Dawlings

17/03/22
Cabinet

01/03/22
Finance and
Governance
Cabinet
Advisory Board
01/03/22
Finance and
Governance
Cabinet
Advisory Board

Capital Management Report Quarter 3
To receive the financial position as at the end
of December 2021.
(All Wards)

The Finance and
Governance Cabinet
Advisory Board will be
consulted.

Jane Fineman,
Head of Finance
and Procurement

No

Open

Treasury and Prudential Indicator
Management Report Quarter 3
To receive the financial position as at the end
of December 2021.
(All Wards)
Appointment to Working Groups of the
Cabinet
To appoint Borough Councillors to the
following working groups of the Cabinet:
- Community Grants Assessment Panel
- Housing Advisory Panel
- Joint Transportation Board
- Planning Policy working Group
- Public Transport Forum
- Property Asset Oversight Panel
(All Wards)
Appointments to Outside Bodies
To appoint representatives to the Council’s
Outside Bodies.
(All Wards)

The Finance and
Governance Cabinet
Advisory Board will be
consulted.

Jane Fineman,
Head of Finance
and Procurement

No

Open

All Members will have
been consulted.

Renee Dillon,
Democratic and
Executive Support
Manager

No

Open

All Members will have
the opportunity to
nominate
representatives.

Caroline Britt,
No
Democratic Services
Officer

Open

Land Asset Strategy Sites
Consideration of Land Asset Strategy Sites
within Tunbridge Wells.
(Pantiles & St Mark's; Southborough & High
Brooms)

Finance and
Governance Cabinet
Advisory Board will be
consulted.

John Antoniades,
Estates Manager

Full

Page 22
25/05/22
Cabinet

23/06/22
Cabinet

07/06/22
Finance and
Governance
Cabinet
Advisory Board

Yes

Agenda Item 7

Report Title, Summary and Ward

25/05/22
Cabinet

Relevant Officer

Private?2

Advisory
Board

17/03/22
Cabinet

Consultation Details

Key?1

Date of decision/ Full Council
Decision maker

Leader of the Council/ Finance and Governance Portfolio – Councillor Dawlings
Date of decision/ Full Council
Decision maker

Advisory
Board

23/06/22
Cabinet

07/06/22
Finance and
Governance
Cabinet
Advisory Board

23/06/22
Cabinet

Page 23
23/06/22
Cabinet

23/06/22
Cabinet

Consideration of a new lease or freehold
disposal of land at Tunbridge Wells Rugby
Club
Tunbridge Wells Rugby Club have requested
that the Council grant them a new longer
lease or land or consider a freehold disposal
of land at the Rugby Club.
(St John's)
07/06/22
Performance Summary Quarter 4 and End
Finance and
of Year
Governance
To consider an outline of the Council’s
Cabinet
performance against key strategic indicators.
Advisory Board Measures prescribed by Central Government
through the Single Data List (SDL) and the
progress against each of the strategic projects
as at end of March 2022.
(All Wards)
07/06/22
Complaints Summary Quarters 3 & 4
Finance and
A review of the complaints received under the
Governance
Council’s complaints procedure between 1
Cabinet
October 2021 and 31 March 2022.
Advisory Board (All Wards)
07/06/22
Revenue Management Report - Quarter 4
Finance and
To receive the financial position as at the end
Governance
of March 2022.
Cabinet
(All Wards)
Advisory Board
07/06/22
Capital Management Report - Quarter 4
Finance and
To receive the financial position as at the end
Governance
of March 2022.
Cabinet
(All Wards)
Advisory Board

Consultation Details

Relevant Officer

Key?1

Private?2

The Finance and
Governance Cabinet
Advisory Board will be
consulted.

Max Horgan

No

Full

The F&G CAB will be
consulted.

Jane Clarke, Head
of Policy and
Governance

No

Open

The F&G CAB will be
consulted.

Jane Clarke, Head
of Policy and
Governance

No

Open

The F&G CAB will be
consulted.

Jane Fineman,
Head of Finance
and Procurement

No

Open

The F&G CAB will be
consulted.

Jane Fineman,
Head of Finance
and Procurement

No

Open

Agenda Item 7

23/06/22
Cabinet

Report Title, Summary and Ward

Leader of the Council/ Finance and Governance Portfolio – Councillor Dawlings

23/06/22
Cabinet

23/06/22
Finance and
Governance
Cabinet
Advisory Board
23/06/22
Finance and
Governance
Cabinet
Advisory Board

Treasury and Prudential Indicator
Management Report - Quarter 4
To receive the financial position as at the end
of March 2022.
(All Wards)
Annual Report on the use of RIPA
To consider and note details on the use of
covert surveillance under the Regulation of
Investigatory Powers Act by Tunbridge Wells
Borough Council.
(All Wards)
Strategic Risk Register
To approve the annual review of the Council’s
Strategic Risk Register.
(All Wards)

The F&G CAB will be
consulted.

Jane Fineman,
Head of Finance
and Procurement

No

Open

The F&G CAB will be
consulted.

Gary Rowland

No

Open

The F&G CAB will be
consulted.

Lee Colyer, Director No
of Finance, Policy
and Development
(Section 151 Officer)

Open

Property Transaction Report January to
June 2022
The report informs Cabinet of the property
transactions completed under delegated
authority between 1 January 2022 and 30
June 2022.
(All Wards)
12/07/22
Budget Projection and Strategy 2023/24
Finance and
To consider proposals for the draft budget
Governance
(Stage 1 of 4 in setting the forthcoming year’s
Cabinet
budget).
Advisory Board (All Wards)

The F&G CAB will be
consulted.

John Antoniades,
Estates Manager

Part

The F&G CAB will be
consulted.

Lee Colyer, Director No
of Finance, Policy
and Development
(Section 151 Officer)

Page 24

28/07/22
Cabinet

28/07/22
Cabinet

07/06/22
Finance and
Governance
Cabinet
Advisory Board
12/07/22
Finance and
Governance
Cabinet
Advisory Board

No

Open

Agenda Item 7

Report Title, Summary and Ward

23/06/22
Cabinet

Relevant Officer

Private?2

Advisory
Board

23/06/22
Cabinet

Consultation Details

Key?1

Date of decision/ Full Council
Decision maker

Leader of the Council/ Finance and Governance Portfolio – Councillor Dawlings
Date of decision/ Full Council
Decision maker

Advisory
Board

28/07/22
Cabinet

12/07/22
Finance and
Governance
Cabinet
Advisory Board

28/07/22
Cabinet

Page 25

22/09/22
Cabinet

Report Title, Summary and Ward

Draft Council Tax Reduction Scheme
2023/24
To note the progress that has been made on
the review of the scheme (jointly
commissioned with other Kent Authorities)
and provide options for the public consultation
on the scheme for 2023/24.
(All Wards)
28/07/22
Annual Corporate Health and Safety
Finance and
Report
Governance
To note the contents of the report, along with
Cabinet
the work undertaken to secure a safe and
Advisory Board healthy working environment.
(All Wards)
06/09/22
Performance Summary Quarter 1
Finance and
To consider an outline of the Council’s
Governance
performance against key strategic
Cabinet
indicators. Measures prescribed by
Advisory Board central government through the Single

Consultation Details

Relevant Officer

Key?1

Private?2

Request permission for Zoe Kent, Interim
Public Consultation.
Head of Revenues
The F&G CAB will be
and Benefits
consulted.

No

Open

The F&G CAB will be
consulted.

Mike Catling,
Corporate Health
and Safety Advisor

No

Open

The Finance and
Governance CAB will
be consulted.

Jane Clarke, Head
of Policy and
Governance

No

Open

The Finance and
Governance CAB will
be consulted.

Jane Fineman,
Head of Finance
and Procurement

No

Open

The Finance and
Governance CAB will
be consulted.

Jane Fineman,
Head of Finance
and Procurement

No

Open

Data List (SDL) and the progress against
each of the strategic projects as at the
end of June 2022.

22/09/22
Cabinet

06/09/22
Finance and
Governance
Cabinet
Advisory Board
06/09/22
Finance and
Governance
Cabinet
Advisory Board

Capital Management Report Quarter 1
To receive the financial position as at the end
of June 2022.
(All Wards)

Agenda Item 7

22/09/22
Cabinet

(All Wards)
Revenue Management Report Quarter 1
To receive the financial position as at the end
of June 2022.
(All Wards)

Leader of the Council/ Finance and Governance Portfolio – Councillor Dawlings
Date of decision/ Full Council
Decision maker

Advisory
Board

22/09/22
Cabinet

06/09/22
Finance and
Governance
Cabinet
Advisory Board
11/10/22
Finance and
Governance
Cabinet
Advisory Board

27/10/22
Cabinet

Page 26

27/10/22
Cabinet

17/11/22
Cabinet

Full Council
14 December
2022

Report Title, Summary and Ward

Treasury and Prudential Indicator
Management Report Quarter 1
To receive the financial position as at the end
of June 2022.
(All Wards)
Budget Update Report 2022/23
To consider an update on the Budget and the
current financial position of the Council (stage
2 of 4 in setting the forthcoming year’s
budget).
(All Wards)
11/10/22
*Council Tax Reduction Reduction Scheme
Finance and
2022/23
Governance
To recommend to Full Council potential
Cabinet
changes to the Council Tax Reduction
Advisory Board Scheme for 2023/24 following public
consultation.
(All Wards)
17/11/22
Fees and Charges 2023/24
Finance and
To consider and agree the fees and
Governance
charges set by the Council.
Cabinet
(All Wards)
Advisory Board

Consultation Details
The Finance and
Governance CAB will
be consulted.

Relevant Officer
Jane Fineman,
Head of Finance
and Procurement

Key?1

Private?2

No

Open

Lee Colyer, Director No
The Finance and
Governance CAB will of Finance, Policy
and Development
be consulted.

Open

The Finance and
Governance CAB will
be consulted.

Zoe Kent, Interim
Head of Revenues
and Benefits

No

Open

The Finance and
Governance CAB will
be consulted.

Jane Fineman,
Head of Finance
and Procurement

No

Open

(Section 151 Officer)

Agenda Item 7

Economic Development Portfolio – Councillor Scott
Date of decision/ Full Council
Decision maker

Advisory
Board

14/04/22
Cabinet

Full Council
27/4/2022

30/03/22
Communities
and Economic
Development
Cabinet
Advisory Board

14/04/22
Cabinet

Full Council
27 April 2022

Page 27

14/04/22
Cabinet

Report Title, Summary and Ward

*Community Safety Partnership Plan
2022/23
To recommend to Full Council the annual
Community Safety Partnership Plan for
approval. The Plan presents data on crime
and anti-social behaviour within Tunbridge
Wells Borough and provides an update on
solutions provided to ensure the safety of
residents.
(All Wards)
30/03/22
Strategic Assessment/Partnership Plan
Communities
2022/23
and Economic Annual assessment of crime and ASB and
Development
Partnership Plan to address priorities in
Cabinet
2022/23.
Advisory Board (All Wards)
30/03/22
PSPO Implementation of ASB Measures
Communities
Report to Cabinet to consider measures to
and Economic address ASB in St John’s Park, Sherwood
Development
Lake and Multi-storey car parks.
Cabinet
(All Wards)
Advisory Board

Consultation Details

Relevant Officer

Key?1

Private?2

The Communities and Terry Hughes,
Economic Development Community Safety
Cabinet Advisory Board Manager
will be consulted.

No

Open

Terry Hughes,
Community Safety
Manager

No

Open

Terry Hughes,
Community Safety
Manager

No

Open

Agenda Item 7

Planning and Transportation Portfolio – Councillor McDermott
Date of decision/ Full Council
Decision maker
Not before
16/10/20
Portfolio Holder
for Planning and
Transportation

Advisory
Board

Report Title, Summary and Ward
TWBC Response to Ministry of Housing,
Communities and Local Government
consultation on 'Planning for the Future White Paper' (August 2020)
The Ministry of Housing, Communities and
Local Government is consulting on proposed
long term changes to the national planning
system. This report sets out the Council’s
response to this consultation.
(All Wards)

Consultation Details

Relevant Officer

Report to be published
before decision is
made.

Stephen Baughen,
Head of Planning
Services

Key?1
No

Private?2
Open

Page 28

Agenda Item 7

Environment, Culture and Leisure Portfolio – Councillor March
Date of decision/ Full Council
Decision maker
Not before
21/10/21
Portfolio Holder
for Environment,
Culture and
Leisure

Advisory
Board

Report Title, Summary and Ward

Consultation Details

Page 29

Release of S106 funding, allocated to
Report to be published
support the ongoing expansion of the Car before decision is
Club
made.
The Tunbridge Wells Co-Wheels Car Club
currently has 5 cars in it’s fleet and is
extremely popular, with membership and use
of the car club having grown rapidly. To
ensure car club members are able to access a
car as and when they need it, it is essential to
add additional cars to the fleet. The car club
is managed as a concessions contract and at
no cost to the Council. S106 from developers
contribution has been set aside specifically to
support the expansion of the car club, as part
of a mobility mix alongside public transport,
walking, cycling and taxis. With car clubs
supporting air quality improvements, carbon
reduction and reducing traffic impacts such as
congestion and parking pressure.
(Broadwater; Culverden; Pantiles & St Mark's;
Park; Southborough & High Brooms; St
James'; St John's)

Relevant Officer
Karin Grey,
Sustainability
Manager

Key?1
No

Private?2
Open

Agenda Item 7

Communities and Wellbeing Portfolio - Councillor Fairweather
Advisory
Board

Report Title, Summary and Ward

17/03/22
Cabinet

02/03/22
Communities
and Economic
Development
Cabinet
Advisory Board

Housing, Homelessness and Rough
Sleeping Strategy 2021-2026
The Strategy sets out how we will respond to
housing challenges, including preventing
homelessness, ending rough sleeping,
increasing the supply and choice of affordable
homes, and improving housing and meeting
need.
The Strategy will be reported to Cabinet on 24
June 2021 and agreement for consultation will
be requested. Once consultation has been
undertaken, the comments and feedback
received will be considered and the Strategy
will be amended and updated as necessary.
Cabinet will be asked to adopt the final
Strategy.
(All Wards)

Page 30

Date of decision/ Full Council
Decision maker

Consultation Details

Relevant Officer

Consultation on the
Sue Oliver, Private
Strategy will take place Sector Housing
over a six week period Manager
in July/August 2021,
with partners and
interested parties, prior
to this second
submission of the
Strategy to Cabinet.
The Communities and
Economic Development
CAB will be consulted.

Key?1
Yes

Private?2
Open

Agenda Item 7

Guidance Notes
Note 1: KEY DECISIONS
A “key decision” means a decision which is to be taken by the executive of the Council which is likely to:
(a)
result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are over £250,000 as well as otherwise being significant having
regard to the Council’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates; or
(b)
be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards in the Borough of Tunbridge Wells.
Note 2: REASONS A MEETING MAY BE HELD IN PRIVATE
In accordance with section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended), the public may be excluded from a meeting on the grounds that it may involve
the disclosure of exempt information as defined in Schedule 12A of the Act. The exemption must be by virtue of one or more specified paragraphs which are shown on
the meeting agenda (giving 5 days notice) and, in the case of the Cabinet, on the Forward Plan (giving 28 days notice). The exemptions are summarised as follows:

Paragraph (2) - Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual.

(8)

Information falling within paragraph (3) above is not exempt information by
virtue of that paragraph if it is required to be registered under –
(a)
the Companies Act 1985;
(b)
the Friendly Societies Act 1974;
(c)
the Friendly Societies Act 1992;
(d)
the Industrial and Provident Societies Acts 1965 to 1978;
(e)
the Building Societies Act 1986; or
(f)
the Charities Act 1993.

(9)

Information is not exempt information if it relates to proposed development
for which the local planning authority may grant itself planning permission
pursuant to regulation 3 of the Town and Country Planning General
Regulations 1992.

(10)

Information which –
(a)
falls within any of paragraphs 1 to 7 above; and
(b)
is not prevented from being exempt by virtue of paragraph
8 or 9 above,
is exempt information if and so long as, in all the circumstances of
the case, the public interest in maintaining the exemption
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.

Paragraph (3) - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any
particular person (including the authority holding that information).
Paragraph (4) - Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or
contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with
any labour relations matter arising between the authority or a
Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office-holders under,
the authority.
Paragraph (5) - Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional
privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings.
Paragraph (6) - Information which reveals that the authority proposes –
(a)
to give under any enactment a notice under or by
virtue of which requirements are imposed on a person; or
(b)
to make an order or direction under any enactment.
Paragraph (7) - Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in
connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of
crime.

Agenda Item 7

QUALIFICATIONS:

Page 31

Paragraph (1) - Information relating to any individual.

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8

Appointment of Co Working provider
for Town Hall
For Cabinet on 17 March 2022

Summary
Lead Member: Cllr Tom Dawlings Portfolio Holder for Finance and Governance
Lead Director: Lee Colyer Director of Finance, Policy and Development
Head of Service: David Candlin Head of Economic Development and Property
Report Author: Katie Exon – Corporate Property Manager
Classification: (delete as appropriate) Public document (non-exempt)
Partially Exempt from Disclosure – Exempt Appendices exempt by virtue of paragraph 3
of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended): Information relating
to the financial or business affairs of any particular person including the authority
holding that information
Wards Affected: All
Approval Timetable
Management Board
Portfolio Holder
Civic Complex Working Group
Finance and Governance Committee
Cabinet

Date
16 February 2022
14 February 2022
8 February 2022
1 March 2022
17 March 2022

Recommendations
Officer / Committee recommendations as supported by the Portfolio Holder:
1. That the Co working provider supplier D is awarded the tender to take a lease of
part of the Town Hall as outlined within this report, subject to agreed negotiations
of the heads of terms.
2. Delegate to the Head of Economic Development & Property, in consultation with
the s.151 Officer and the Portfolio Holder for Finance and Governance to

Page

1 of 11

Page 33

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appointment of Co Working provider for Town Hall

Agenda Item 8
negotiate and finalise the head of terms with the preferred provider for co
working space.
3. Delegate to the Head of Mid Kent Legal Services authority to complete all
necessary deeds, leases, agreements and other legal documentation and
formalities required to deliver the release and management of the Town Hall for
co working space.
4. In line with the Full Council decision of October 2021 delegate the release of the
approved budget to the Head of Economic Development & Property, s151 Officer
and Monitoring Officer in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Finance &
Governance to enter into contract with a co working provider who has satisfied
the Council’s due diligence and provided a sound business case.
5. In line with Full Council decision of October 2021 delegate to the s151 Officer in
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Finance and Governance the
identification of the source of the funding which may include borrowing or
external funding.

Page

2 of 11

Page 34

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appointment of Co Working provider for Town Hall

Agenda Item 8

1. Introduction and Background
1.1

In December 2019, the Council’s Civic Complex Cross Party Working Group
(CCWG) produced a report which was accepted by Full Council. The report
recommendations, in essence, were that the Council should develop a long-term
plan for the Town Hall, Assembly Hall Theatre and 9/10 Calverley Terrace and
that this should be widely owned, communicated, and informed by refreshed
versions of the Council’s Cultural and Parking Strategies. The report
recommended that the Council should prioritise uses for office accommodation
and performance and fund these through the disposal of the Mount Pleasant
Avenue and Great Hall car parks.

1.2

Since the staged return to a form of normality in 2021 the CCWG was
reconvened and has focused on the Town Hall. The CCWG concluded that
releasing space for co working with the Council remaining in situ but on a
reduced floorplate would be the best option in the medium term.

1.3

In line with the work of the CCWG, Cabinet on 29 July approved the procurement
of a partner to deliver co working space and reduce the overall office space
occupied by the Council. The development of Modern Ways of Working (MWoW)
is enabling the Council to develop and deliver an efficient post-Covid operating
model. In turn this will result in the reduction of overheads and revenue budgets
through efficient user-focussed service delivery, appropriate office
accommodation and flexible working. This means the Council can reduce its
office space to approximately 11,442sqft (1063 m2), releasing 19,795sqft (1839
m2) of space for occupation/management by a partner.

1.4

In early August the Council undertook a soft marketing exercise to gauge market
interest. Four co working companies declared an interest and presented to a
panel including members, basic concepts for how they could and would use the
Town Hall to provide a co working business. The main aim of the panel
presentations was for the panel to get a “feel” for the companies and to be able
to form a brief to go out to formal tender. It became clear during the soft market
engagement that the type of business models being offered by the providers
varies. It was clear that further investment will be required to make it attractive to
tenants.

1.5

On 6 October 2021 Full Council approved a capital budget of up to £5m to
enable the conversion of the Town Hall for co working. The budget is available
on the Council entering into contract with a co working provider who has satisfied
the Council’s due diligence and provided a sound business case. The release of
the budget being delegated to the Head of Economic Development & Property,
s151 Officer and Monitoring Officer in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for
Finance & Governance.

Page

3 of 11

Page 35

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appointment of Co Working provider for Town Hall

Agenda Item 8
1.6

Throughout the process the CCWG has been regularly engaged in considering
future options for appointing a co working provider to operate the Town Hall as a
co working operation.

1.7

By entering into an agreement with a co working provider to take a lease in part,
of the Town Hall, the Council will still be the freeholder of the building. This will
allow investment in preserving and improving the building. The Council has
identified with the change to working practices of its own operation, that it no
longer requires all the Town Hall space in order to be able to operate as a
Council. This opportunity will represent money savings in operational costs and
provide an income, in addition there are wider community and economic benefits
for the town.

1.8

The Council will be releasing some 20,000ft2 of accommodation for co working,
(Annex A Floor plans)

2. Tender Process
2.1

The Council commenced a formal Invitation to Tender (ITT) for a co working
partner in the Town Hall in October 2021. A supplier engagement exercise to
gauge interest from companies and the market in taking this project forward
proceeded the formal tender. With a budget in principle established, the Council
could respond to tenderer queries on approach during the process. Final
proposals from tenderers were provided on 29 November 2021. (Annex B –
tender document)

2.2

The initial request for an Expression of Interest in the ITT received 15 companies
registering an interest in early November. Five final proposals were received on
the Portal by the closing date on 29 November. The Council then carried out an
initial evaluation of the five tenders received against the following requirements
as set out in the ITT.
Requirement 1 - Vision, service, business community engagement and
events (weighting 15%)
• Please provide the following information to support your proposal:
– A strategic concept vision and innovation document
– A partnership approach statement to working with TWBCs Economic
Development Team and other partners
– An ethical compliance statement (to cover items that are not illegal but
not in the best image of TWBC, for example (but not limited to) adult
entertainment
– A marketing and communications plan
– A written statement detailing your approach to engaging with, and
appointing, local suppliers to provide services as part of this project
Requirement 2 - Experience, references, CVs, and Case studies (weighting
10%)
• Please provide evidence of your experience by submitting the following:
– Two detailed case studies from previous projects of this type, with
references

Page

4 of 11

Page 36

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appointment of Co Working provider for Town Hall

Agenda Item 8
– CVs of the management team and a management structure diagram
– Details of any joint venture agreements (if any)
Requirement 3 - Building maintenance plan (weighting 10%)
• Please provide the following information to support your proposal:
– A detailed building maintenance plan and methodology
– A cleaning plan
– A waste and recycling plan
Requirement 4 - Business plan (weighting 25%)
•
To provide the following information in the proposal:
– a full business plan including financial projections P&L, cash flow and
long-term balance sheet forecasts.
Requirement 5 - Level of Capital investment in the first 12 months (Council
or Company investment) (weighting 15%)
•
To provide the following information in the proposal:
– The proposed term of the Lease (to be no less than 15 years)
– The level of capital investment to be committed to refurbishment of the
Town Hall in the first 12 months, or the level of investment required by
the Council
– A proposed schedule of detailed expenditure payment
– Evidence of availability of capital in order to finance the expenditure
outlined
– A master plan/design for the refurbishment of the Town Hall, and
suitability for planning assessment/listed building consent, if so required
Requirement 6 - Profit Share (weighting 15%)
•
To provide the following information in the proposal:
– The % profit share to be made available to TWBC
– The full accounting methodology for profit calculation and dividend
Interview – (weighting 10%)
•
Presentation and Q&A session tested written submissions and quality and
reality of statements made
2.3

The scoring matrix is shown in (Annex C)

2.4

The initial evaluation process against the 6 requirements in the ITT as listed
above, (Annex A exempt) reduced the shortlist of companies invited to panel
the interviews on 13 and 14 December 2021 to three companies.

2.5

The three companies invited to interview were as follows:
•
•
•

Supplier A
Supplier C
Supplier D

2.6

The interview panel comprised of the members of the CCWG and senior officers.
The interview comprised of a presentation and question and answer session and
was worth 10% of the overall score. Following the interview process one
company was dismissed on financial grounds and not fulfilling the parameters set
out in the tender brief.

2.7

The final two co working companies were asked via the ITT process to provide
further clarification on areas of their submission and interview (Annex B

Page

5 of 11

Page 37

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appointment of Co Working provider for Town Hall

Agenda Item 8
Exempt). The responses on points of clarification have been evaluated and form
the final report and recommendation.
2.8

Members of the CCWG and officers attended a site visit of the two companies’
current operations on 31 January. The purpose of the site visit was to have the
opportunity to see first-hand the quality of the companies fit out, speak with
users, and see the co working operation in use. The site visit was not scored as
part of the tender evaluation.

3. Preferred Option
3.1

The objectives of leasing part of the Town Hall to a co-working provider are that
the successful provider will be able to deliver a sound business case with
financial returns that will enable the Council to cover the cost of conversion and
fund the maintenance required to enable the continued use of the Town Hall. It
should be noted that any third-party provider will expect that the fabric of the
building which remains the Council’s responsibility, is maintained and renewed
appropriately. Condition surveys of the Town Hall indicate that significant
investment will be required in the next 10 years for replacement heating systems.
The partnership with a co-working provider will not necessarily bring an income
stream into the Council but will provide finances to continue to maintain the Town
Hall.

3.2

After full tender evaluation, panel interview and additional clarification responses,
Supplier D scored the highest. It should be noted that the scoring received
unanimous support from the Cross Party Working Group, who were fully
inclusive in the decision making process and in favour of this approach of
appointing a co-working provider.

4. Options Considered
4.1

In December 2019, the CCWG produced a report which was accepted by Full
Council. The report recommendations, in essence, were that the Council should
develop a long-term plan for the Town Hall, Assembly Hall Theatre and 9/10
Calverley Terrace. The report recommended that the Council should prioritise
uses for office accommodation and performance. As outlined in the report the
CCWG has been involved in the preparation and the undertaking of the ITT
throughout including the decision making.

4.2

The Council has also undertaken wider engagement on our consultation portal
on our website. The Council has established pages covering the repurposing of
the Town Hall which also includes an FAQ section:
https://talkingpointtunbridgewells.uk.engagementhq.com/repurposing-the-townhall

4.3

Engagement received comments and queries from approximately 10 people on
the proposals being considered. A number of those engaging asked multiple

Page

6 of 11

Page 38

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appointment of Co Working provider for Town Hall

Agenda Item 8
questions or made a number of points. The points being made can primarily be
considered as related to the business plan, the risk and consideration of
alternative uses.
-

Business plan - how sure the Council was that this will work and make a
return
Risk - benchmarking, track record of suppliers, attractiveness of the building
to users, covid and impact
Alternative Uses – Use of the building by charities, creative businesses,
music venue, residential, just sell and move into smaller premises

-

4.4

In addition, the Council has engaged with the Town Forum and Civic Society
during the procurement, though as a live tender opportunity the detail has had to
be limited to the wider process and general direction rather than specifics.

5. Recommendation from Cabinet Advisory
Board
5.1

Discussion with the Portfolio Holder has taken place throughout the process and
on 14 February. The report is being considered by the Finance & Governance
CAB on 1 March 2022 and the recommendation from the CAB will be outlined
here in the report when submitted to Cabinet.

6. Implementation
6.1

If agreed, the Council will notify the remaining tenderers of the decision and seek
to enter into final negotiation with the preferred provider as outlined in the report
on the Heads of Terms for the contract. The final timetable will form part of the
discussion to be undertaken. However, assuming no delays in finalising the legal
agreements the potential timescale for implementation of the co working facility
could be anticipated as follows:
• Legal and other matters - 3 months (March - May)
• Design – 4 months (May – August)
• Planning - 3 months (July - September)
• Procurement - 4 months (August –November)
• Refurbishment - 5 months (November - March)
• Opening - April 2023

Page

7 of 11

Page 39

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appointment of Co Working provider for Town Hall

Agenda Item 8
7. Appendices and Background Documents
Appendices:
•

Appendix A: Floor Plans

•

Appendix B: Tender Document

•

Appendix C: Scoring Matrix

Exempt appendices:
•

Exempt Appendix A: Evaluation and Financial scoring

•

Exempt Appendix B: Clarification questions and answers

Background Papers:
•

Cabinet 29 July 2021

•

Full Council 6 October 2021

Page

8 of 11

Page 40

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appointment of Co Working provider for Town Hall

Agenda Item 8

8. Cross Cutting Issues
A. Legal (including the Human Rights Act)
The Local Government Act 1972 (the LGA 1972), section 111(1) empowers a local authority
to do anything (whether involving the expenditure, borrowing, or lending of money or the
acquisition or disposal of any property or rights) which is calculated to facilitate, or is
conducive or incidental to, the discharge of any of their functions.
The Council also has a general power of competence pursuant to Section 1 of the Localism
Act 2011 which enables it to do anything that individuals generally may do.
The Council has power under section 123(1) of the Local Government Act 1972 to dispose of
land and property in any manner that it wishes. The proposed disposals must be for the best
consideration reasonably obtainable in accordance with section 123 of the Local Government
Act 1972 or meet the requirements of Circular 06/03: Local Government Act 1972 General
Disposal Consent (England) 2003 - disposal of land for less than the best consideration that
can be reasonably obtained failing which, the Secretary of State’s consent would be required.
Acting on the recommendations specified in this Report is within the Council’s statutory
powers as set out above.
Any other legal implications are contained within the body of the report.
The proposal to delegate authority to the S151 Officer is in accordance with a decision that
Cabinet can make, taking into account the contents of this report to protect the Council’s
financial and commercial interests.
Claudette Valmond, Interim Head of Legal Services.

B. Finance and Other Resources
The Council is reassessing its asset portfolio which will include asset disposals and the
development of new income streams to support the delivery of services. This report proposes
to release space in the Town Hall to provide new employment space and a new income
stream for the Council. Initial investment in the building will be required to meet market
standards from the Council and the potential partner. The opportunity to examine other
benefits to the authority will become clearer as the Invitation to Tender is progressed.
Establishing a budget in principle provides the scope within the procurement for dialogue
regarding options subject to due diligence and consideration of the best approach for the
Council prior to a final decision. The Council and the partner will, as outlined in the report,
need to work together to identify opportunities for external funding to reduce the capital
required from the council’s resources.

Page

9 of 11

Page 41

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appointment of Co Working provider for Town Hall

Agenda Item 8
Lee Colyer, Director of Finance, Policy and Development

C. Staffing
There are no direct staffing capacity implications as a result of the recommendations being
sought in the report. The MWoW approach and the Council moving to a reduced footprint will
require planned engagement with staff on the opportunity and the revised working practices
to a more hybrid way of working, particularly moving away from individual desks and moving
towards an outcomes-based style of management that will assist the successful transition.
Report Authour

D. Risk Management
The approach allows for a managed approach to consideration with authority at each stage
reducing the wider financial exposure of the Council and managing the risk as appropriate.
An appropriate risk register will be established for the project.
The award of the contract will result in the Council giving up control of the part of the Town
Hall leased to the co working provider for the next 15 years. The contract will bind the
Council to allow the co-working provider a 15 year lease to deliver their business plan. During
the term of the lease granted to the co working partner, the Council, Members and Officers
will have no legal right to interfere in the operation of the Town Hall, save for the areas
retained for the Council’s own use.
Report author

E. Environment and Sustainability
Within the tender for a partner, tenderers had to demonstrate consideration of how the
project will beneficially contribute to the Councils Corporate Carbon Descent Plan and Action
Plan 2021-22 to deliver net zero carbon by 2030.
The carbon reduction template has been completed in order to understand the impact of this
decision on the Council ambition to be net carbon zero by 2030. A copy of the completed
template will be available prior to the meeting dates.
Gary Stevenson Head of Housing, Health and Environment

F. Community Safety
There are no specific community safety issues arising from this report.
Report Author

Page

10 of 11

Page 42

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appointment of Co Working provider for Town Hall

Agenda Item 8
G. Equalities
Decision-makers are reminded of the requirement under the Public Sector Equality Duty
(s149 of the Equality Act 2010) to have due regard to (i) eliminate unlawful discrimination,
harassment, victimisation, and other conduct prohibited by the Act, (ii) advance equality of
opportunity between people from different groups, and (iii) foster good relations between
people from different groups ort author to insert comment on if/how the proposals affect
equalities issues. Consideration must be given to our legal obligations.
Report Author

H. Data Protection
The issues raised in this report have little or no relevance to the Data Protection Act 2018 or
the GDPR 2016.
Report Author

I. Health and Safety
There are no specific Health and Safety issues arising from this report.
Report. Author

J. Health and Wellbeing
No issues are identified.
Report Author

Page

11 of 11

Page 43

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appointment of Co Working provider for Town Hall

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 45

Appendix A

Page 46

Appendix A

Page 47

Appendix A

Page 48

Appendix A

Appendix B
Annex B

Invitation to Tender
For Co-working Arrangement

On Behalf of

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Town Hall
Royal Tunbridge Wells
Kent TN1 1RS

Page 49

Appendix B
Annex B

Introduction:
An exciting opportunity has arisen for a coworking operator to take a lease of a substantial
area of the Town Hall in Tunbridge Wells. Centrally located, served by excellent public
transport links. A unique opportunity to be in the very heart of Royal Tunbridge Wells.
Royal Tunbridge Wells occupies a strategic location between London, Brighton and the
continent in the heart of the Kent and Sussex Weald. The Town came into being over 400 years
ago following the discovery of the Chalybeate Spring and enjoyed its heyday as a fashionable
resort in the mid-1700s when it attracted visitors who wished to ‘take the waters’.
Royal Tunbridge Wells remains a destination of choice today. Geographically, it sits at the
centre of a triangle between London, Brighton and the continent; Demographically, it is in the
centre of a large, affluent catchment area; educationally, its residents attain the highest levels
of qualifications in Kent; economically, it boasts the highest number of business start-ups and
best business survival rates, lowest unemployment rates and strongest proportion of
knowledge-based businesses; and environmentally it benefits from great open spaces, an
attractive built and natural environment and a wide range of shops, bars and restaurants and
cultural, leisure and sporting facilities.
For these reasons, Tunbridge Wells regularly features in ‘top 10’ lists including: ‘best places to
live’, ‘best places to raise a family’, ‘most vibrant’, ‘quality of life’, ‘best place to be a woman’
and amongst the best places in the UK for open space, landscape culture and memories and
happiness. Nesta lists creative industries in Tunbridge Wells as contributing £313.41 million to
the local economy and ranks the Town within the top 20 travel to work areas in the UK.
Royal Tunbridge Wells is a highly supportive, networked town. During the past 18 months, the
pandemic has brought out the best in local businesses with them adapting to meet local needs
and new methods of delivery and with the Council and residents supporting them in this. In
normal times, there are a great many formal and informal networking groups, a varied
programme of events and a Business Improvement District which works well with the Council
to promote the town, support local businesses and promote the vitality of the town centre.
The Town Hall occupies a fantastic place in the town at the crossroads between the main
shopping precinct and the historic areas of the town. It is close to both The Common (256
acres of land including woods, heathland, lakes, ponds and springs with unique sandstone
outcrops) and Calverley Grounds with its café, programme of events and Winter Ice Rink. It is
also right next to ‘The Amelia Scott’ – a £21m cultural hub due to open in April 2022 that will
be a showcase for learning, culture and the arts attracting up to 500,000 visits each year and
18,000 learners on site.
In short, Royal Tunbridge Wells is a great place to do business – it is a destination town,
surrounded by creative, articulate, and well-educated residents with a great range of shops,
restaurants and businesses.
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council (TWBC) is inviting suitably experienced and skilled interested
parties, to take a lease of some 19,800 ft2 (to be agreed) of office accommodation within the
Town Hall, Tunbridge Wells, for the operation and provision of a co-working operation. In
addition to the internal areas, the external central courtyard is included for use and operation
by the tenderer.

Page 50

Appendix B
Annex B

The Council have recently reviewed their own office accommodation requirements within the
Town Hall. The Council will need to retain initially some 11,400 ft2 for its own accommodation
and are looking to lease 19,800 ft2 to a co-working business to provide and manage, flexible
working solutions. Longer term strategies for the CCTV control room and reduction in storage
are being established which it is expected will increase co-working space over the first few
years of the lease arrangements. In addition, the introduction of more flexible Council work
practices may see the volume of TWBC office space reduce over the period of a lease.
The Council are willing to offer a lease of up to 15 years or possibly a longer term if the level of
capital investment is significant (contracted out of the Landlord and Tenant Act 1954) Heads of
Terms to be agreed.
The attached plans show areas outlined in red that the Council are looking to retain from the
start of the lease for their own use. [Plans are included in Appendix A]
Background
The pandemic has shown a change to working patterns with many people now working from
home. TWBC are keen to become part of this growing market, drawing people back into the
town centre and offering the opportunity for start up businesses to grow and have an office /
studio base. The Town Hall to is an important strategic asset in its location within the town
centre, the Council wish to encourage footfall to the town centre and the continued and best
use of a centrally placed asset that is valued by the community, traders, and businesses.
TWBC is looking for a partner with a strong vision supported by a proven track record who will
be able to maximise the potential of the site, providing a successful vibrant co-working
location.
Internal refurbishment
The Council would wish for the entire building (internal) to be refurbished to a good standard.
This is to include the areas that the Council are retaining for their own use. The Council will
provide workstations and furniture for their retained areas. Tender submissions should
provide full information to the extent and quality of the refurbish proposals, including budget
and time scales for the works. The Council would envisage that the whole building is made
vacant for a period (excluding CCTV monitoring station – as marked on the plans) to allow the
internal works to be carried out in one phase. Tenders should include details of proposed
costings and funding.
The tenderer should be responsible for the design, commission, and project management of all
capital building works committed as part of this tender.
Consideration will need to include how the project will beneficially contribute to the Councils
Corporate Carbon Descent Plan to deliver net zero carbon 2030.
The Town Hall is a listed building and interested parties will need to consider the feasibility of
their proposals as regards to listed building regulations. The change of use for the Town Hall
will also require planning permission. If any tenderer wishes to ask questions or clarify any

Page 51

Appendix B
Annex B

aspect of the planning requirements, they are invited to submit their questions via the Kent
Business Portal.
The Council will facilitate tours of the Town Hall for interested parties and / or their
contractors on the following dates: - 8,9 & 10 November 2021. Access will need to be pre
booked. Please ensure that you contact us via the Kent Business Portal to secure an
appointment
Attached [Appendix B] are details of planned works and works carried out in previous years.
The Council has recently commissioned that the entire roof is replaced, and works are due to
be completed in Spring 2022, roofing works will also significantly improve the insulation to the
building – full details of the roofing works are contained within the tender pack. The Council
have within their Capital bids monies to replace / restore the windows to the town hall, it is
envisaged that this work will be completed in Summer 2022.
Operation and Management of the Town Hall
The Council require that the tender bids show detailed information regarding the day-to-day
operation of the site. The Council would prefer a single management structure and access
arrangements for all users of the building. Including details of opening hours, facility
management and management of shared areas. The operation overview will need to show
compliance with health and safety and all other statutory regulations. In preparing a
management plan for the building, the tenderer will need to give access to the Councils
Property and facilities staff / contractors for building inspections and compliance
requirements.
The Council are interested to understand how IT could be provided and managed for the entire
building as part of this agreement, including the areas occupied by Council Officers. As part of
the tender exercise, the Council would wish for interested parties to submit a plan for IT
provision. If tenderers require any specific information regarding this provision, they are
invited to submit questions or requests via the Kent Business Portal.
The Council have a future diary of planned formal civic meetings for which the Council
Chamber and other meeting rooms will be required for use by the Council. Details of an
example annual schedule is included within this tender pack. [Appendix C} The Council will
need use of the Council Chamber for these dates (some flexibility may be required). The
tenderer should provide information on how this requirement can be included. In addition,
there may be times where the Council may need the facility of a meeting room and would
require a form of priority booking. Tenders should include details of any cost and how this
could be accommodated.
Details of the Marketing strategy
The Council would wish to see an outline of the marketing strategy to be used, including
details of who the co-working company see as their main clients, split of different type of
clients, and offer offices, studio, other space). Details should include predicted rates of
occupancy.
The Council are seeking a marketing strategy that will bring fresh and innovative ideas that will
raise the aspirations of the Town Hall delivering increased and sustained footfall to the Town

Page 52

Appendix B
Annex B

Centre and will promote the Town Hall contributing to the Councils Economic Development
Strategy.
The Council would wish for the tenderer to work in partnership with the Councils
Communications team to ensure all media releases are co-ordinated and in line with TWBC
policies.
Business Plan and Financial information
The tender should provide details of the full business plan, including details of fees charged to
site users, predicted growth projections and expenditure, including evidence of the availability
of capital expenditure. Details of proposed split with the Council, including methodology for
calculating net profit. The tender should include information on the company’s management
structure.
The tenderer should be willing to work on an open book basis to auditable standards.
Engagement with the wider Business community
The Council are keen for the tenderer to hold regular events that support both the co-working
users, but also to engage with other members of the business community. An outline of how
the tenderer will develop and encourage business networking and support including
engagement with wider existing business support services.

Contract Term:

The Lease is intended to commence in spring 2022. The minimum lease term will be 15 years
although TWBC will consider a longer term in the event that significant capital expenditure is
tendered. The Lease terms are to be agreed.
Variant Tenders:
All tenderers are required to submit a proposal based on the minimum lease term of 15
years. However, tenderers are invited to submit additional ‘variant tenders’ if they believe
that greater value can be obtained for the Council from a longer lease agreement.
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council will only accept variant tenders (at its sole discretion) if they
meet the minimum specification detailed in the tender specification (or in the absence of
defined minimum specification in the tender specification, meet and exceed all criteria of the
tender specification).
Variant tenders will be evaluated against the published evaluation criteria.
Variant tenders submitted which do not meet the minimum specification detailed in the
tender specification (or in the absence of a defined minimum specification in the tender
specification) will be deemed non-compliant and not capable of acceptance by the contracting
authority.

Page 53

Appendix B
Annex B

The variant bid must be set out in writing as a separate document to the tender, and
accompanied by a new commercial proposal document submitted and marked ‘variant
tender’. For the variant tender offered, the full scope of the proposal, costings, delivery and,
or, implementation timetable and/or other proposals must be submitted in accordance with
the terms set out in the tender documents.

Scope of work and Project timeline:
Set out below is the procurement timetable which all Tenderers must adhere to. Although
TWBC does not intend to depart from the timetable, it reserves the right to do so at any time,
in which case Tenderers will adhere to any revised timescales
• Week commencing18 October – tender published on portal
• Expressions of Interest to be received by 12 noon1st November
• Site visits of the Town Hall – 8,9 & 10 November
• Tender Close – 12 noon 29 November
• Tender review commences – 30 November
• Interviews advised – 3 December
• Panel site visits – 7,8 & 9 December
• Panel interviews – 13,14 & 15 December
• Internal review and approvals – w/c 20th December
• Award of contract and start of 10 day standstill period – approximately the end of
January 2022
Evaluation of Responses:
The tenderer will be expected to provide all necessary materials and personnel to undertake
this work on behalf of the Council, and responses will be assessed against the following
criteria:
Qualitative Assessment Criteria
Requirement 1 - Vision, service, business community engagement and events (weighting
15%)
TWBC is seeking a dynamic partner that will maximise the potential for this site and the wider
town centre and community. We are particularly focused on realistic plans for a co-working
operation, that encourage footfall, which include for holding exciting events that bring benefit
not only to those working from the Town Hall in the co-working provision, but wider business
networking opportunities, development, and new skill events.
Please provide the following information to support your proposal:
•
•
•

A strategic concept vision and innovation document
A partnership approach statement to working with TWBCs Economic Development
Team and other partners
An ethical compliance statement (to cover items that are not illegal but not in the best
image of TWBC, for example (but not limited to) adult entertainment

Page 54

Appendix B
Annex B

•
•

A marketing and communications plan
A written statement detailing your approach to engaging with, and appointing, local
suppliers to provide services as part of this project

Each of these elements should be a maximum of 500 words.
Requirement 2 - Experience, references, CVs, and Case studies (weighting 10%)
TWBC will be seeking an experienced partner that can demonstrate that they have the
necessary requirements to operate a co-working arrangement. This should include previous
experience and a list of case studies that support the credentials of the applicant. Tenderers
without a proven track record in co-working development will need to clearly demonstrate
that they have the necessary transferable skills and experience to deliver this tender. Case
studies should be relevant to the vision of the Town Hall [listed building – part occupied by a
Local authority]. Please note that the panel may decide to view established examples that the
Tenderer has already developed as part of the process
Please provide evidence of your experience by submitting the following:
•
•
•

Two detailed case studies from previous projects of this type, with contact details for
references – Maximum 1000 words per case study.
CVs of the management team and a management structure diagram
Details of any joint venture agreements (if any)

Requirement 3 - Building maintenance plan (weighting 10%)
TWBC is seeking to understand how the internal areas of the Town Hall will be maintained and
how issues will be dealt with and to what standards.
Please provide the following information to support your proposal:
•
•
•

A detailed building maintenance plan and methodology – No restriction on word
count
A cleaning plan – Maximum 500 words
A waste and recycling plan – Maximum 500 words

Commercial Proposal
Requirement 4 - Business plan (weighting 25%)
TWBC is seeking a partner that will maximise the potential for this site and the wider town
centre and business community. We are particularly focused on realistic plans for a co-working
operation, that encourage footfall, and investment, not just in capital expenditure, but future
and wider investment
Please provide the following information to support your proposal:

Page 55

Appendix B
Annex B

•

a full business plan including financial projections P&L, cash flow and long-term
balance sheet forecasts.

Requirement 5 - Level of Capital investment in the first 12 months (Council or Company
investment) (weighting 15%)
The amount capital expenditure in pound sterling that a Tenderer is willing to commit to
spending on the town Hall in the first 12 months, together with the proposed length of Lease
term (to be no less than 15 years). For the avoidance of doubt this should include
refurbishment costs and ongoing maintenance costs. The Council equally recognise that there
are two models here and will also consider appraisals where the Council are investing in the
refurbishment and in exchange would be seeking enhanced profit payments. Should the
Council be required to invest, we would be seeking sureties and a robust business plan to
demonstrate the assurance of our financial investment.
Please provide the following to support your proposal:
•
•
•
•
•

The proposed term of the Lease (to be no less than 15 years)
The level of capital investment to be committed to refurbishment of the Town Hall in
the first 12 months, or the level of investment required by the Council
A proposed schedule of detailed expenditure payment
Evidence of availability of capital in order to finance the expenditure outlined
A master plan/design for the refurbishment of the Town Hall, and suitability for
planning assessment/listed building consent, if so required

Requirement 6 - Profit Share (weighting 15%)
Please outline your profit share proposal, with payment to be made to TWBC through an open
book accounting procedure. Profits must not be mitigated and should follow standard
accountancy practice (details of the formula and procedure to be specified in the submission
including methodology for depreciation of assets and the proposed staff and directors’
remuneration costs and their increase methodology). TWBC is seeking the full accounting
methodology. Weighting will be given to those Tenderers that can guarantee a certain level of
income to the Council and maximise net returns to TWBC and use fair methodology.
Please confirm the following information:
•
•

The % profit share to be made available to TWBC
The full accounting methodology for profit calculation and dividend

Qualitative criteria will be scored out of a possible 5 marks as follows:
Marks
Awarded
0

Criteria
Does not meet the requirement. Does not comply and/or insufficient information
provided to demonstrate that the Tenderer has the ability, understanding,

Page 56

Appendix B
Annex B

1

2

3

4

5

experience, skills, resource & quality measures required to provide the
supplies/services, with little or no evidence to support the response.
Satisfies the requirement with major reservations. Considerable reservations of the
Tenderers relevant ability, understanding, experience, skills, resource & quality
measures required to provide the supplies/services, with little or no evidence to
support the response.
Satisfies the requirement with minor reservations. Some minor reservations of the
Tenderers relevant ability, understanding, experience, skills, resource & quality
measures required to provide the supplies/services, with little or no evidence to
support the response.
Satisfies the requirement. Demonstration by the tenderer of the relevant ability,
understanding, experience, skills, resource & quality measures required to provide
the supplies/services, with evidence to support the response.
Satisfies the requirement with minor additional benefits. Above average
demonstration by the tenderer of the relevant ability, understanding, experience,
skills, resource & quality measures required to provide the supplies/services, with
evidence to support the response.
Exceeds the requirement. Exceptional demonstration by the tenderer of the relevant
ability, understanding, experience, skills, resource & quality measures required to
provide the supplies/services. Response identifies factors that will offer potential
added value, with evidence to support the response.

Interview – Weighting 10%
Following the quality and finance proposal evaluation any contractor that is 10 points or more
behind the leader will not be invited to interview. The dates for interviews will be 7,8 &9
December – Companies required for interview will be informed on 3 December. The interview
stage will take the form of a presentation followed by a Q&A session and will be scored out of
a possible 10 marks (5 marks for the presentation, 5 marks for the Q&A).

Terms & Conditions
Tenderers are required to submit a draft agreement/proposed draft terms as part of their
tender response.
The Council propose a standard commercial lease, the tenant is responsible for internal
maintenance repair and insurance. A service charge and percentage based on occupation to be
agreed. It is proposed that the initial rent will be £1000 pa.
The Council reserves the right to reject any submission with terms that are not considered
acceptable, or that are onerous to the Council and its objectives.
The Lease will be excluded from the operation of sections 24 to 28 (inclusive) of the Landlord
and Tenant Act 1954, in accordance with the provisions of section 38A of that Act and the
relevant schedules of The Regulatory Reform (Business Tenancies) (England and Wales) Order
2003 contracted out of the Landlord and Tenant Act 1954. Tenderers must confirm that they

Page 57

Appendix B
Annex B

will return the necessary statutory declaration required to exclude the Lease from the
Landlord and Tenant Act
In the event of additional co-working opportunities being identified during the normal
operation of this contract, the Council reserves the right to award these opportunities
directly to the winning tenderer. This will be subject to an acceptable commercial proposal
being received. If this is not forthcoming, the Council will seek alternative proposals for the
additional opportunities.

Key Dates & Timeline for Procurement
Tender release: week commencing 18 October 2021
Expression of Interest Deadline: 12:00pm 1 November 2021
Deadline for submission of completed tenders: 12:00pm 29 November 2021
Evaluation: 30 November 2021
Interviews: 13,14 & 15 December 2021
Appointment of contractor: approximately end of January 2022

Instructions for Submission

The Kent Business Portal eProcurement system will be used to facilitate the secure interchange
of documents. All communication should be made via this system. Your response must be
submitted electronically into the same tender box that you used to retrieve the original
documents, duly completed, and signed before the deadline and when the tender box closes
at:
12:00pm 29 November 2021.
ITT Documents
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council invites Contractors to submit their Responses in accordance
with the instructions set out in this document.
This document provides Contractors with sufficient information to enable them to provide a
compliant response to this ITT (including providing templates where relevant); it sets out the
Evaluation Criteria that will be used to evaluate the responses and explains the administrative
arrangements for the receipt of Responses, and how the winning bidder will be selected.
While the information contained within this Document is believed to be correct at the time of
issue, the Council and its advisors will not accept any liability, for its accuracy, adequacy or
completeness, nor will any express or implied warranty be given. This exclusion extends to
liability in relation to any statement, opinion or conclusion contained in, or any omission from,
this document or other papers (including its Appendices) and in respect of any other written or
oral communication transmitted (or otherwise made available) to any Contractor. No

Page 58

Appendix B
Annex B

representations or warranties are made in relation to such statements, opinions or
conclusions.
If a Contractor proposes to enter into the Agreement with the Council it must rely on its own
enquiries and on the terms and conditions set out in the Agreement(s) (as and when finally
executed), subject to the limitations and restrictions specified in it.
Neither the issue of this Tender, nor any of the information presented in it, should be regarded
as a commitment or representation on the part of the Council (or any other person) to enter
into a contractual arrangement. This document should not be regarded as an investment
recommendation made by the Council or its appointed advisors.
All questions regarding this Tender must be raised in writing, at least FIVE working days before
the deadline for receipt of submissions using the Kent Business Portal. Queries raised or
received after this date may remain unanswered.
If a Contractor wishes the Council to treat a query as confidential, and not issue the response
to all Contractors, it must state this when submitting the query. If, in the opinion of the
Authority, the query is not confidential, the Authority will inform the Contractor and it will
have an opportunity to withdraw it. If the query is not withdrawn, the response will be issued
to all Contractors.
Answers will be deposited into the ‘Messaging’ tab of tender box and all Contractors will be
notified when the answers are available for retrieval.
Please ensure that you allow yourself plenty of time when responding to this Tender prior to
the closing date and time. If you are experiencing problems, then please contact the
Procurement department at Tunbridge Wells Borough Council for further assistance.
It is the Contractor’s responsibility to ensure that their completed submission, together with all
requested supporting documentation is deposited by the deadline. It will not be physically
possible to submit documents once the tender box has closed and therefore the Council
cannot consider submissions after the deadline.

Yours sincerely,
Katie Exon

Corporate Property Manager

Page 59

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix C
Annex C – Scoring matrix

Criteria
Scored Requirements:
Requirement 1 - Vision, service, business
community engagement and events
Requirement 2 - Experience, references, CVs,
and Case studies
Requirement 3 - Building maintenance plan
Requirement 4 - Business plan
Requirement 5 - Level of Capital investment
in the first 12 months (Council or Company
investment)
Requirement 6 - Profit Share
Interview
Quality Score
Financial Score
Interview
Overall

Supplier A
Supplier B
Supplier C
Supplier D
Supplier E
Marks Marks Weighted Marks Marks Weighted Marks Marks Weighted Marks Marks Weighted Marks Marks Weighted
Weighting
Available Scored Score Available Scored Score Available Scored Score Available Scored Score Available Scored Score

15%

5

4

12

5

1

3

5

4

12

5

4

12

5

2

6

10%

5

3

6

5

3

6

5

3

6

5

3

6

5

3

6

10%
25%

5
5

3
3

6
15

5
5

2
1

4
5

5
5

2
1

4
5

5
5

2
4

4
20

5
5

2
1

4
5

15%

5

3

9

5

2

6

5

3

9

5

3

9

5

1

3

15%
10%
35%
55%
10%

5
5

4
2

12
4
24
36
4
64

5
5

2

6

5
5

2
2

6
4
22
20
4
46

5
5

3
3

9
6
22
38
6
66

5
5

1

3

-

13
17
30

Page 61

-

16
11
27

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9

Performance Summary Q3 2021/22
(Oct-Dec 2021)
For Cabinet 17 March 2022

Summary
Lead Member: Cllr Tom Dawlings, Leader of the Council
Lead Director: Lee Colyer, Director for Finance, Policy and Development
Head of Service: Jane Clarke, Head of Policy and Governance
Report Author: Jane Clarke, Head of Policy and Governance
Classification: Public document (non-exempt)
Wards Affected: All
Approval Timetable
Management Board
Finance and Governance CAB
Cabinet

Date
16 February 2022
1 March 2022
17 March 2022

Recommendations
Officer / Committee recommendations as supported by the Portfolio Holder:
1. That the Cabinet notes the summary of project performance over quarter three,
2021/22, at appendix A.
2. That the Cabinet notes the summary of service performance over quarter three,
2021/22, at appendix B.
3. That the Cabinet notes the Recovery Plans for quarter three, 2021/22, at
appendices C-J.

Page

1 of 8

Page 63

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Performance Summary Q3 2021/22 (Oct-Dec 2021)

Agenda Item 9

1. Introduction and Background
1.1

This report summarises the performance of the Council’s projects and
services over quarter three, 2021/22. Appendix A provides a summary of
projects in the Five Year Plan. Where service under-performance is identified,
Recovery Plans are included at appendices C-H to give details of actions to
bring service performance back on track.

1.2

The performance management framework is part of the overall governance
framework of the Council, which seeks to ensure that risks are managed
whilst results are delivered. Quarterly performance reporting helps the Council
to improve services and deliver better results for residents, and Cabinet
Committee oversight ensures that the framework is robust, and that
performance is open to challenge from those with political responsibility for the
delivery of projects and services. A public report helps other Councillors,
residents and stakeholders to engage with the work of the Council, and to
provide further challenge where it is appropriate and effective to do so.

1.3

The summary report is divided into two main sections:
•

Project performance (appendix A).

•

Service performance (appendix B).

1.4

Delivery of projects is monitored on a weekly basis by the Project
Management Office and is reviewed every month by the Programme
Management Board, which consists of the Chief Executive and Directors.
Progress is also monitored with Portfolio Holders at monthly meetings.

1.5

Service performance is monitored daily by line managers, reported to Heads
of Service monthly, and Management Board (Chief Executive and Directors)
on a quarterly basis.

2. Project Performance
2.1

Following decisions made in 2019, three projects within the Five Year Plan
are no longer proceeding (a new theatre, new offices and additional off-street
parking). The Public Realm Stage Two project is completed, as is the first of
the Community Hubs at Southborough.

2.2

Therefore, four projects remain active (counted as five to provide individual
updates for the two remaining Hubs), and their performance is as follows:

Page

2 of 8

Page 64

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Performance Summary Q3 2021/22 (Oct-Dec 2021)

Agenda Item 9

Date
2021/22 Q1
2021/22 Q2
2021/22 Q3
2.3

Red Status
0
0
0

Amber Status
3
3
3

Green Status
2
2
2

Project performance has stayed the same since the last quarter. Detailed
updates on the projects are available at appendix A.

3. Service Performance
3.1

Historic museum indicators, which were put on hold whilst plans for the
Amelia were developed, have now been deleted from the performance
management framework as they are no longer relevant. When new services
enter the building and are functional, new performance information will be
discussed and proposed.

3.4

The Council is collecting performance information on 32 indicators for this
year, 23 of which have targets.

3.5

Of the 23 that have targets, 15 are performing, six are under performing, and
two are missing at the time of reporting. This is similar to the previous quarter.

Date
2021/22 Q1
2021/22 Q2
2021/22 Q3

Performing
17
15
13

Not Performing
6
6
8

Unavailable
0
2
2

Under-performing Indicators
3.6

There are eight indicators which are underperforming.
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Page

3 of 8

Households in temporary accommodation
Percentage of household waste sent for reuse, recycling and
composting
Working days lost due to sickness
Processing of minor applications within time
Processing of other applications within time
Performance on appeal – minor applications
Performance on appeal – other applications
Collection of NNDR

Page 65

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Performance Summary Q3 2021/22 (Oct-Dec 2021)

Agenda Item 9
3.7

Recovery Plans for these eight indicators are attached at appendices C-J, and
give more details about the reasons for underperformance, and the actions
the service will take to bring performance back to target.

4. Options Considered
4.1

This report is for noting only, with no decisions being made as a result of the
recommendations. As such there are no options available to Cabinet.

5. Preferred Option and Reason
5.1

Performance management is an important tool to use for organisations and
businesses to assess their progress on desired aims and outcomes. To
promote transparency and increase trust in how the Council spends public
funds, performance information is published quarterly to allow for greater
scrutiny of the Council’s long-term ambitions and its day-to-day activities.

5.2

The recommendations are to note the factual information within this report.
Any actions Cabinet committee may choose to take as a result of the
information will be brought forwards in separate reports which will include
options appraisals and decisions.

6. Consultation on Options
6.1

The information in this report is factual information and there are no direct
decisions arising from the recommendations. As such, no public consultation
has taken place.

Recommendation from Cabinet Advisory Board
2.1

The Finance and Governance Cabinet Advisory Board were consulted on 16
November 2021 and agreed the following:
To be updated following the meeting.

7.1

There are no decisions arising from this report and so no implementation
period is necessary.

7. Appendices and Background Documents
Appendices:
Page

4 of 8

Page 66

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Performance Summary Q3 2021/22 (Oct-Dec 2021)

Agenda Item 9
•

Appendix A: Project Summary

•

Appendix B: Performance Indicator Outturn

•

Appendix C-J: Under-performing Indicator Recovery Plans

8. Cross Cutting Issues
A. Legal (including the Human Rights Act)
There is no statutory duty to report regularly to Cabinet on the Council’s
performance. However, under Section 3 of the Local Government Act 1999 (as
amended) a best value authority has a statutory duty to secure continuous
improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised having regard to a
combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness.
One of the purposes of the Council’s Corporate Priorities is to provide clear strategic
direction in order to facilitate the improvement of the economy, efficiency and
effectiveness of Council Services. Regular reports on the Council’s performance
assist in demonstrating best value and compliance with the statutory duty.
There are no consequences arising from the recommendation that adversely affect
or interfere with individuals’ rights and freedoms as set out in the Human Rights Act
1998.
Jayne Bolas, Principal Solicitor Contentious and Corporate Governance, 7 February
2022

B. Finance and Other Resources
A number of these performance indicators and projects have financial implications
and where appropriate these are covered in the Capital, Revenue and Treasury
Monitoring Reports that accompany this report.
Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Parking and Procurement, 7 February 2022

C. Staffing
This report demonstrates the vast proportion of work being undertaken by the
Council’s staff to provide services for the Borough and meet the projects within the
Five Year Plan. Performance is monitored on a monthly basis by Heads of Service
and is assessed against current staffing trends and issues to ensure staff resources
are aligned with the Council’s priorities.
Nicky Carter, Head of HR, Customers and Communities, 7 February 2022

Page

5 of 8

Page 67

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Performance Summary Q3 2021/22 (Oct-Dec 2021)

Agenda Item 9
D. Risk Management
All risks associated with this report are within the Council’s current risk appetite and
managed in accordance with its risk management strategy.
Jane Clarke, Head of Policy and Governance, 7 February 2022

E. Environment and Sustainability
This report and the action plans will have considered this aspect to ensure that the
service areas and projects deliver the desired outcomes for Environment and
Sustainability.
Section 40, National Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006
40(1) Every public authority must, in exercising its functions have
regard so far as is consistent with the proper exercise of those
functions, to the purpose of conserving biodiversity.

Section 85, Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000
85(1) In exercising or performing any functions in relation to, or so
as to affect, land in an area of outstanding natural beauty, a relevant
authority shall have regard to the purpose of conserving and
enhancing the natural beauty of the area of outstanding natural
beauty.

Gary Stevenson, Head of Environment, Housing and Health, 7 February 2022

F. Community Safety
There are no consequences arising from the recommendation that adversely affect
community safety.
Section 17, Crime and Disorder Act 1998
17(1) Without prejudice to any other obligation imposed on it, it shall
be the duty of each authority to which this section applies to exercise
its various functions with due regard to the likely effect of the
exercise of those functions on, and the need to do all that it
reasonably can to prevent, crime and disorder in its area.

Terry Hughes, Community Safety Manager, 7 February 2022

Page

6 of 8

Page 68

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Performance Summary Q3 2021/22 (Oct-Dec 2021)

Agenda Item 9
G. Equalities
The decisions recommended through this paper have a remote or low relevance to
the substance of the Equality Act. There is no apparent equality impact on end
users.
Section 149, Equality Act 2010
149(1) A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have
due regard to the need to –
(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other
conduct that is prohibited by or under this Act;
(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a
relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it;
(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it.

Jane Clarke, Head of Policy and Governance, 7 February 2022

H. Data Protection
There are no data protection issues which need to be considered as a part of this
report.
Article 5, General Data Protection Regulation 2016
1. Personal data shall be:
(a) processed lawfully, fairly and in a transparent manner in relation
to the data subject;
(b) collected for specific, explicit and legitimate purposes and not
further processed in a manner that is incompatible with those
purposes;
(c) adequate, relevant and limited to what is necessary in relation to
the purposes for which they are processed;
(d) accurate and, where necessary, kept up to date;
(e) kept in a form which permits identification of data subjects for no
longer than is necessary for the purposes for which the personal
data are processed;
(f) processed in a manner that ensures appropriate security of the
personal data, including protection against unauthorised or unlawful
processing and against accidental loss, destruction or damage,
using appropriate technical or organisational measures.

Page

7 of 8

Page 69

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Performance Summary Q3 2021/22 (Oct-Dec 2021)

Agenda Item 9

Jane Clarke, Head of Policy and Governance, 7 February 2022

I. Health and Safety
There are no health and safety issues to consider as a part of this report and
recommendations.
Mike Catling, Corporate Health and Safety Manager, 7 February 2022

J. Health and Wellbeing
There are no health and wellbeing issues to consider as a part of this report and
recommendations.
1. Areas of deprivation: Will the proposal have an impact (positive of
negative) on those living in areas of deprivation within the borough
(40% most deprived in the country). These are Sherwood,
Southborough and High Brooms, Broadwater and Rusthall.
2. Healthier lifestyle opportunities: Will residents be more or less
able to make healthier lifestyle choices such as physical activity (e.g.
active travel, access to green spaces or access to leisure facilities),
healthy eating (e.g. proximity or access to take away shops,
allotments, food stores) and being smokefree
3. Social and Community networks: Will the proposal make it easier
for people to interact with one another e.g. encouraging community
engagement
4. Living and Working Conditions: does to proposal improve work or
home environments, increase job, education or training
opportunities, improve access to health services or housing
5. General Socioeconomic, cultural and environmental conditions:
Are there any other factors that may impact the above

Tracey Beattie, Environmental Health Manager, 7 February 2022

Page

8 of 8

Page 70

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Performance Summary Q3 2021/22 (Oct-Dec 2021)

Appendix A

Project Summary – Five
Year Plan Projects
Q3 2021/22 (Oct-Dec 2021)
1. Project
Provide a new Cultural and Learning Hub in Royal Tunbridge Wells (the
Amelia Scott).

Status
AMBER

Update
Practical completion was issued to WDI at the end of December 2021 with an
agreed programme of works related to snagging, defects list, ‘day 2’ works
and building control items to be addressed during quarter 4. Internal base
build works are being managed around the Fit Out and Interpretation team to
ensure this work is not delayed. The project team continue to proactively
manage these impacts, redrafting the programmes to ensure any potential in
programme delays do not significantly impact the overall costs. A revised Fit
Out schedule has been identified to ensure works remain overall on
programme. Revisions to the schedule have been accommodated with no
significant risks to the opening date. We remain on track for the Amelia being
open to the general public in April 2022 to align with Adult Education term
time as planned.

Page

1 of 6

Page 71

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Project Summary – Five Year Plan Projects
Date of publication – August 2021
Revision: 3

Appendix A
At the end of December 2021 total expenditure on the project was
£17,563,251. Of which the Council has spent £11.38m including cashflow
funding, with external funding of £4.449m from the NLHF, £633k from KCC,
ACE £589k and £512k from external fundraising. Wider grant funding
isreceived in arrears which means the Council is managing the cashflow
aspects of the project. At the end of December the cashflow funding had
reduced to £345k as grant claims were paid.
During quarter 3 the Council submitted a full business case to SELEP for
£1.4m of Getting Building Funding. This was successful and contracts are
being finalised which should be signed in Q4. As a result of the success of this
bid the budgetary gap and financial challenges underwritten by the Council
have been addressed with the budget of £20.6m fully funded.
Project Funding Source

Total (£)

TWBC (Capital and Revenue)

10,000,000

TWBC (Capital Reserve – March 2021)

1,102,112

KCC

1,700,000

National Lottery Heritage Fund

4,969,900

Arts Council England

886,250

Fundraising Target/ Counterculture/ TASCT

551,000

Other Opportunities – Getting Building Funding
Totals

1,400,000
20,609,262

Fundraising work continues with The Amelia Scott Cultural Trust and support
from specialist fundraisers, Counter Culture. The trust has recently made
applications for smaller funds. The longer term impact of Covid-19 pandemic
continues to prove challenging for fundraising.
Overall the budget remains under pressure with ongoing issues related to the
Base Build and the revised Fit Out schedule.

Page

2 of 6

Page 72

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Project Summary – Five Year Plan Projects
Date of publication – February 2022
Revision: 3

Appendix A

2. Project
Create a new Local Plan for the Borough.

Status
GREEN
(The project would be AMBER against the Local Development Scheme
February 2021, which has the previous timetable).

Update
An updated timescale has been agreed (October 2021).
The Local Plan has been submitted to the Secretary of State for Examination,
in accordance with the updated timetable.
Examination hearing dates have been scheduled by the Planning
Inspectorate. These are scheduled over March – May 2022, whereas the
timetable had considered that these would be completed by April.
Nevertheless, the overall timetable for adoption of the Local Plan in January
2023 (as set out in the October 2021 Local Development Scheme) is still
achievable, but much will depend on the timing of the Planning Inspector’s
report.
Areas of risk at the Examination have been identified.
There are significant negative consequences associated with delay to the
Local Plan, and accordingly positive continued progress is paramount.

Page

3 of 6

Page 73

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Project Summary – Five Year Plan Projects
Date of publication – February 2022
Revision: 3

Appendix A

3. Project
Create new sports facilities for the Borough.

Status
GREEN

Update
Hawkenbury site - all site surveys have been completed and a pre planning
application submission made to Local Planning Authority (TWBC) and KCC. A
formal response has been received and some initial work has been
undertaken to establish the extent of mitigation required for noise, ecology
and transport issues.
Outline planning consent has been renewed for the sites at Hawkenbury
(21/00300/FULL) and Rusthall (21/00068/FULL).
An initial review of business case for the project has been carried out.
A proposal to obtain a more detailed understanding of the extent of mitigation
required for noise, ecology and transport issues together with updates to the
capital values included in the business cases is to be prepared. The outputs
from this further work will be taken into account in a review of the business
case.
Consultation has been undertaken with potential users of the proposed
Hawkenbury site and considered as part of the Cabinet decision to extend the
existing grounds maintenance contract to December 2024.
Site allocations associated with the provision of sports facilities are part of the
part of the Local Plan submitted for Examination.

Page

4 of 6

Page 74

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Project Summary – Five Year Plan Projects
Date of publication – February 2022
Revision: 3

Appendix A

4. Project
Support the development of community centres in the borough: Cranbrook

Status
AMBER

Update
The project has now received confirmation from the NHS that the GPs are on
board with the project and ready to lead the delivery of the new facility.
We now await agreement from WKCCG on the specification of the facility in
terms of size of building they need to deliver GP services from. WKCCG and
GPs are working on this together and once received the business case will be
updated.
Subject to the above stacking up financially given the increase in construction
costs, project can go out to tender for TPM, QS and subject to procurement a
PCSA or a multi dis architect.
KCC has given the parish written confirmation that they are keen to see the
project progress and that they would support the library moving in and that
they will consult with KCC Corporate Landlord to determine what degree of
investment can be allowed for.
VAT report has concluded that there is a c£560k hit on the capital costs of the
building and or a hit on the leasehold income to the council and or a revenue
impact to the NHS. The project can still stack up despite these additional
costs however the payback period goes beyond the 25 years initially desired
by the Council.

Page

5 of 6

Page 75

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Project Summary – Five Year Plan Projects
Date of publication – February 2022
Revision: 3

Appendix A

5. Project
Support the development of community centres in the borough: Paddock
Wood

Status
AMBER

Update
Planning on the Paddock Wood Community Centre has been secured despite
an objection by Sports England and a call in from the Secretary of State.
Final construction costs have been rising and following receipt of the final
costs from Baxall, the additional costs have been covered by further funding
that has been identified and the town council has voted to enter into contract
for the build with Baxall and the contract has now been signed with pre-orders
underway.
Confirmation of the S106 funding required for the delivery of the tennis courts
and the hard ball cricket wicket has been confirmed from TWBC following SoS
call in expiring.
Start on site has been brought forward to March 2022 due to long lead in
times of certain items falling by a few weeks. There is potential additional
costs from inflation given the current market conditions but the market is
stabilising and the project is now avoiding being in the ground when the winter
hits and the water table is high in Paddock Wood.
A further c£100k grant has been secured towards solar panels and air source
heat pumps but funds must be spent by 31 June 2022 or handed back. An
application has also been made to the land fill grant and we will hear back
from them in March as to whether we have or have not been successful.

Page

6 of 6

Page 76

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Project Summary – Five Year Plan Projects
Date of publication – February 2022
Revision: 3

Community Safety Unit
All Crime per 1,000 population
Column1
16/17
17/18
18/19
19/20
20/21
21/22
Q1
51
70.24
63.5
69.5
64.4
Q2
45.5
52
75.93
71.5
68.5
64.4
Q3
47.13
59.27
77.02
72.9
66.3
65
Q4
48.31
64.83
74.3
74.8
62.3
Number of Police Recorded Incidents of anti-social behaviour (rolling year volumes)
Column1
16/17
17/18
18/19
19/20
20/21
21/22
Q1
1,437
1,414
2,036
2,012
Q2
1,324
1,487
2,169
1,812
Q3
1,308
1,490
2,354
1,554
Q4
1,372
1,557
2,476

All Crime per 1,000 Population
90
80
70
60
50
40
30
20

NOTE:
These indicators do not have targets.

10
0
18/19

19/20

20/21

21/22

Page 77

No. of Police Recorded Incidents of ASB (rolling yr)
3,000

2,500

2,000

1,500

500

0
18/19

19/20

20/21

21/22

Appendix B

1,000

Community Safety Unit
Number of violence against the person crimes
(rolling year figures)
Column1 16/17
17/18
18/19
19/20
20/21
21/22
Q1
2,183
3,039
3,325
3,290
3,496
Q2
1,723
2,311
3,453
3,198
3,331
3,430
Q3
1,868
2,571
3,462
3,220
3,351
3,498
Q4
1,971
2,824
3,418
3,336
3,326
Number of residential burglary offences
Column1 16/17
17/18
18/19
19/20
20/21
21/22
Q1
127
407
352
320
275
Q2
155
169
380
356
323
258
Q3
151
265
378
361
281
293
Q4
156
387
324
370
265

No. of Violence Against the Person Crimes (rolling yr)
3,600
3,500
3,400
3,300
3,200
3,100
3,000

NOTE:
These indicators do not have targets.

2,900
2,800
18/19

Page 78

The Borough is second lowest in Kent (behind Sevenoaks) for violence against
the person crimes.
The Borough is the third lowest in Kent for residential burglary offences, but
the only district to see a rise for this quarter in Kent.

19/20

20/21

21/22

No. of Residential Burglary Offences
450
400
350
300
250

150
100
50
0
18/19

19/20

20/21

21/22

Appendix B

200

Housing
Number of households in temporary accommodation
Column1 16/17
17/18
18/19
19/20
20/21
21/22
Q1
41
47
52
54
105
Q2
42
47
67
53
97
91
Q3
35
41
57
73
94
79
Q4
43
47
52
53
95
Number of homeless acceptances
Column1 16/17
17/18
18/19
19/20
20/21
21/22
Q1
11
1
7
18
16
Q2
12
12
15
14
18
18
Q3
11
10
17
14
16
8
Q4
9
12
7
12
20

NOTE:
Number of households in temporary accomodation: target is 70 so the
indicator is under performing.

No. of Households in Temporary Accom.
120

100

80

60

40

20

0
18/19

19/20

20/21

21/22

Page 79

Number of homeless acceptances: target is 12 so the indicator is performing.

No. of Homelessness Acceptances
25

20

15

5

0
18/19

19/20

20/21

21/22

Appendix B

10

Housing
Number of people approaching the Council for housing advice and assistance
Column1 16/17
17/18
18/19
19/20
20/21
21/22
Q1
196
231
282
273
295
Q2
205
298
351
328
263
Q3
223
264
279
293
267
Q4
237
295
376
314
Number of homelessness preventions
Column1 16/17
17/18
18/19
19/20
20/21
21/22
Q1
55
17
12
46
10
Q2
65
22
18
17
10
Q3
48
19
31
11
34
Q4
71
9
24
14

No. of People Approaching the Council for Assistance/Advice
400
350
300
250
200
150
100

NOTE:
These indicators do not have targets.

50
0
18/19

19/20

20/21

21/22

Page 80

No. of Homelessness Preventions
50
45
40
35
30
25

15
10
5
0
18/19

19/20

20/21

21/22

Appendix B

20

Health
Number of individuals enrolled and seen by One You Advisors
Column1 16/17
17/18
18/19
19/20
20/21
Q1
46
60
29
Q2
72
74
117
Q3
96
51
60
Q4
131
20
69

No. of Individuals enrolled and seen by One You Advisors

21/22
26
59
37
54

60
79
60

140
120
100
80
60
40

NOTE:
Number of individuals enrolled and seen by One You Advisors: target is
52.5 so the indicator is performing.

20
0
18/19

19/20

20/21

21/22

Page 81

Appendix B

Environment
Percentage of household waste sent for reuse, recycling and composting
Column1
16/17
17/18
18/19
19/20
20/21
21/22
Q1
52.30%
53.60%
49.94%
48.36%
52.00%
Q2
52.80%
52.80%
48.70%
51.40%
47%
45.42%
Q3
47.50%
52.80%
46.30%
47.99%
52%
Q4
45.50%
41.20%
40.10%
51.68%
46.85%

% Household Waste for Reuse, Recycling & Composting
60.00%

50.00%

40.00%

Kilos of residual waste collected per household
Column1
16/17
17/18
18/19
19/20
20/21
21/22
Q1
117
118
95
103
114
Q2
117
115
111
109
110
119
Q3
116
96
116
109
107
Q4
115
83
111
79
113
NOTE:
Percentage of household waste sent for reuse, recycling and composting: target
is 48.00% so the indicator is under performing.

30.00%

20.00%

10.00%

0.00%
18/19

Page 82

Kilos of residual waste collected per household: target is 127 kg so the indicator
is performing.

19/20

20/21

21/22

Kg Residual Waste Collected per Household
140
120
100
80

40
20
0
18/19

19/20

20/21

21/22

Appendix B

60

HR
Working days lost to sickness absence
Column1 16/17
17/18
18/19
19/20
20/21
21/22
Q1
0.83
1.26
1.33
1.07
1.13
Q2
1.41
1.64
1.13
0.58
1.63
Q3
1.41
1.47
2.06
0.92
1.9
Q4
1.38
1.01
1.64
1.08

Working Days Lost to Sickness
2.5

2

1.5

1

0.5

NOTE:
Working days lost to sickness absence: target is 1.375 so the indicator is under
performing.

0
18/19

19/20

20/21

21/22

Page 83

Appendix B

Economic Development
Number of tourist information centre counter enquiries
Column1
16/17
17/18
18/19
19/20
20/21
21/22
Q1
7,407
8,760
6,500
6,852
1,877
Q2
8,913
9,321
8,158
8,226
1,347
Q3
4,953
4,859
5,287
4,463
50
Q4
4,560
3,676
4,294
1,598
Number of customers advised remotely by tourist information centre
Column1
16/17
17/18
18/19
19/20
20/21
21/22
Q1
3,745
3,438
1,480
1,218
Q2
3,793
3,523
2,225
827
Q3
2,630
2,486
1,313
590
Q4
3,543
3,266
1,192

No. TIC Counter Enquiries
9,000
8,000
7,000
6,000
5,000
4,000
3,000
2,000

NOTE:
Data is not yet available for Q2 or Q3.

1,000
18/19

Number of touris information centre counter enquiries: target is 6,500 so the indicator is

Page 84

Number of customers advised remotely by tourist information centre: target is 3,300 so
the indicator is

19/20

20/21

21/22

No. Customers Advised Remotely by TIC
2,500

2,000

1,500

1,000

18/19

19/20

20/21

21/22

Appendix B

500

Economic Development
Total number of businesses contacting Economic Development for advice
Column1 16/17
17/18
18/19
19/20
20/21
21/22
Q1
50
37
13
2,445
1,519
Q2
31
30
45
50
370
328
Q3
47
34
36
90
1,348
Q4
92
38
30
460
2,340

No. Businesses Contacting ED Team for Advice
3,000

2,500

2,000

1,500

1,000

NOTE:
Total number of businesses contacting Economic Development for advice:
target is 30 so the indicator is performing.

500

18/19

19/20

20/21

21/22

Page 85

Appendix B

Finance
Percentage of invoices paid on time
Column1
16/17
17/18
18/19
19/20
20/21
21/22
Q1
99.68%
99.77%
99.73%
99.95%
100.00%
Q2
99.68%
99.96%
99.80%
100%
99.91%
Q3
99.71%
99.11%
99.56%
99.81%
99.81%
99.81%
Q4
99.71%
99.17%
99.78%
99.52%
100%
Percentage of self-service transactions and payments as a proportion of total transactions
Column1
16/17
17/18
18/19
19/20
20/21
21/22
Q1
96.90%
97.05%
97.05%
99.31%
99.10%
Q2
97.36%
98.17%
97.38%
99.36%
99.31%
Q3
88.80%
95.75%
96.36%
98.16%
98.77%
99.13%
Q4
94.52%
95.69%
95.99%
98.66%
98.28%

% Invoices Paid on Time
100.10%
100.00%
99.90%
99.80%
99.70%
99.60%
99.50%
99.40%

NOTE:
Percentage of invoices paid on time: target is 99.80% so the indicator is performing.

99.30%
99.20%
18/19

Percentage of self-service transactions and payments as a proportion of total transactions:
target is 92% so the indicator is performing.

19/20

20/21

21/22

Page 86

% Self-Service Transactions & Payments
as Proportion of Total Transactions
100.00%
99.00%
98.00%
97.00%

95.00%
94.00%
18/19

19/20

20/21

21/22

Appendix B

96.00%

Parking
Number of penalty charge notices issued (PCNs)
Column1
16/17
17/18
18/19
19/20
20/21
21/22
Q1
8,966
9,923
10,056
2,059
8,396
Q2
9,423
9,381
9,607
9,558
8,955
Q3
10,827
10,773
9,750
10,154
11,061
9,814
Q4
9,874
9,452
10,839
8,988
2,520

No. Penalty Charge Notices Issued
12,000

10,000

8,000

6,000

4,000

NOTE:
This indicator does not have a target.

2,000

18/19

19/20

20/21

21/22

Page 87

Appendix B

Planning
Processing of major planning applications with extensions of time
Column1 16/17
17/18
18/19
19/20
20/21
21/22
Q1
88.00%
93.00%
93%
92%
95%
Q2
88.00%
89.00%
93%
92.85%
100%
Q3
95.00% 100.00%
93%
100%
94%
Q4
96.00%
96.30%
100%
100%

Processing Major Planning Applications Extensions of Time
102.00%
100.00%
98.00%

Processing of minor planning applica ons with extensions of me
Column1 16/17
17/18
18/19
19/20
20/21
21/22
Q1
97.00%
96%
95%
97%
93%
Q2
96.00%
97%
98%
93.20%
97%
Q3
97.00%
96%
94%
98%
96%
Q4
100.00%
92%
96%
97%

96.00%
94.00%
92.00%
90.00%
88.00%
86.00%

NOTE:
Processing of major planning applications with extensions of time: target is 80%
so this indicator is performing.

84.00%
82.00%
18/19

Processing of minor planning applications with extensions of time: target is 85%
so this indicator is performing.

19/20

20/21

21/22

Page 88

Processing Minor Planning Applications Extensions of Time
99%
98%
97%
96%
95%
94%
93%

91%
90%
89%
18/19

19/20

20/21

21/22

Appendix B

92%

Planning
Processing of other planning applications with extensions of time
Column1 16/17
17/18
18/19
19/20
20/21
21/22
Q1
97.00%
99.00%
96%
99%
98%
Q2
98.00%
97.00%
96%
98.37%
98%
Q3
99.00%
99.00%
98%
99%
99%
Q4
98.00%
96.65%
97%
97%

Processing Other Planning Applications Extensions of Time
99.50%
99.00%
98.50%

Processing of major planning applications within time
Column1 16/17
17/18
18/19
19/20
20/21
21/22
Q1
63.00%
71.00%
60%
67%
70%
Q2
17.00%
79.00%
71%
57.14%
88%
Q3
64.00%
58.00%
47%
85%
72%
Q4
65.00%
65.00%
56%
54%

98.00%
97.50%
97.00%
96.50%
96.00%
95.50%

NOTE:
Processing of other planning applications with extensions of time: target is
90% so the indicator is performing.

95.00%
94.50%
18/19

Processing of major planning applications within time: target is 65% so the
indicator is performing

19/20

20/21

21/22

Page 89

Processing Major Planning Applications
100.00%
90.00%
80.00%
70.00%
60.00%
50.00%
40.00%

20.00%
10.00%
0.00%
18/19

19/20

20/21

21/22

Appendix B

30.00%

Planning
Processing of minor planning applications within time
Column1
16/17
17/18
18/19
19/20
20/21
21/22
Q1
91.00%
75.00%
45%
61%
75%
Q2
88.00%
78.00%
67%
73.78%
72%
Q3
93.00%
88.00%
75%
69%
55%
Q4
89.00%
64.00%
70%
63%
Processing of other planning applications within time
Column1
16/17
17/18
18/19
19/20
20/21
21/22
Q1
91.00%
90.00%
49%
74%
80%
Q2
88.00%
89.00%
76%
83.74%
79%
Q3
93.00%
90.00%
83%
78%
86%
Q4
89.00%
77.99%
79%
77%

Processing Minor Planning Applications
100.00%
90.00%
80.00%
70.00%
60.00%
50.00%
40.00%
30.00%
20.00%

NOTE:
Processing of minor planning applications within time: target is 75% so this
indicator is under-performing.

10.00%
0.00%
18/19

Processing of other planning applications within time: target is 88% so this
indicator is under performing.

19/20

20/21

21/22

Page 90

Processing Other Planning Applications
100.00%
90.00%
80.00%
70.00%
60.00%
50.00%
40.00%

20.00%
10.00%
0.00%
18/19

19/20

20/21

21/22

Appendix B

30.00%

Planning
Performance on appeal – major applications
Column1 16/17
17/18
18/19
19/20
20/21
21/22
Q1
100.00%
66.00%
75% 100.00%
50.00%
Q2
100.00% 100.00%
75%
100%
50%
Q3
0.00% 100.00%
50%
50%
100%
Q4
100.00% 100.00%
50%
50%
Performance on appeal – minor applications
Column1 16/17
17/18
18/19
19/20
20/21
21/22
Q1
67.00%
90.00%
78%
88%
68%
Q2
100.00%
88.00%
74%
100%
68%
Q3
67.00%
78.00%
81%
100%
63%
Q4
100.00%
82.14%
86%
86%

NOTE:
Performance on appeal - major applications: target is 65% so the indicator is
performing.

Performance on Appeal - Majors
120.00%

100.00%

80.00%

60.00%

40.00%

20.00%

0.00%
18/19

19/20

20/21

21/22

Performance on appeal - minor applications: target is 65% so the indicator is
under-performing.

Page 91

Performance on Appeal - Minors
120.00%

100.00%

80.00%

Appendix B

60.00%

40.00%

20.00%

0.00%
18/19

19/20

20/21

21/22

Planning
Performance on appeal – other applications
Column1
16/17
17/18
18/19
19/20
20/21
21/22
Q1
75.00%
73.00%
74%
89%
69%
Q2
58.00% 100.00%
70%
86.66%
71%
Q3
60.00%
67.00%
83%
77%
58%
Q4
67.00%
85.00%
80%
71%

Performance on Appeal - Others
120.00%

100.00%

80.00%

60.00%

40.00%

NOTE:
Performance on appeal - other applications: target is 65% so the indicator is
under performing.

20.00%

0.00%
18/19

19/20

20/21

Page 92

Appendix B

Policy
Percentage of population claiming Universal Credit
Yr/Qtr
TW
South East
19/20 Q1
1.3%
1.8%
19/20 Q2
1.4%
1.9%
19/20 Q3
1.5%
2.0%
19/20 Q4
1.6%
2.1%
20/21 Q1
4.2%
5.1%
20/21 Q2
4.5%
5.3%
20/21 Q3
4.4%
5.1%
20/21 Q4
4.5%
5.3%
21/22 Q1
3.6%
4.4%
21/22 Q2
3.2%
3.8%
21/22 Q3
2.8%
3.5%

Out of Work Benefits
6.0%
5.0%
4.0%
3.0%
2.0%
1.0%
0.0%
19/20 Q1

19/20 Q2

19/20 Q3

19/20 Q4

Page 93

20/21 Q1

20/21 Q2

TW

South East

20/21 Q3

20/21 Q4

21/22 Q1

21/22 Q2

NOTE:
This indicator does not have a target.

Appendix B

Revenues and Benefits
Time taken to process housing benefit/council tax benefit new claims and change events
Column1
16/17
17/18
18/19
19/20
20/21
21/22
Q1
9.20
14.52
7.26
4.79
6.37
Q2
13
15.58
5.4
5.63
5.12
Q3
14.8
16.86
5
5.85
4.45
Q4
32
3.15
2.01
3.79
Percentage of council tax collected
Column1
16/17
17/18
18/19
19/20
20/21
21/22
Q1
29.63%
29.48%
29.30%
27.88%
28.88%
Q2
57.31%
57.15%
56.80%
55.80%
56.10%
Q3
76.20%
85.15%
84.62%
83.52%
83.56%
Q4
98.30%
98.30%
98.09%
97.50%

Time taken to process housing benefit/council tax
new claims and change events
18
16
14
12
10
8
6
4

NOTE:
Time taken to process housing benefit/council tax benefit new claims and
change events: target is 10 so the indicator is performing.

2
0
18/19

19/20

Page 94

Percentage of council tax collected: target is 83.52% so the indicator is
performing.

20/21

21/22

Percentage of council tax collected
120.00%

100.00%

80.00%

60.00%

20.00%

0.00%
18/19

19/20

20/21

21/22

Appendix B

40.00%

Revenues and Benefits
Percentage of national non-domestic rates collected
Column1 16/17
17/18
18/19
19/20
20/21
21/22
Q1
31.19%
22.25%
21.68%
21.52%
25.12%
Q2
56.88%
49.83%
48.75%
48.10%
49.35%
Q3
75.05%
76.63%
74.20%
74.12%
79.28%
Q4
98.50%
96.26%
94.99%
94.71%

Percentage of national non-domestic rates collected
120.00%

100.00%

80.00%

60.00%

40.00%

NOTE:
Percentage of national non-domestic rates collected: target is 82% so the
indicator is under performing.

20.00%

0.00%
18/19

19/20

20/21

21/22

Page 95

Appendix B

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix C

Under Performing Indicator Recovery Plan
2021/22 Quarter Three

Indicator Name
Households in temporary accommodation.

Current Performance
Target: 70
Performance: 79

Historic Performance
Column1 16/17
17/18
18/19
19/20
20/21
21/22
Q1
41
47
52
54
105
Q2
42
47
67
53
97
91
Q3
35
41
57
73
94
79
Q4
43
47
52
53
95

Page 97

Appendix C
Reasons for Current Under Performance
The Council has a statutory duty to provide interim accommodation to any person and
their household, where there is a reason to believe they are eligible, homeless and
priority need, pending enquiries and whilst reason able steps are taken to relieve the
applicant and their household of homelessness.
The Council also has a statutory duty to provide temporary accommodation to any
person who at the end of their 56-day Relief Duty is found to be eligible, homelessness,
in priority need and not intentionally homeless.
The number of households provided with interim and temporary accommodation can be
influenced by the ability to both prevent and relieve homelessness, and critically the
ability to offer both private rented sector and social housing accommodation to
applicants.
There is an acute shortage of social housing within the borough with significant waiting
times for applicants to receive any offer of social housing. Access to the private rented
sector is extremely challenging on both an affordability level and supply level to
applicants who have sought housing assistance. Both these factors have a major
impact on the number of households provided with interim and temporary
accommodation.
It should also be noted that there is a significant difference between the types of interim
& temporary accommodation provision. Accommodation owned or leased by the
Council has a minimal cost to the Council, however the usage of B&B style and nightly
paid accommodation is at a significant cost to the Council. The breakdown of this
accommodation is:
Accommodation Type
Accommodation owned/leased by the
Council
B&B style/Nightly paid accommodation

Number of households accommodated
56
23*

Of the 23 households accommodated in B&B style or nightly paid accommodation, this
includes 5 verified rough sleepers. The cost of these placements is covered through
specific grant funding from the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities
to support rough sleepers away from the streets into accommodation.

Page 98

Appendix C
Actions to Improve Under Performance
(or reasons why this is not necessary)

Activities to increase the success of preventing and relieving homeless are being
reviewed, including additional training and a change of approach/culture is being
implemented, which will directly enhanced the level of homelessness prevention and
relief of homelessness. This will help support a reduction in the number of households
who will require the provision of temporary accommodation.
A new process has been introduced for Housing Options Advisors to seek authorisation
from management for any household newly being accommodated. This will ensure
there is oversight of households being placed and that temporary accommodation is
only being provided when required in accordance with housing legislation.
A sharper focus is in place for ensuring that households are being either placed directly
into temporary accommodation owned or leased by the Authority, or to ensure a more
efficient move-on of households on from B&B style/nightly paid accommodation, to help
drive down the costs of provision of temporary accommodation to homeless
households.

Page 99

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix D

Under Performing Indicator Recovery Plan
2021/22 Quarter Three*

Indicator Name
Percentage of waste sent for reuse, recycling or composting

*This indicated is measured in arrears so reflects the position as at end of Q2.

Current Performance
Target: 48%
Performance: 45.42%

Historic Performance (from the start of the NOM service Oct 2019)
Column1
Q1
Q2
Q3
Q4

19/20
20/21
21/22
49.94% 48.36% 52.00%
51.40%
47% 45.42%
47.99%
52%
51.68% 46.85%

Page 101

Appendix D
Reasons for Current Under Performance
This performance indicator combines the tonnages of recycled paper/card, plastic/cans and
glass the tonnages of composting of garden waste and food divided by the overall tonnage of
waste collected.
Following the introduction of the new recycling service in 2019 the quantity of material sent for
recycling has increased. Conversely, the quantity of garden waste collected has decreased and
this impacts on the overall composting and recycling rate reported.
The suspension of the garden waste service at the end of July has further reduced the tonnages
collected, lowering our overall rate composting and recycling rate below target.
This decrease has been seen in the national DEFRA figures and is partly also due to the
increase in the overall waste tonnages collected during the pandemic and increased working
from home
However, focusing on the recycling element, there has been an 11% increase in the amount of
recycling collected from residents. The council’s tonnages increased from 5974 tonnes in the
first half of 2020/21 to 6650 tonnes in 2021/22, an 11.3% increase.

Actions to Improve Under Performance
(or reasons why this is not necessary)

Continue to promote the recycling service, including the current campaign
www.pledge2recycle.co.uk/kent
Work with our collection contractor to restart the full garden waste collection service.

Page 102

Appendix E

Under Performing Indicator Recovery Plan
2021/22 Quarter Three

Indicator Name
Working days lost to sickness

Current Performance
Target:

1.375

Performance:

1.88

Historic Performance
Column1 17/18
18/19
19/20
20/21
21/22
Q1
0.83
1.26
1.33
1.07
1.13
Q2
1.41
1.64
1.13
0.58
1.63
Q3
1.41
1.47
2.06
0.92
1.88
Q4
1.38
1.01
1.64
1.08

Page 103

Appendix E
Reasons for Current Under Performance
Sickness reporting is broken down into two categories and the total is shown for the quarter. In
Q3 the number of days lost due to long-term sickness absence is very high and this has
negatively impacted the overall value. A long-term sickness absence is 20 days or more. There
was a significant increase in new long-term absences in Q3.

Actions to Improve Under Performance
(or reasons why this is not necessary)

HR continue to monitor all absences and with regard to long-term absences liaise with and
support managers who are in touch with the staff member to help support the staff member
successfully back into the workplace.

Page 104

Appendix F

Under Performing Indicator Recovery Plan
2021/22 Quarter Three

Indicator Name
Processing of planning applications: minor applications

Current Performance
Target:

88%

Performance:

55%

Historic Performance
Column1
Q1
Q2
Q3
Q4

16/17

17/18
18/19
19/20
20/21
21/22
91.00% 75.00%
45%
61%
75%
88.00% 78.00%
67% 73.78%
72%
93.00% 88.00%
75%
69%
55%
89.00% 64.00%
70%
63%

Page 105

Appendix F
Reasons for Current Under Performance
Q3 saw the clearance of a significant number of longstanding applications, which had a
significant impact on performance. In addition, there were a lower number of new Minor
applications received, which meant fewer ‘in time’ applications to compensate for the
clearance.
Agreement with applicants for extensions of time remained high at 96%.

Actions to Improve Under Performance
(or reasons why this is not necessary)

None required at this time, it is likely that the return to homeworking will have an
adverse impact but this may be offset by most of the older applications being cleared
previously.

Page 106

Appendix G

Under Performing Indicator Recovery Plan
2021/22 Quarter Three

Indicator Name
Processing of planning applications: other applications

Current Performance
Target:

88%

Performance:

86%

Historic Performance
Processing of other planning applications within time
Column1
16/17 17/18
18/19
19/20 20/21
21/22
Q1
91.00%
90.00%
49%
74%
80%
Q2
88.00%
89.00%
76%
83.74%
79%
Q3
93.00%
90.00%
83%
78%
86%
Q4
89.00%
77.99%
79%
77%

Page 107

Appendix G
Reasons for Current Under Performance
A significant improvement meant that the target was missed by 2% and was the best
outturn for the year. This coincided with officers have had a presence in the Town Hall 2
days a week from the second week of September.
There was an impact due to the clearance of a number of older applications and 2
largescale and long lasting Public Inquiries in October and November which were very
resource intensive.
The appointment of 2 Grade F Planning Officers now means that the officers that deal
with predominantly Other applications are now at a fully staffed level, which should also
result in an improvement in performance going forward.
Agreement with applicants for extensions of time remained high at 99%.

Actions to Improve Under Performance
(or reasons why this is not necessary)

None required at this time, it is likely that the return to homeworking will have an
adverse impact but that this may be offset by the full complement of staff who deal with
the Other applications.

Page 108

Appendix H

Under Performing Indicator Recovery Plan
2021/22 Quarter Three

Indicator Name
Performance on Appeal: Minor applications

Current Performance
Target:

65%

Performance:

63%

Historic Performance
Performance on appeal – minor applications
Column1
16/17 17/18
18/19
19/20 20/21
21/22
Q1
67.00% 90.00%
78%
88%
68%
Q2
100.00% 88.00%
74%
100%
68%
Q3
67.00% 78.00%
81%
100%
63%
Q4
100.00% 82.14%
86%
86%

Page 109

Appendix H
Reasons for Current Under Performance
The rolling year performance for Minor appeals was 17 dismissed out of 27 appealed.
This dipped slightly below the 65% target. There is not a particular pattern of those
allowed and only 2 appeal decisions for minor applications were received in Q3, 1 was
dismissed and 1 allowed.

Actions to Improve Under Performance
(or reasons why this is not necessary)

None required although key features of the allowed appeals will continue to be
monitored to ensure that no common themes occur, which would require a re-calibration
of decisions.

Page 110

Appendix I

Under Performing Indicator Recovery Plan
2021/22 Quarter Three

Indicator Name
Performance on Appeal: Other applications

Current Performance
Target:

65%

Performance:

58%

Historic Performance
Performance on appeal – other applications
Column1
16/17 17/18
18/19
19/20 20/21
21/22
Q1
75.00%
73.00%
74%
89%
69%
Q2
58.00%
100.00%
70% 86.66%
71%
Q3
60.00%
67.00%
83%
77%
58%
Q4
67.00%
85.00%
80%
71%

Page 111

Appendix I
Reasons for Current Under Performance
The rolling year performance for Other appeals was 7 dismissed out of 12 appealed.
This dipped below the 65% target. There is not a particular pattern of those allowed and
only 2 appeal decisions for other applications were received in Q3, 1 was dismissed and
1 allowed.

Actions to Improve Under Performance
(or reasons why this is not necessary)

None required although key features of the allowed appeals will continue to be
monitored to ensure that no common themes occur, which would require a re-calibration
of decisions.

Page 112

Appendix J

Under Performing Indicator Recovery Plan
2021/22 Quarter Three

Indicator Name
Percentage of national non-domestic rates collected.

Current Performance
Target: 82.00%
Performance: 79.28%

Historic Performance
Percentage of national non-domestic rates collected
Column1
16/17 17/18
18/19
19/20
20/21
21/22
Q1
31.19% 22.25% 21.68% 21.52% 25.12%
Q2
56.88% 49.83% 48.75% 48.10% 49.35%
Q3
75.05% 76.63% 74.20% 74.12% 79.28%
Q4
98.50% 96.26% 94.99% 94.71%

Page 113

Appendix J
Reasons for Current Under Performance
Reasons remain essentially unchanged from those reported at Q2 – namely the rebilling
of ratepayers removing their 100% Expanded Retail Discount (reduced to 66%) and
subsequent opt outs from the scheme of large ratepayers.
This all resulted in millions being added back to the Net Collectible Debit to collect
through respread instalments over 2021/22.
The expectation all along has been that these anomalies will only resolve at year’s end
when ratepayers have completed their instalment schedules.

Actions to Improve Under Performance
(or reasons why this is not necessary)
Don’t believe this requires an update beyond what was said at Q2, principally because –
it would appear – precisely what was predicted is now happening.
Collection rates are recovering as instalments from respread ERD are now being settled
on payment profiles.
The deficit to target essentially halved from 5.22% to 2.72% in December alone, as
evidence within the reported figures:

Page 114

Agenda Item 10

Quarter 3 – Capital Management to 31
December 2021
For Cabinet on 17 March 2022

Summary
Lead Member: Councillor Tom Dawlings, Leader of the Council (Portfolio Holder for
Finance & Governance)
Lead Director: Lee Colyer, Director of Finance, Policy & Development
Head of Service: Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking
Report Author: Zoe Jagniaszek, Service Accountant
Classification: Public document (non-exempt)
Wards Affected: All
Approval Timetable
Management Board
Portfolio Holder
Finance & Governance Cabinet Advisory
Board
Cabinet

Date
16 February 2022
28 February 2022
1 March 2022
17 March 2022

Recommendations
Officer / Committee recommendations as supported by the Portfolio Holder:
1. That Cabinet note the actual gross and net expenditure for the year and the
sources of finance, as shown in Appendices B to D.
2. That Cabinet note the inclusion of new schemes into the capital programme as
set out in notes 4.3 to 4.5.
3. That Cabinet approve the proposed movement between years set out in note 4.6
4. That Cabinet approve new Capital Applications detailed in Appendices L and M.

Page

1 of 10

Page 115

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Quarter 3 – Capital Management to 31 December 2021

Agenda Item 10

1. Introduction and Background
1.1

This report summarises the actual and forecast outturn expenditure on capital
schemes as at the 31 December 2021. The total capital expenditure is forecast
to be £12,240,000, a net decrease of £5,527,000 from the previously approved
budgets. This consists of a decrease of £5,566,000 in spending rescheduled to
2022/23 and a new scheme with a forecast projected spend of £39,000. New
schemes for 2022/23 total £349,000 to be noted, as approved by Cabinet as part
of the budget.

2. Capital Management to 31 December 2021
2.1

At their meeting on 11 March 2021, Cabinet approved schemes to be met from
the Capital Programme for the years 2021/22 to 2023/24.

2.2

The figures approved by Cabinet were on the basis of the net cost after specific
funding to be met by the Council, either from reserves or from the sale of existing
assets. The total approved spending was £13,811,000 during that period, of
which £12,103,000 was to be spent during 2021/22.

2.3

As shown in Appendix A, the approved programme for 2021/22 moved to
£18,325,000 by the end of the 2020/21 financial year, accounting for new
schemes, deletions and deferrals into future years and was approved by Cabinet
on 24 June 2021.

2.4

As the Capital Programme is a 4 year rolling plan an additional £854,000 has
been included for approval for 2024/25. This consists of Disabled Facilities
Grants and Housing Renewal advances.

2.5

New movements for 2021/22 are now forecasting an outturn of £12,240,000.

2.6

Appendices B and C set out in gross and net terms the actual spend and
amounts approved against the forecast outturn to 31 March 2022, while
Appendix D summarises the movement in approvals and in sources of finance
for the year.

2.7

Approval is also sought for £5,566,000 gross expenditure to be deferred into
2022/23 (see note 4.5).

2.8

There may be small differences in the figures within the report and appendices
due to rounding.

Page

2 of 10

Page 116

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Quarter 3 – Capital Management to 31 December 2021

Agenda Item 10
3. Options Considered
3.1

Retain the approved rolling capital programme as at the end of Quarter 2
2021/22. This would not reflect delays, advancements, underspends or new
schemes and therefore provide an inaccurate forecast to the end of the financial
year.

3.2

Amend the rolling capital programme to reflect changes since the end of Quarter
2 2021/22. These projections help to manage the public finances effectively
which support the objectives and priorities of the Council.

4. Preferred Option and Reason
New Budget Approvals
4.1

Appendix A shows how the approved capital expenditure has evolved since the
programme was first agreed (CAB 109/20). The amounts approved for schemes
at the June, September and December Cabinet meeting have been added to the
figure then reported as total approvals as at Quarter 2.

Projected capital expenditure and funding for 2021/22
4.2

Appendices B and C set out the actual expenditure and income to date and the
projection for the year for gross and net capital expenditure. Depending upon
the progress of the capital programme throughout the year it can be seen that
£2,887,000 will be required from earmarked reserves, Usable Capital Receipts
Reserve, Sale of Fixed Assets, or further borrowed funds to deliver the complete
capital programme of £12,240,000.

New Proposed Schemes
4.3

As agreed in principle during the 2021/22 budget setting cycle an increased
budget of £38,500 is now required to make repairs and improvements to the
Cranbrook Museum (TLE). The additional costs are due to secondary damage
and industry cost increases since the scheme was first approved. Details can be
found in Appendix E.

4.4

The following new schemes for 2022/23 have been approved by Cabinet as part
of the budget and will be considered by Full Council on the 23 February 2022.
They will now be included in the Capital programme:
• The replacement of the Camden Centre Roof (TLF) at a cost of £204,000.
These works would refurbish and upgrade the roof in order to minimise
water ingress and further the anticipated lifespan of certain elements, as
detailed in Appendix F.

Page

3 of 10

Page 117

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Quarter 3 – Capital Management to 31 December 2021

Agenda Item 10
•

•

•

4.5

The replacement of the Assembly Hall Theatre Lighting Desk (TLG)
costing £32,000. This includes cabling, installation and training on the
new desk and back up system (see Appendix G).
A new Parking Electric Van (TLH) for £24,500, which replaces one
enforcement vehicle and includes the purchase of an associated EV
charger. This scheme is to be funded from the On Street Parking
Reserve, as shown in Appendix H.
The Assembly Hall Theatre LED Lighting Upgrade (TLI) requiring a budget
of £88,000. This will include a review of existing lighting fittings to
upgrade where necessary to reduce operating costs (see Appendix I).
The budget will be funded from the Invest to Save Reserve.

There are two additional schemes included for approval for Weald Leisure
Centre Decarbonisation and North Farm Depot Decarbonisation (see Appendix L
and Appendix M). These projects are mainly funded by Government grant.

Schemes deferred to future years
4.6

There are 20 projects where implementation has been rescheduled, and Cabinet
approval is requested to defer these budgets to 2022/23 (see Appendix B):

Page

4 of 10

•

The Affordable Housing Grant (THS) budget of £956,000 is made up of
three Section 106 Developer Contributions which are committed to
schemes that have been slow to progress. It is hoped these will be paid
over in 2022/23.

•

Due to delays in making improvements to the Hilbert Football Pitch
Drainage (THX) the budget of £49,000, which is also funded by Section
106 Developer Contributions, is deferred to 2022/23.

•

£56,000 for the 21st Century Way Cycle Route (TJA), funded from Section
106 developer contributions, is rescheduled to 2022/23.

•

£150,000 for the Assembly Hall Means of Escape (TJE) is rescheduled to
2022/23. There continues to be delays to the fire protection works, but
works are ongoing and will continue in the new financial year.

•

Works have stopped on the replacement Benhall Mill Depot (TJH) and as
a result the budget of £700,000 is to be carried forward to 2022/23.

•

The Power Supply for the Ice Rink (TJI) has not taken place during the
year and therefore the budget of £176,000 will be moved to 2022/23.

•

£23,000 for the Calverley Grounds Tennis (TJN) scheme, which has not
been developed yet. This scheme is funded from Section 106 Developer
Contributions.

•

£1,083,000 for the Acquisition Sites Sports Strategy (TJR) of which is
partially funded by Section 106 Developer Contributions.

Page 118

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Quarter 3 – Capital Management to 31 December 2021

Agenda Item 10

Page

5 of 10

•

Works have only just begun on the RVP Car Park Refurbishment (TJW)
therefore £730,000 has been rescheduled to 2022/23.

•

The Camden Centre Changing Places (TKI) is delayed whilst options of
the location of the facility are considered. In the meantime, the budget of
£67,000 has been rescheduled to 2022/23.

•

The Town Hall (TKL) roof works are underway and will almost be
complete in this financial year. The remaining works will be completed
early in 2022/23 therefore part of the budget, £320,000, has been moved
accordingly.

•

The Great Hall Car Park (TKN) structural works have not started and
therefore the full budget of £850,000 has been moved forward to 2022/23.

•

Similarly, refurbishment of 9/10 Calverley Terrace (TKP) has not
progressed and the budget of £212,000 has moved into the next financial
year.

•

£20,000 for the Dunorlan Park Play Area (TKR), funded by Section 106
Developer Contributions, has not started and therefore has been moved to
2022/23.

•

£17,000 for the Southwood Road Field Drainage (TKT), partially funded
by Section 106 Developer Contributions, has not started and therefore has
been moved to 2022/23.

•

The FMS Upgrade (TKU) has yet to be committed as the resources that
should have been working on this project have been working on Covid
business grants. The budget of £47,000 has therefore been rescheduled
to the next financial year.

•

The replacement of the Great Hall Car Park Ventilation (TKW) System has
not started and the budget of £35,000 will need to be carried forward
accordingly.

•

There is a delay in finalising the requirements for the Hawkenbury Pitch
Lighting (TKZ), of which a budget of £15,000 is required. The budget has
been moved to 2022/23 until a decision is made.

•

The remainder of the North Farm Lane Resurfacing (TKZ) budget, which
is £25,000, is to be moved forward to 2022/23 whilst the results of the
drainage survey are considered.

•

The Warwick Road Car Park (TLA) repairs are still being designed so,
although this scheme is progressing, part of the budget totalling £35,000
is to be moved to 2022/23.

Page 119

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Quarter 3 – Capital Management to 31 December 2021

Agenda Item 10
Capital Disposals
4.7

During quarter 1 total payments from capital disposals of £215,000 were
received;
•

Land at Speldhurst Road for £160,000

•

Land at Acer Cottage for £55,000

This amount was transferred to the capital receipts reserve and used to finance
some of the capital projects, as can be seen in Appendix D.
4.8

The usable capital receipts unspent at the end of 2020/21 were £2,118,380,
which will now partially be used to fund the capital programme for the coming
year.

4.9

There have been no new capital disposals in Quarter 2 or Quarter 3.

Housing renewal Advances
4.10 Housing Renewal Advances (TAD) are discretionary loans given to vulnerable
householders, owners of empty properties and accredited landlords to help
improve the living conditions in the Borough. £5,600 has been distributed this
year, with £3,500 of this amount specifically for the Energy Efficiency scheme,
while £31,300 has been received year to date from repayments of previous
loans.
4.11 As approved by Cabinet in September 2012, a Housing Renewal Reserve was
set up to capture all loan repayments. It was intended that in the future Cabinet
would use these sums to fund new loans, reducing or removing the necessity to
draw from other Council reserves for funding. From 2016/17 we have utilised
this reserve and will for all future advances. Appendix J gives a summary of
expenditure and receipts over the last 6 years.

Section 106 Developer Funding
4.12 Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 allows a Local Planning
Authority (LPA) to enter into a legally-binding agreement or planning obligation
with a developer in association with the granting of planning permission. Total
Section 106 monies unspent and available as at 31 December 2021 is
£7,574,000. Of this sum, £2,344,000 has been approved and allocated by
Cabinet for various capital projects.
4.13 It should be noted that a number of these agreements are required to be repaid
should the Council not find appropriate projects upon which the monies can be
spent within the agreed time period. Appendix K summarises the allocation of
Section 106 money and also analyses the dates on which these agreements
expire.

Page

6 of 10

Page 120

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Quarter 3 – Capital Management to 31 December 2021

Agenda Item 10
4.14 The expired contribution of £47,000 from 2019/20 relates to transport
improvements in the vicinity of Fountains Retail Park. The Council has sought
the developers’ approval to undertake an alteration or addendum to the S106
agreement to use this funding for a similar purpose at a later date and is
currently awaiting a response.
4.15 There are three amounts due to expire in 2021/22 totalling £77,000, which have
been committed to spending on projects.

5. Consultation on Options
5.1

All capital adjustments have been discussed with the appropriate Officers
responsible for each scheme. Management Board have also reviewed these
proposals and consider them appropriate.

Recommendation from Cabinet Advisory Board
5.2

The Finance & Governance Cabinet Advisory Board were consulted on 1 March
2022 and agreed the following:
Insert text from Cabinet Advisory Board minute, or request text
from Democratic Services Officer.

6. Implementation
The decision will be published on the Council’s website.

6.1

7. Appendices and Background Documents
Appendices:
•

Appendix A: Gross capital expenditure previously approved

•

Appendix B: Gross capital budgets and actual expenditure for Quarter 3 2021/22

•

Appendix C: Net capital budgets and payments for Quarter 3 2021/22

•

Appendix D: Summary of expenditure and funding for the 4 years to 2024/25

•

Appendix E: Capital Application Form 2021/22 Cranbrook Museum

•

Appendix F: Capital Application Form 2022/23 Camden Centre Roof

•

Appendix G: Capital Application Form 2022/23 Theatre Lighting Desk

•

Appendix H: Capital Application Form 2022/23 Parking Electric Vehicle

•

Appendix I: Capital Application Form 2022/23 Theatre LED Lighting

Page

7 of 10

Page 121

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Quarter 3 – Capital Management to 31 December 2021

Agenda Item 10
•

Appendix J: Housing Renewal Grants – Summary of loans issued and repaid

•

Appendix K: Funding from Section 106 Agreements

•

Appendix L: Weald Sports Centre Decarbonisation

•

Appendix M: North Farm Depot Decarbonisation

Background Papers:
•

Budget 2021/22 and Medium Term Financial Strategy – CAB 90/20
https://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/documents/s53259/7%20Budget%2020
21_22.pdf

•

Quarter 3 2020/21 Capital Management to 31 December 2020 – CAB 109/20
https://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/documents/s53768/9%20Capital%20Q3
%20Cabinet%20report%20202021.pdf

•

Quarter 4 2020/21 Capital Management to 31 March 2021 – CAB 19/21
https://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/documents/s56058/Capital%20Q4%20
Cabinet%20report%20202021.pdf

•

Quarter 1 2021/22 Capital Management to 30 June 2021 – CAB 62/21
https://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/documents/s57329/Capital%20Q1%20
Cabinet%20report%20202122.pdf

•

Quarter 2 2021/22 Capital Management to 30 September 2021 – CAB 62/21
https://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/documents/s58531/12%20Capital%20Q
2%20Cabinet%20report%20202122.pdf

•

Draft Budget 2022/23 and Medium Term Financial Strategy – CAB 100/21
https://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/documents/s58518/10%20Draft%20Bud
get%202022_23.pdf

Page

8 of 10

Page 122

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Quarter 3 – Capital Management to 31 December 2021

Agenda Item 10

8. Cross Cutting Issues
A. Legal (including the Human Rights Act)
Under section 151 of the local government act (LGA 1972), the Section 151 Officer has
statutory duties in relation to the financial administration and stewardship of the authority,
including advising on the corporate financial position and providing financial information.
Claudette Valmond, Interim Head of Legal Partnership

B. Finance and Other Resources
The report updates on the Authority’s capital programme and sets out whether capital
expenditure is incurred within approvals by Cabinet.
Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking

C. Staffing
None
Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking

D. Risk Management
To ensure that spending on the capital programme is in line the Council’s Medium Term
Financial Strategy.
Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking

E. Environment and Sustainability
No implications
Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking

F. Community Safety
No implications

Page

9 of 10

Page 123

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Quarter 3 – Capital Management to 31 December 2021

Agenda Item 10
Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking

G. Equalities
No implications
Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking

H. Data Protection
No implications
Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking

I. Health and Safety
No implications
Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking

J. Health and Wellbeing
No implications
Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking

Page

10 of 10

Page 124

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Quarter 3 – Capital Management to 31 December 2021

Appendix A
Appendix A: Schemes Approved and Awaiting Approval
2021/22
2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
£000
£000
£000
£000

TAC
TAD
THP
THS
THY
TJH
TKA
TKC
TLB

TAC
TAD
TJJ
TKL
TKH
TKJ
TLC
TLD

TFV
THS
TLB
TAC
TAD
TDD

TLE

TLF
TLG
TLH
TLI

Original Gross Approvals

12,103

Re-scheduled To/From 2020/21
Disabled Facilities Grants
Housing Renewal Advances
The Amelia Scott
Affordable Housing Grant
Torrington Car Park LED Lighting
Benhall Mill Depot
Estore Upgrade
Crematorium Woodland Walk
Town Hall Yard Car Park
Total Approvals as at 1st April 2021

4,221
169
(30)
1,262
292
(21)
224
5
(1)
102
18,325

Disabled Facilities Grants
Housing Renewal Advances
Packs In The Wood Refurbishment
Town Hall
Bayham Changing Facilities
Bayham Drainage
Civica Upgrade
Public Realm 2 CCTV
Total Approvals at Quarter 1

854

854

854

854

424
18
55
(75)
(35)
58
54
499

-

13,811 CAB109/20
CAB19/21
CAB19/21
CAB19/21
CAB19/21
CAB19/21
CAB19/21
CAB19/21
CAB19/21
CAB19/21
CAB19/21

-

4,221
169
(30)
1,262
292
(21)
224
5
(1)
102
20,033

CAB62/21
CAB62/21
CAB62/21
CAB62/21
CAB62/21
CAB62/21
CAB62/21
CAB62/21

854

1,248
30
18
55
58
54
1,463

824
30

75
35

110

-

Total
£000

Mobile Responsive Website
Affordable Housing Grant
Town Hall Yard Car Park
Disabled Facilities Grants
Housing Renewal Advances
Street Lighting Columns
Total approvals at Quarter 2

(4)
613
31
(1,380)
(148)
(169)
(1,057)

1,380
148
169
1,697

-

-

(4)
613
31
640

Cranbrook Museum
Total approvals at Quarter 3

39
39

-

-

-

39
39

Capital Schemes for 2022/23
Camden Centre Roof
Theatre Lighting Desk
Parking Electric Van
Assembly Hall LED Lighting

204
32
25
88

Page 125

204
32
25
88

CAB102/21
CAB102/21
CAB102/21
CAB102/21
CAB102/21
CAB102/21

Appendix A
THS
THX
TJA
TJE
TJH
TJI
TJN
TJR
TJW
TKI
TKL
TKN
TKP
TKR
TKT
TKU
TKW
TKX
TKZ
TLA

Movements between years in Quarter 3 report
Affordable Housing Grant
Hilbert Football Pitch Drainage
21st Century Way Cycle Route
Assembly Hall Means Of Escape
Benhall Mill Depot
Power Supply Ice Rink
Calverley Grounds Tennis & Gym
Acquisition Sites Sports Strategy
RVP Car Park Refurbishment
Camden Centre Changing Places
Town Hall
Great Hall Car Park
9/10 Calverley Terrace
Dunorlan Park Play Area
Southwood Road Field Drainage
FMS Upgrade
Great Hall Car Park Ventilation
Hawkenbury Pitch Lighting
North Farm Lane Resurfacing
Warwick Road Car Park

(956)
(49)
(56)
(150)
(700)
(176)
(23)
(1,083)
(730)
(67)
(320)
(850)
(212)
(20)
(17)
(47)
(35)
(15)
(25)
(35)

956
49
56
150
700
176
23
1,083
730
67
320
850
212
20
17
47
35
15
25
35

Total Approvals

12,240

8,575

Page 126

854

854

22,523

Appendix B: CAPITAL MONITORING - Gross capital budgets and payments for 2021/22

Code

Scheme

Open/
Closed

FY Original

Amendments

FY Revised

Budget

to budget

Budget

Actual

Forecast

Difference

Re-scheduled

New Schemes

Over/Under

To/From

Budget

2022/23
£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Leader

TGQ
THF
TIF
TJH
TJJ
TKA
TKF
TKL
TKP
TKU
TLC

SINGLE CUSTOMER ACCOUNT
CARD PAYMENT SOFTWARE
IT STRATEGY
BENHALL MILL DEPOT
PACKS IN THE WOOD REFURBISHMENT
ESTORE UPGRADE
DIGITAL COMMUNICATIONS
TOWN HALL
9/10 CALVERLEY TERRACE
FMS UPGRADE
CIVICA UPGRADE

O

85

-

85

-

85

-

-

O

7

-

7

-

7

-

-

O

296

28

324

130

324

-

O

527

273

800

1

100

(700)

O

-

41

41

20

41

-

-

O

-

5

5

-

5

-

-

O

-

18

18

12

18

-

O

-

643

643

34

323

(320)

(320)

-

O

212

-

212

-

-

(212)

(212)

-

O

47

-

47

-

-

(47)

(47)

-

O

-

58

58

2

58

-

1,174

1,065

2,239

199

960

(1,279)

O

1,746

(546)

1,200

497

1,200

-

O

225

(165)

60

6

60

-

O

51

905

956

-

-

(956)

O

33

-

33

-

33

-

O

49

-

49

-

49

-

O

67

-

67

-

-

(67)

O

515

(138)

377

267

377

-

-

O

20

-

20

-

20

-

-

2,706

56

2,761

770

1,739

(1,023)

O

140

(140)

-

-

-

-

O

21

-

21

-

21

-

O

20

-

20

16

20

-

O

27

-

27

-

27

-

O

47

-

47

18

22

(25)

(25)

256

(140)

115

33

90

(25)

(25)

Leader Total

(700)

-

-

(1,279)

-

-

Page 127

Communities and Wellbeing

TAC
TAD
THS
TKD
TKE
TKI
TKQ
TKV

DISABLED FACILITIES GRANTS
HOUSING RENEWAL ADVANCES
AFFORDABLE HOUSING GRANT
CINDERHILL SEWERAGE SYSTEM
CINDERHILL ADDITIONAL PLOT
CAMDEN CENTRE CHANGING PLACES
CRESCENT ROAD PROPERTIES
CINDERHILL WATER METERS

(956)

-

(67)

(1,023)

-

-

Environment

TDD
TGH
TKS
TKY
TKZ

STREET LIGHTING COLUMNS
PUBLIC REALM IMPROVEMENTS
NORTH FARM DEPOT CCTV
NORTH FARM DEPOT LIGHTING
NORTH FARM LANE RESURFACING
Environment Total

Appendix B

Communities and Wellbeing Total

-

-

-

-

-

Appendix B: CAPITAL MONITORING - Gross capital budgets and payments for 2021/22

Code

Scheme

Open/
Closed

FY Original

Amendments

FY Revised

Budget

to budget

Budget

Actual

Forecast

Difference

Re-scheduled

New Schemes

Over/Under

To/From

Budget

2022/23
£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Culture and Leisure

GOUDHURST PAVILION
THE AMELIA SCOTT
HILBERT FOOTBALL PITCH DRAINAGE
ASSEMBLY HALL MEANS OF ESCAPE
POWER SUPPLY ICE RINK
CALVERLEY GROUNDS TENNIS & GYM
ACQUISITION SITES SPORTS STRATEGY
CREMATORIUM WOODLAND WALK
BAYHAM CHANGING FACILITIES
BAYHAM DRAINAGE
ASSEMBLY HALL THEATRE
DUNORLAN PARK PLAY AREA
SOUTHWOOD ROAD FIELD DRAINAGE
HAWKENBURY PITCH LIGHTING
CRANBROOK MUSEUM

Page 128

TCX
THP
THX
TJE
TJI
TJN
TJR
TKC
TKH
TKJ
TKO
TKR
TKT
TKX
TLE

C

-

6

6

6

6

-

O

5,200

3,385

8,585

5,659

8,585

-

O

49

-

49

-

-

(49)

(49)

-

O

120

76

196

4

46

(150)

(150)

-

O

176

-

176

-

-

(176)

(176)

-

O

23

-

23

-

-

(23)

(23)

-

O

1,083

-

1,083

-

-

(1,083)

(1,083)

-

C

19

(19)

-

-

-

-

O

75

(75)

-

-

-

-

-

-

O

35

(35)

-

-

-

-

-

-

O

-

180

180

76

180

-

O

20

-

20

-

-

(20)

(20)

-

O

17

-

17

-

-

(17)

(17)

-

O

15

-

15

-

-

(15)

(15)

O

-

-

-

-

39

39

6,831

3,519

10,350

5,745

8,855

(1,495)

(1,533)

O

-

56

56

-

-

(56)

(56)

O

-

20

20

-

20

-

-

76

76

-

20

(56)

Culture and Leisure Total

-

-

-

39
-

39

Economic Development

TJA
TKG

21ST CENTURY WAY CYCLE ROUTE
CHRISTMAS LIGHTS
Economic Development Total

-

(56)

-

O

-

23

23

10

23

-

O

102

(21)

81

-

81

-

C

-

45

45

45

45

-

O

44

-

44

-

44

-

O

555

275

830

-

100

(730)

O

80

-

80

-

80

-

O

270

580

850

-

-

(850)

(850)

Appendix B

O

35

-

35

-

-

(35)

(35)

-

O

50

-

50

3

15

(35)

(35)

-

O

-

133

133

-

133

-

-

O

-

54

54

15

54

-

-

1,136

1,089

2,225

72

575

(1,650)

(1,650)

-

-

12,103

5,665

17,767

6,820

12,240

(5,527)

(5,566)

-

39

Planning and Transportation

TGX
THY
TIM
TIN
TJW
TJX
TKN
TKW
TLA
TLB
TLD

CAR PARKS PAYMENT SYSTEM
TORRINGTON CAR PARK LED LIGHTING
CRESCENT ROAD CAR PARK LIFTS
WEST STATION COACH PARK
RVP CAR PARK REFURBISHMENT
CAR PARKS CCTV
GREAT HALL CAR PARK
GREAT HALL CAR PARK VENTILATION
WARWICK ROAD CAR PARK
TOWN HALL YARD CAR PARK
PUBLIC REALM 2 CCTV
Planning and Transportation Total
Total Projects

-

-

(730)

-

Appendix C: CAPITAL MONITORING - Net capital budgets and payments for 2021/22

Code

Scheme

Open/
Closed

FY Original

Amendments

FY Revised

Budget

to budget

Budget

Actual

Difference

Forecast

Re-scheduled

New Schemes

Over/Under

To/From

Budget

2021/22
£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Leader

TGQ
THF
TIF
TJH
TJJ
TKA
TKF
TKL
TKP
TKU
TLC

SINGLE CUSTOMER ACCOUNT
CARD PAYMENT SOFTWARE
IT STRATEGY
BENHALL MILL DEPOT
PACKS IN THE WOOD REFURBISHMENT
ESTORE UPGRADE
DIGITAL COMMUNICATIONS
TOWN HALL
9/10 CALVERLEY TERRACE
FMS UPGRADE
CIVICA UPGRADE

O

85

-

85

-

85

-

-

-

-

O

7

-

7

-

7

-

-

-

-

O

296

28

324

130

324

-

-

-

-

O

527

273

800

1

100

(700)

(700)

-

-

O

-

41

41

20

41

-

-

-

-

O

-

5

5

-

5

-

-

-

-

O

-

18

18

12

18

-

-

-

-

O

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

O

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

O

47

-

47

-

-

(47)

(47)

-

-

O

-

58

58

2

58

-

-

-

-

962

423

1,385

165

638

(747)

(747)

-

-

Leader Total

Page 129

Communities and Wellbeing

DISABLED FACILITIES GRANTS
HOUSING RENEWAL ADVANCES
AFFORDABLE HOUSING GRANT
CINDERHILL SEWERAGE SYSTEM
CINDERHILL ADDITIONAL PLOT
CAMDEN CENTRE CHANGING PLACES
CRESCENT ROAD PROPERTIES
CINDERHILL WATER METERS

O

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

O

163

(163)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

O

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

O

33

-

33

-

33

-

-

-

-

O

23

-

23

-

23

-

-

-

-

O

67

-

67

-

-

(67)

(67)

-

-

O

-

-

-

180

-

-

-

-

-

O

20

-

20

-

20

-

-

-

-

305

(163)

142

180

75

(67)

(67)

-

O

140

(140)

-

-

-

-

-

-

O

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

O

20

-

20

16

20

-

-

-

O

27

-

27

-

27

-

-

-

O

47

-

47

18

22

(25)

(25)

-

Appendix C

TAC
TAD
THS
TKD
TKE
TKI
TKQ
TKV

234

(140)

94

33

69

(25)

(25)

-

-

Communities and Wellbeing Total
Environment

TDD
TGH
TKS
TKY
TKZ

STREET LIGHTING COLUMNS
PUBLIC REALM IMPROVEMENTS
NORTH FARM DEPOT CCTV
NORTH FARM DEPOT LIGHTING
NORTH FARM LANE RESURFACING
Environment Total

-

-

Culture and Leisure

TCX
THP
THX
TJE

GOUDHURST PAVILION
THE AMELIA SCOTT
HILBERT FOOTBALL PITCH DRAINAGE
ASSEMBLY HALL MEANS OF ESCAPE

C

-

3

3

3

3

-

-

-

-

O

-

1,468

1,468

1,582

1,468

-

-

-

-

O

6

(2)

4

-

-

(4)

(4)

-

-

O

120

76

196

4

46

(150)

(150)

-

-

Appendix C: CAPITAL MONITORING - Net capital budgets and payments for 2021/22

Code

Scheme

Open/
Closed

FY Original

Amendments

FY Revised

Budget

to budget

Budget

Actual

Difference

Forecast

Re-scheduled

New Schemes

Over/Under

To/From

Budget

2021/22
£000

TJI
TJN
TJR
TKC
TKH
TKJ
TKO
TKR
TKT
TKX
TLE

POWER SUPPLY ICE RINK
CALVERLEY GROUNDS TENNIS & GYM
ACQUISITION SITES SPORTS STRATEGY
CREMATORIUM WOODLAND WALK
BAYHAM CHANGING FACILITIES
BAYHAM DRAINAGE
ASSEMBLY HALL THEATRE
DUNORLAN PARK PLAY AREA
SOUTHWOOD ROAD FIELD DRAINAGE
HAWKENBURY PITCH LIGHTING
CRANBROOK MUSEUM

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

O

176

-

176

-

-

(176)

(176)

-

-

O

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

O

434

(136)

298

-

-

(298)

(298)

-

-

C

19

(19)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

O

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

O

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

O

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

O

1

-

1

-

-

(1)

(1)

-

-

O

7

-

7

-

-

(7)

(7)

-

-

O

15

-

15

-

-

(15)

(15)

-

-

O

-

-

-

-

39

39

-

-

39

777

1,390

2,167

1,588

1,555

(612)

(651)

-

39

Culture and Leisure Total

Page 130

Economic Development

TJA
TKG

21ST CENTURY WAY CYCLE ROUTE
CHRISTMAS LIGHTS

O

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

O

-

20

20

-

20

-

-

-

-

-

20

20

-

20

-

-

-

-

Economic Development Total
Planning and Transportation

CAR PARKS PAYMENT SYSTEM
TORRINGTON CAR PARK LED LIGHTING
CRESCENT ROAD CAR PARK LIFTS
WEST STATION COACH PARK
RVP CAR PARK REFURBISHMENT
CAR PARKS CCTV
GREAT HALL CAR PARK
GREAT HALL CAR PARK VENTILATION
WARWICK ROAD CAR PARK
TOWN HALL YARD CAR PARK
PUBLIC REALM 2 CCTV
Planning and Transportation Total
Total Projects

O

-

23

23

10

23

-

-

-

-

O

102

(21)

81

-

81

-

-

-

-

C

-

45

45

45

45

-

-

-

-

O

44

-

44

-

44

-

-

-

-

O

555

275

830

-

100

(730)

(730)

-

-

O

80

-

80

-

80

-

-

-

O

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

O

35

-

35

-

-

(35)

(35)

-

O

50

-

50

3

15

(35)

(35)

-

O

-

89

89

-

89

-

-

-

O

-

54

54

15

54

-

-

-

866

465

1,331

72

531

(800)

(800)

-

Appendix C

TGX
THY
TIM
TIN
TJW
TJX
TKN
TKW
TLA
TLB
TLD

3,145

1,994

5,139

2,039

2,887

(2,251)

(2,290)

-

39

-

Appendix D
Summary of Expenditure and funding for the 4 years programme to 2024/25
Original
Extra Items
Approved Approved Approved Approved

£000

Q1
£000

Q2
£000

Q3
£000

Proposed
Adjustmts
Q3
£000

Q4
£000

Proposed
Movements
between Yrs
Q3
£000

Projected
Outturn
Q4
£000

All years

Page 131

12,103
854
854
-

6,223
-

499
110
854

(1,057)
1,697
-

Gross Expenditure

13,811

6,223

1,463

640

3,585
1,949
1,548
3,042
482
102
555
80
95
296
223
176
1,678

264
(665)
439
519
3,348
206
(21)
111
164
20
23
28
(33)
18
1,801

1,248
136
15
55
2,333
54
15
(2,393)

613
44
(17)

13,811

6,223

1,463

640

Government Grants
HLF Lottery grant
Section 106 contributions
Other external Contributions
External and Internal Borrowing
Sale of Fixed Assets
Usable Capital Receipts Reserve
Torrington Rev Maint reserve
RVP Car Park Maintenance Reserve
On Street Parking Reserve
Strategic Plan Reserve
Invest to Save Reserve
ICT MKIP Partnership Reserve
Housing Renewal Reserve
Ice Rink Reserve
Digital Transformation Reserve
Capital and Rev Initiatives Reserve
Total Funding

-

-

39
349
-

(5,566)
5,566
-

12,240
8,575
854
854

387

-

22,523

(430)
25
88
705

-

5,098
1,284
2,736
3,620
3,884
1,902
206
81
666
322
20
205
324
205
176
18
1,774

387

-

22,523

Appendix D

2021/22
2022/23
2023/24
2024/25

Appendix D
Summary of Expenditure and funding for 2021/22
Original
Extra Items
Approved Approved Approved Approved

£000
Gross expenditure

Page 132

Government Grants
HLF Lottery grant
Section 106 contributions
Other external Contributions
External and Internal Borrowing
Sale of Fixed Assets
Usable Capital Receipts Reserve
Torrington Rev Maint reserve
RVP Car Park Maintenance Reserve
On Street Parking Reserve
Strategic Plan Reserve
Invest to Save Reserve
ICT MKIP Partnership Reserve
Housing Renewal Reserve
Ice Rink Reserve
Digital Transformation Reserve
Capital and Rev Initiatives Reserve

Q2
£000

Q3
£000

Adjustmts
Q3
£000

Q4
£000

Proposed
Movements
between Yrs
Q3
£000

Year End
Projected
Outturn
Q4
£000

12,103

6,223

499

(1,057)

-

39

(5,566)

12,240

1,937
1,949
1,548
3,042
482
102
555
80
95
296
163
176
1,678

264
(665)
439
519
3,348
206
(21)
111
164
20
23
28
(33)
18
1,801

424
26
15
55
2,333
54
(15)
(2,393)

(1,380)
613
12
(115)
(187)

-

(430)
469

(1,894)
(1,382)
(666)
(64)
(15)
(176)
(1,369)

1,246
1,284
732
3,588
2,503
1,902
206
81
234
20
102
324
18
(0)

12,103

6,223

499

(1,057)

-

39

(5,566)

12,240

Appendix D

Total Funding

Q1
£000

Proposed

Capital Programme Application Form
Corporate Priority
Proposed Scheme

Capital projects repairs and improvements to Cranbrook Museum

Outline of Proposal,
including timescales

Cranbrook Museum is a 16th century grade 2 listed building in the heart of Cranbrook and is one of the
most historically significant buildings in the area.

Sources of funding

The proposals include significant conservation efforts to the roof, including replacement of 2x leaking
cast iron roof lights with conservation approved equivalents, replacement of certain timber elements
including door thresholds and window sills with conservation approved equivalents.
Capital & Revenue Initiatives Reserve

Page 133

Objectives

To stop water ingress, conserve the building, avoid secondary damage and maximise its use as a fit for
purpose asset for the Council.

Benefits

To retain and increase its value and comply with relevant legislation. To avoid degradation along with
possible loss of amenity if part of the building fails. To avoid secondary damage arising from failure of
the building envelope or services.

How will the
proposal contribute
towards:
The upgrading of the building fabric and respect for the conservation of the building in its prime location
in the centre of Cranbrook will contribute to the delivery of a good experience in the town for visitors and
staff alike. It will reflect the corporate priority of being a prosperous borough.

Local Area
Agreement?
Asset
Management
Plan?

The proposed work is aligned with the Asset Management Plan which has the maintenance, care and
upgrade of Council owned assets as its core principle.

d:\mgtunbridgewells\data\agendaitemdocs\0\8\4\ai00033480\$2q2ggocg.docx

Appendix E

Corporate
Priority?

Capital Programme Application Form
Other plans
and strategies
(please
specify)?
Constraints

The property is fully owned by the Council with no third-party ownership issues.

(e.g. time, reliance
on external funding,
legal or technical
factors)

Page 134

Is this scheme
already in the
Capital Programme?

No. This is a new scheme

(If so, has the work
started or has the
contract been let?)

Have Accountancy
agreed that the
proposed
expenditure should

d:\mgtunbridgewells\data\agendaitemdocs\0\8\4\ai00033480\$2q2ggocg.docx

Appendix E

Does this scheme
No. The work is required to protect existing assets.
create new assets,
which the Council
will need to replace
in due course? If so,
please give the asset
life expectancies.

Capital Programme Application Form
correctly be treated
as capital?
Implications of
proposal being
rejected

The building will continue to deteriorate resulting in potential failure of building fabric and service
elements and resultant loss of facility. This will impact on the museum staff’s ability to perform their
functions and lead to potential failure in service provision to residents of the Borough. It may also
compromise the Borough by placing in it in breach of its planning obligations to protect listed buildings,

Implications of
proposal being
delayed

As above with greater costs to carry out the work when eventually commissioned.

Alternative solutions

Delay the necessary works. This will result in higher costs when the works are commissioned.

Page 135

(If capital funding
not available)
Risks (outline risks
and action required
to meet them)

Continued deterioration of the building
Health & Safety issues arising from building element failure
Health and Safety implications on the existing tenancy if deterioration continues.
Legal compensation claims arising from 2
In breach of planning obligations in respect of listed buildings
Reputational loss – less likely to attract investment, new companies and residents to the area

How does this
proposal impact on
equalities?

Potential loss of facility in areas of failure.

d:\mgtunbridgewells\data\agendaitemdocs\0\8\4\ai00033480\$2q2ggocg.docx

Appendix E

Closure of all or part of the building

Capital Programme Application Form
Are there any VAT
implications?

No

Capital Costs
Expenditure

2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

Site Acquisition
Construction

£32,700

Structural
Fees

£2,500

Page 136

Vehicles, Plant, Furniture and Equipment
Grants and Contributions
Other expenditure – 15% contingency

£3,300

Total

£38,500

Less external grants and contributions
Less sales of related fixed assets
£38,500

d:\mgtunbridgewells\data\agendaitemdocs\0\8\4\ai00033480\$2q2ggocg.docx

Appendix E

Net cost to Tunbridge Wells Borough
Council

Capital Programme Application Form
Revenue Effects of Capital Expenditure
Expenditure / Income
Loss of Interest (3% of net cost)

2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

£1,160

Additional revenue costs (please specify)
Reduced revenue costs (please specify)
Additional income (please specify)

Page 137

Net cost to Tunbridge Wells Borough
Council

£1,160

Net Present Value (Please speak with Finance if
you are unsure what this is)

Supply email endorsing their support for the approval of funding by Cabinet.
Work must not commence without budgetary approval from Cabinet (or s151 in an emergency)

d:\mgtunbridgewells\data\agendaitemdocs\0\8\4\ai00033480\$2q2ggocg.docx

Appendix E

Date the scheme discussed by the Head of Service with the relevant Portfolio Holder:

This page is intentionally left blank

Capital Programme Application Form
Corporate Priority
Proposed Scheme
Outline of Proposal,
including timescales

Capital projects for roof replacement at the Camden Centre
At present, the roof at the Camden Centre is leaking in several areas and is in need of large-scale
repairs and replacement to all sections of the roof. The application is to erect a scaffold around the
building and to completely refurbish the roof including the replacement of all tiles, lead flashings and
gullies and timber elements where these have degraded. Parts of the building are leased out to different
organisations, including a children’s nursery, and the running of these businesses is being affected by
the water ingress from the roof.
It is assumed that the Council will continue to hold the asset in the portfolio, and It is therefore
anticipated that these assets will continue to be held until at least 2025.

Page 139

On this assumption immediate repairs to maintain the integrity and capital value of the asset and ensure
compliance with Health and Safety regulations should be undertaken. Works to be undertaken in
2022/2023 would refurbish and upgrade the roof in order to minimise water ingress and further the
anticipated lifespan of certain elements, especially internal plasterwork, decorations, pointing, render
etc. Figures are based on a square meter rate for pitched roofing works and scaffolding.
Capital and Revenue Initiatives Reserve

Objectives

To stop water ingress, enhance the building, avoid secondary damage and maximise their use as fit for
purpose assets for the Council.

Benefits

To retain and increase the buildings value and comply with relevant legislation. To avoid degradation
along with possible loss of amenity if part of the buildings fails. To avoid loss of rental income. To avoid
secondary damage arising from failure of the building’s envelopes or services.

d:\mgtunbridgewells\data\agendaitemdocs\0\8\4\ai00033480\$ms5sk1de.docx

Appendix F

Sources of funding

Capital Programme Application Form
How will the
proposal contribute
towards:
Corporate
Priority?

The upgrading of the buildings fabric in their prime location in the centre of Tunbridge Wells will
contribute to the delivery of a good experience in the town for visitors and staff alike. It will reflect the
corporate priority of being a prosperous borough.

Local Area
Agreement?
Asset
Management
Plan?

The proposed work is aligned with the Asset Management Plan which has the maintenance, care and
upgrade of Council owned assets as its core principle.

Page 140

Other plans
and strategies
(please
specify)?
Constraints

The properties are fully owned by the Council with no third-party ownership issues.

(e.g. time, reliance
on external funding,
legal or technical
factors)
No. This is a new scheme

(If so, has the work
started or has the
contract been let?)

d:\mgtunbridgewells\data\agendaitemdocs\0\8\4\ai00033480\$ms5sk1de.docx

Appendix F

Is this scheme
already in the
Capital Programme?

Capital Programme Application Form
Does this scheme
No. The work is required to protect existing assets.
create new assets,
which the Council
will need to replace
in due course? If so,
please give the asset
life expectancies.

Page 141

Yes

Implications of
proposal being
rejected

The building will continue to deteriorate resulting in potential failure of building fabric and service
elements and resultant loss of facility. This will impact on the Council staff’s ability to perform their
functions and lead to potential failure in service provision to residents of the Borough. There would be a
loss of earnings for the council through rental income.

Implications of
proposal being
delayed

As above with greater costs to carry out the work when eventually commissioned.

Alternative solutions

Greater clarification of the Council’s longer-term intentions in terms of occupation and use of the
property may generate potential alternative remedies to the current issues that this Capital Bid seeks to
resolve.

(If capital funding
not available)

There could be the possibility of installing photo voltaic panels to the roof of the Camden Centre in the
future, and this could be designed into the current scheme if confirmed.

d:\mgtunbridgewells\data\agendaitemdocs\0\8\4\ai00033480\$ms5sk1de.docx

Appendix F

Have Accountancy
agreed that the
proposed
expenditure should
correctly be treated
as capital?

Capital Programme Application Form
Risks (outline risks
and action required
to meet them)

Continued deterioration of the buildings
Health & Safety issues arising from building element failure
Health and Safety implications on the existing tenancies if deterioration continues.
Legal compensation claims arising from 2
Closure of all or part of the buildings
Loss of competent staff
Reputational loss – less likely to attract investment, new companies and residents to the area

Page 142

How does this
proposal impact on
equalities?

Potential loss of facilities in areas of failure.

Are there any VAT
implications?

No

Appendix F

d:\mgtunbridgewells\data\agendaitemdocs\0\8\4\ai00033480\$ms5sk1de.docx

Capital Programme Application Form
Capital Costs
Expenditure

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

Site Acquisition
Construction

£160,000

Structural
Fees

£20,000

Vehicles, Plant, Furniture and Equipment
Grants and Contributions

Page 143

Other expenditure – 15% contingency

£24,000

Total

£204,000

Less external grants and contributions
Less sales of related fixed assets
Net cost to Tunbridge Wells Borough
Council

£204,000

Appendix F

d:\mgtunbridgewells\data\agendaitemdocs\0\8\4\ai00033480\$ms5sk1de.docx

Capital Programme Application Form
Revenue Effects of Capital Expenditure
Expenditure / Income
Loss of Interest (3% of net cost)

2020/21

2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

6,120

Additional revenue costs (please specify)
Reduced revenue costs (please specify)
Additional income (please specify)

Page 144

Net cost to Tunbridge Wells Borough
Council

6,120

Net Present Value (Please speak with Finance if
you are unsure what this is)

Supply email endorsing their support for the approval of funding by Cabinet.
Work must not commence without budgetary approval from Cabinet (or s151 in an emergency)

d:\mgtunbridgewells\data\agendaitemdocs\0\8\4\ai00033480\$ms5sk1de.docx

Appendix F

Date the scheme discussed by the Head of Service with the relevant Portfolio Holder:

Capital Programme Application Form
Corporate Priority

Customer, People, Value and Sustainability

Proposed Scheme

Replacement of Theatre Lighting Desk and Back Up system to include
cabling, installation and training.

Outline of Proposal,
including timescales

Replacement of the current theatre lighting desk and associated infrastructure. To be completed in the
first quarter of 2022.

Sources of funding

Capital and Revenue Initiatives Reserve.

Objectives

The current lighting desk is over 9 years old and a model that is no longer manufactured.
There have now been faults arising and components failing on the desk that has resulted in unreliability
of the desk and in some circumstances total loss of use. This has resulted in last minute hires of a
substitute desk to deliver programmed events within the theatre.

Page 145

The principal objectives are •
•

•
•
•

\\Mkip\departmental\Finance\Accounts\Budget Setting 2022-23\Capital\Capital application form 202223.docx

Appendix G

•
•

Replace the current lighting desk along with a backup system, associated cabling, remote
rigging/focussing control and sundries.
Ensure any new control system has the capability of accommodating and controlling the
industries move to the increased use of LED lighting fixtures.
Ensure a catastrophic failure does not disrupt a future performance.
Reduce the risk of a show stop and cancellation of a performance resulting in loss of revenue
and producer compensation.
Reduce the risk of negative reputation from both industry professionals and the public.
To eliminate a current known risk of business failure.
To avoid the necessity of hiring in external equipment. This is not a cost-effective solution.

Capital Programme Application Form
Benefits

•
•
•
•

How will the
proposal contribute
towards:
Corporate
Priority?

Page 146

Local Area
Agreement?

Ensure business continuity.
Establish resilience within the technical department for the next 8 to 10 years.
Improved levels of customer service (both visiting theatre producers and paying members of the
public).
Ensure that the lighting department is in a stronger and robust position to accommodate lighting
fixtures as industry event lighting continues to develop and increase the use of LED fixtures.

Value – Manage public funds effectively.
People – Improve and develop our technical services to public facing and industry customers.
Community – A prosperous Borough. Educating others on modern equipment.
Wellbeing – Ensuring we are sufficiently equipped as the industry progresses towards energy efficient
lighting.

Asset
Management
Plan?

Constraints

Installation of a new lighting desk can not take place during show days.

(e.g. time, reliance
on external funding,
legal or technical
factors)

\\Mkip\departmental\Finance\Accounts\Budget Setting 2022-23\Capital\Capital application form 202223.docx

Appendix G

Other plans
and strategies
(please
specify)?

Capital Programme Application Form

Is this scheme
already in the
Capital Programme?

No

(If so, has the work
started or has the
contract been let?)

Page 147

Does this scheme
Yes. 8 to 10 years.
create new assets,
which the Council
will need to replace
in due course? If so,
please give the asset
life expectancies.
The corporate threshold is £10,000 and therefore the policy supports this application.

Implications of
proposal being
rejected

Should the current lighting desk fail, this could result in the cancellation of a performance, with revenues
of over c.£20,000 per performance (if sold out with a £20 ticket) needing to be compensated.

Implications of
proposal being
delayed

Installation and training of new equipment would not be able to take place during current programmed
dark days.

Continuation of ad-hoc external hire of a lighting desk. This is not cost effective.

\\Mkip\departmental\Finance\Accounts\Budget Setting 2022-23\Capital\Capital application form 202223.docx

Appendix G

Have Accountancy
agreed that the
proposed
expenditure should
correctly be treated
as capital?

Capital Programme Application Form
Increased risk of show cancellation through equipment failure.
Alternative solutions

Long term hire of a lighting desk but a funding source for this would still be required.

(If capital funding
not available)

Page 148

Risks (outline risks
and action required
to meet them)

Lead time for delivery of desk can not be met. Can be eliminated by early ordering.

How does this
proposal impact on
equalities?

No impact.

Are there any VAT
implications?

None.

Appendix G

\\Mkip\departmental\Finance\Accounts\Budget Setting 2022-23\Capital\Capital application form 202223.docx

Capital Programme Application Form
Capital Costs
Expenditure

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

Site Acquisition
Construction
Structural Maintenance
Fees
Vehicles, Plant, Furniture and Equipment

£30,000

Grants and Contributions

Page 149

Other expenditure

£2,000

Total

£32,000

Less external grants and contributions
Less sales of related fixed assets
Net cost to Tunbridge Wells Borough
Council

£32,000

Appendix G

\\Mkip\departmental\Finance\Accounts\Budget Setting 2022-23\Capital\Capital application form 202223.docx

Capital Programme Application Form
Revenue Effects of Capital Expenditure
Expenditure / Income
Loss of Interest (3% of net cost)

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

960

Additional revenue costs (please specify)
Reduced revenue costs (please specify)
Additional income (please specify)

Page 150

Net cost to Tunbridge Wells Borough
Council

960

Net Present Value (Please speak with Finance if
you are unsure what this is)

Supply email endorsing their support for the approval of funding by Cabinet.
Work must not commence without budgetary approval from Cabinet (or s151 in an emergency)

\\Mkip\departmental\Finance\Accounts\Budget Setting 2022-23\Capital\Capital application form 202223.docx

Appendix G

Date the scheme discussed by the Head of Service with the relevant Portfolio Holder:

Capital Programme Application Form
Corporate Priority

To support a prosperous borough

Proposed Scheme

Replacement of one enforcement vehicle
The car park officers make regular use of a van to carry out their duties across the borough. These
duties include the inspecting and cleaning of car parks, maintaining the payment machines, managing
vegetation and signage etc. The van is essential for their work, but our current petrol van is 15 years old
and needs replacing. Over the last year it has cost £1,100 in repairs and maintenance. These costs are
only likely to increase further as the van gets older. This is in addition to the disruption to service whilst it
is in the garage.
It is proposed to purchase a new electric van and EV charging point, the same as recently purchased for
the environmental team.

Page 151

Outline of Proposal,
including timescales

Proposal: To purchase an electric van for the use of the Car Parks Team with associated EV charger.

Sources of funding

On Street Parking Reserve

Objectives

To enable us to continue to inspect and maintain the council’s car parks with lower revenue cost per
annum and using greener fuel in line with the council’s climate emergency ambitions.

Benefits

Enables us to rapidly maintain payment machines, deal with car park abuse and vandalism as well as
supporting rural enforcement.

Timescale: Required as soon as possible. (currently 16 week factory order)

How will the
proposal contribute
towards:
Corporate
Priority?

It will contribute to a Corporate Priority, make the borough a more attractive place for businesses to
invest and for sustainable growth to take place

d:\mgtunbridgewells\data\agendaitemdocs\0\8\4\ai00033480\$zv5uzbyp.docx

Appendix H

Replacing the existing van with an electric vehicle will contribute to the council’s carbon reduction plan to
be carbon neutral by 2030.

Capital Programme Application Form
Local Area
Agreement?
Asset
Management
Plan?
Other plans
and strategies
(please
specify)?

It will contribute to the Parking Strategy and reduce carbon emissions to support the council’s ambitions
to be carbon neutral by 2030.

Constraints

Page 152

(e.g. time, reliance
on external funding,
legal or technical
factors)
Is this scheme
already in the
Capital Programme?

A vehicle is necessary to provide the parking service to the borough. The van can be sourced, although
there is a 16 week order time period before delivery.

No

Does this scheme
create new assets,
which the Council
will need to replace
in due course? If so,

Yes: expected life 10 years

d:\mgtunbridgewells\data\agendaitemdocs\0\8\4\ai00033480\$zv5uzbyp.docx

Appendix H

(If so, has the work
started or has the
contract been let?)

Capital Programme Application Form
please give the asset
life expectancies.
Have Accountancy
agreed that the
proposed
expenditure should
correctly be treated
as capital?

Yes

Page 153

Implications of
proposal being
rejected

Continue to use the existing vehicle that would be prone to breakdown and disrupt our service delivery.
Would still be using a petrol vehicle which won’t help our climate emergency ambitions.

Implications of
proposal being
delayed

Reduces our ability to deliver an efficient service, greater revenue cost, more pollution.

Alternative solutions

It is possible to lease a new vehicle or to keep trying to repair our existing vehicle.

(If capital funding
not available)
No risks identified. Existing vehicle will remain in place during implementation until the new van arrives

How does this
proposal impact on
equalities?

No equality impact

Are there any VAT
implications?

No

d:\mgtunbridgewells\data\agendaitemdocs\0\8\4\ai00033480\$zv5uzbyp.docx

Appendix H

Risks (outline risks
and action required
to meet them)

Capital Programme Application Form
Capital Costs
Expenditure

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

Site Acquisition
Construction
Structural Maintenance
Fees
Vehicles, Plant, Furniture and Equipment

24,500

Grants and Contributions

Page 154

Other expenditure
Total

24,500

Less external grants and contributions
Less sales of related fixed assets
Net cost to Tunbridge Wells Borough
Council

24,500

Appendix H

d:\mgtunbridgewells\data\agendaitemdocs\0\8\4\ai00033480\$zv5uzbyp.docx

Capital Programme Application Form
Revenue Effects of Capital Expenditure
Expenditure / Income
Loss of Interest (3% of net cost)

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

740

Additional revenue costs (please specify)
Reduced revenue costs (please specify)

(1,500)

Additional income (please specify)

Page 155

Net cost to Tunbridge Wells Borough
Council

760

Net Present Value (Please speak with Finance if
you are unsure what this is)

Supply email endorsing their support for the approval of funding by Cabinet.
Work must not commence without budgetary approval from Cabinet (or s151 in an emergency)

d:\mgtunbridgewells\data\agendaitemdocs\0\8\4\ai00033480\$zv5uzbyp.docx

Appendix H

Date the scheme discussed by the Head of Service with the relevant Portfolio Holder:

Capital Programme Application Form

Page 156

Appendix H

d:\mgtunbridgewells\data\agendaitemdocs\0\8\4\ai00033480\$zv5uzbyp.docx

Capital Programme Application Form
Corporate Priority
Proposed Scheme

Assembly Hall LED lighting Upgrade

Page 157

Outline of Proposal,
including timescales

Review all building existing (excluding stage lighting) lighting fittings and upgrade where necessary to
LED to reduce operating costs via investing to save proposal. Until the existing installations are
surveyed, and suitable replacement possibilities established the costs and savings presented are just
estimated

Sources of funding

Invest to Save Reserve

Objectives

Reduce running costs and lower corporate carbon emissions

Benefits

As above

How will the
proposal contribute
towards:

Supports a prosperous borough, provides a quality service. This would support the need to reduce our
corporate carbon emissions as part of the declared climate emergency and to assist with plans to be
carbon neutral by 2030.

Corporate
Priority?
Local Area
Agreement?

Other plans
and strategies
(please
specify)?

\\Mkip\departmental\Finance\Accounts\Budget Setting 2022-23\Capital\Capital application form 202223.docx

Appendix I

Asset
Management
Plan?

Capital Programme Application Form
Constraints
(e.g. time, reliance
on external funding,
legal or technical
factors)
Is this scheme
already in the
Capital Programme?

Operation of the building may impact the phased installation and cost although this can be mitigated
using our term contractors.

No

Page 158

(If so, has the work
started or has the
contract been let?)
Does this scheme
No, replaces existing only
create new assets,
which the Council
will need to replace
in due course? If so,
please give the asset
life expectancies.
Yes

\\Mkip\departmental\Finance\Accounts\Budget Setting 2022-23\Capital\Capital application form 202223.docx

Appendix I

Have Accountancy
agreed that the
proposed
expenditure should
correctly be treated
as capital?

Capital Programme Application Form
Implications of
proposal being
rejected

Operating costs will remain, and carbon emissions will be comparatively higher than they could be with
low energy fittings.

Implications of
proposal being
delayed

As above

Alternative solutions

No alternative solutions

(If capital funding
not available)

Page 159

Risks (outline risks
and action required
to meet them)

Replacement of existing fittings only, minimal risks regarding business operation which can be mitigated
with proper management of any work.

How does this
proposal impact on
equalities?

There will not a any change in lighting levels

Are there any VAT
implications?

No

Appendix I

\\Mkip\departmental\Finance\Accounts\Budget Setting 2022-23\Capital\Capital application form 202223.docx

Capital Programme Application Form
Capital Costs
Expenditure

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

Site Acquisition
Construction
Structural Maintenance
Fees

8,000

Vehicles, Plant, Furniture and Equipment

80,000

Grants and Contributions

Page 160

Other expenditure
Total
Less external grants and contributions
Less sales of related fixed assets
Net cost to Tunbridge Wells Borough
Council

88,000

Appendix I

\\Mkip\departmental\Finance\Accounts\Budget Setting 2022-23\Capital\Capital application form 202223.docx

Capital Programme Application Form
Revenue Effects of Capital Expenditure
Expenditure / Income
Loss of Interest (3% of net cost)

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

2,640

Additional revenue costs (please specify)
Reduced revenue costs (please specify)

-18,000

-18,000

-18,000

-18,000

-15,360

-18,000

-18,000

-18,000

Additional income (please specify)

Page 161

Net cost to Tunbridge Wells Borough
Council

Net Present Value (Please speak with Finance if
you are unsure what this is)

Supply email endorsing their support for the approval of funding by Cabinet.
Work must not commence without budgetary approval from Cabinet (or s151 in an emergency)

\\Mkip\departmental\Finance\Accounts\Budget Setting 2022-23\Capital\Capital application form 202223.docx

Appendix I

Date the scheme discussed by the Head of Service with the relevant Portfolio Holder:

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix J: Quarter 3 - Capital Management to 31 December 2021

Housing Renewal Grants - summary of loans issued and repaid

Advances made during the year
Energy Efficiency Advances
Repayment of loans received
Other contributions
Energy Efficiency Funding
Transferred to/(from) the reserve
Net position
Housing Renewal Grants

2021/22
2,053.80
3,500.00
(31,260.63)

2019/20
61,853.71
7,843.94
(15,267.32)
100,000.00
(107,843.94)
(46,586.39)
-

2018/19
45,050.44

2017/18
9,591.35

2016/17
516.00

2015/16
33,090.84

(70,502.21)

(95,445.95)
100,000.00

(50,738.69)

(69,327.39)

(3,500.00)
29,206.83
-

2020/21
2,635.20
14,385.81
(54,489.92)
(6,700.00)
(14,385.81)
58,554.72
-

25,451.77
-

(14,145.40)
-

50,222.69
-

69,327.39
33,090.84

(283,077.23)

(253,870.40)

(195,315.68)

(241,902.07)

(216,450.30)

(230,595.70)

(180,373.01)

Page 163

Appendix J

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix K

Appendix K: Section 106 contributions as at 31 December 2021

Quarter 3 - Capital Management to 31 December 2021
S106 as at 31 December 2021
Allocated to schemes in capital programme:
Goudhurst
21st Century Way Cycle Path
Calverley Tennis Court scheme
Hilbert Football Pitch Drainage
Acquisition Sites Sports Strategy
Bayham Drainage
Bayham Changing Facilities
Affordable Housing Grant
Crescent Road Properties
Dunorlan Play Park
Southwood Road Drainage
Cinderhill Additional Plot

£000's

£000's

3
56
23
44
785
35
75
956
310
19
11
27
2,344

Reserved for purposes set out in Section 106 agreements:
Youth and Adult recreation
Childrens Playspace
Cycleways/Highways & Transport
Car Parking
Air Quality & Renewable Energy
Reptile & Ecology
Public Art
Affordable Housing

1,066
189
722
87
67
80
30
2,989
5,230

Total Section 106 contributions in hand as at 31 December 2021
These contributions expire in the following years:
2019/20
2020/21
2021/22
2022/23
2023/24
2024/25
2025/26
2026/27
2027/28
2028/29
2029/30
2030/31
2031/32
N/A
Contributions without expiry dates

7,574

47
0
77
44
31
232
753
387
2
127
2,736
156
1,353
1,628
1,628

Total Section 106 contributions in hand as at 31 December 2021

Page 165

7,574

This page is intentionally left blank

Capital Programme Application Form
Corporate Priority
Proposed Scheme

Weald Leisure Centre, Decarbonisation

Outline of Proposal,
including timescales

To carry out technical appraisal, design and implementation of (part) SALIX funded decarbonisation
works. Design & install Air Source Heat Pumps and Control System; heat distribution system upgrades;
LED lighting; fabric insulation, solar PV; ventilation upgrades. Note that until a full design is achieved the
exact extent of the works remains unknown. Other works may need to be brought forward and funded in
addition to that required just under the terms of the scheme.

Sources of funding

SALIX grant £1,177,000 – fixed maximum funding. It should be noted that this is a grant introduced by
Central Government, for which we have applied and been successfully awarded.
Capital bid £239,800 - subject to final design and procurement

Page 167

Objectives

Replacement of carbon heat source (gas boilers) and other works that contribute to the Council Carbon
Descent Plan

Benefits

Reduction in carbon footprint and contribution to Council’s net zero 2030 target.

How will the
proposal contribute
towards:

Local Area
Agreement?
Asset
Management
Plan?

Support a well borough. Ensure innovation in our services. Ensure we operate in a business like way.
.

Reduction in carbon footprint and contribution to Council’s net zero 2030 target.

Appendix L

Corporate
Priority?

Capital Programme Application Form
Other plans
and strategies
(please
specify)?
Constraints

Reduction in carbon footprint and contribution to Council’s net zero 2030 target

SALIX funding is dependent upon completion on or before end 2022-2023 financial year.

(e.g. time, reliance
on external funding,
legal or technical
factors)

Page 168

Is this scheme
already in the
Capital Programme?

No

(If so, has the work
started or has the
contract been let?)

Have Accountancy
agreed that the
proposed

Yes

Appendix L

Does this scheme
Air Source Heat Pumps have 20 year lifespan – similar to the boilers they replace.
create new assets,
Solar panels 25-30 years.
which the Council
will need to replace
in due course? If so,
please give the asset
life expectancies.

Capital Programme Application Form
expenditure should
correctly be treated
as capital?
Implications of
proposal being
rejected

Unable to take up SALIX grant funding. Boilers will need replacing in next 5 years.

Implications of
proposal being
delayed

Unable to deliver to SALIX grant timescale conditions hence unable to take up SALIX grant funding.

Alternative solutions

Requirement to install new heat source in next 5 years with full cost borne by TWBC.

Page 169

(If capital funding
not available)
Risks (outline risks
and action required
to meet them)

Time delay. Decision to progress to be made as soon as possible
Resources – internal, specialist internal resources are limited and other projects may need to be
deferred/ or made lesser priority to enable prioritisation of this project.
Resources – external – both consultants and contractors, as well as materials are in great demand and
many similar schemes are going forward at the same time. Costs may increase as a result.

How does this
proposal impact on
equalities?
Are there any VAT
implications?

No impact

Appendix L

Available power capacity likely to be insufficient – we have advised UK Power Networks of the scheme
but are unable to commission them until design is complete. We are then reliant upon their response.

Capital Programme Application Form
Capital Costs
Expenditure

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

Site Acquisition
Construction

1,395,000

Structural Maintenance
Fees

Included above

Vehicles, Plant, Furniture and Equipment
Grants and Contributions

Page 170

Other expenditure - contingency at 10% of
TWBC funded costs

21,800

Total

1,416,800

Less external grants and contributions

1,177,000

Less sales of related fixed assets
Net cost to Tunbridge Wells Borough
Council

239,800

Appendix L

Capital Programme Application Form
Revenue Effects of Capital Expenditure
Expenditure / Income
Loss of Interest (3% of net cost)

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

7194

Additional revenue costs (please specify)
Reduced revenue costs (please specify)
Additional income (please specify)

Page 171

Net cost to Tunbridge Wells Borough
Council

Net Present Value (Please speak with Finance if
you are unsure what this is)

Supply email endorsing their support for the approval of funding by Cabinet.
Work must not commence without budgetary approval from Cabinet (or s151 in an emergency)

Appendix L

Date the scheme discussed by the Head of Service with the relevant Portfolio Holder:

This page is intentionally left blank

Capital Programme Application Form
Corporate Priority
Proposed Scheme

Council Depot, North Farm Lane, Decarbonisation

Outline of Proposal,
including timescales

To carry out technical appraisal, design and implementation of (part) SALIX funded decarbonisation
works.
Design & install air source heat pumps to eliminate the fossil fuel dependency and provide the heating
and hot water for the property, alongside a modern control system that will also benefit the property
energy efficiency.
The existing office heating distribution is via wet underfloor heating which is suited to the ASHP outlet
temperatures.

Sources of funding

Page 173

SALIX grant £294,827 – fixed maximum funding. It should be noted that this is a grant introduced by
Central Government, for which we have applied and been successfully awarded
Capital bid £110,190 - subject to final design and procurement

Objectives

Replacement of carbon heat source (gas boilers) and other works that contribute to the Council Carbon
Descent Plan

Benefits

Reduction in carbon footprint and contribution to Council’s net zero 2030 target.

Corporate
Priority?
Local Area
Agreement?

Support a well borough. Ensure innovation in our services. Ensure we operate in a business like way.
.

Appendix M

How will the
proposal contribute
towards:

Capital Programme Application Form
Asset
Management
Plan?
Other plans
and strategies
(please
specify)?
Constraints

Reduction in carbon footprint and contribution to Council’s net zero 2030 target.
Reduction in carbon footprint and contribution to Council’s net zero 2030 target

SALIX funding is dependent upon completion on or before end 2022-2023 financial year.

Page 174

(e.g. time, reliance
on external funding,
legal or technical
factors)
Is this scheme
already in the
Capital Programme?

No

(If so, has the work
started or has the
contract been let?)

Appendix M

Does this scheme
Air Source Heat Pumps have 20 year lifespan – similar to the boilers they replace.
create new assets,
which the Council
will need to replace
in due course? If so,
please give the asset
life expectancies.

Capital Programme Application Form

Page 175

Have Accountancy
agreed that the
proposed
expenditure should
correctly be treated
as capital?

Yes

Implications of
proposal being
rejected

Unable to take up SALIX grant funding. Boilers will need replacing in next 5 years.

Implications of
proposal being
delayed

Unable to deliver to SALIX grant timescale conditions hence unable to take up SALIX grant funding.

Alternative solutions

Requirement to install new heat source in next 5 years with full cost borne by TWBC.

(If capital funding
not available)
Risks (outline risks
and action required
to meet them)

Time delay. Decision to progress to be made as soon as possible
Resources – internal, specialist internal resources are limited and other projects may need to be
deferred/ or made lesser priority to enable prioritisation of this project.

How does this
proposal impact on
equalities?

No impact

Appendix M

Resources – external – both consultants and contractors, as well as materials are in great demand and
many similar schemes are going forward at the same time. Costs may increase as a result.

Capital Programme Application Form
Are there any VAT
implications?

Page 176

Appendix M

Capital Programme Application Form
Capital Costs
Expenditure

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

Site Acquisition
Construction

395,000

Structural Maintenance
Fees

Included above

Vehicles, Plant, Furniture and Equipment
Grants and Contributions

Page 177

Other expenditure - contingency at 10% of
TWBC funded costs

15,300

Total

410,300

Less external grants and contributions

242,440

Less sales of related fixed assets
Net cost to Tunbridge Wells Borough
Council

167,860

Appendix M

Capital Programme Application Form
Revenue Effects of Capital Expenditure
Expenditure / Income

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

Loss of Interest (3% of net cost)
Additional revenue costs (please specify)
Reduced revenue costs (please specify)
Additional income (please specify)

Page 178

Net cost to Tunbridge Wells Borough
Council

Net Present Value (Please speak with Finance if
you are unsure what this is)

Supply email endorsing their support for the approval of funding by Cabinet.
Work must not commence without budgetary approval from Cabinet (or s151 in an emergency)

Appendix M

Date the scheme discussed by the Head of Service with the relevant Portfolio Holder:

Agenda Item 11

Revenue Management: Quarter 3 (to
31 December 2021)
For Cabinet on 17 March 2022

Summary
Lead Member: Councillor Tom Dawlings, Leader of the Council (Portfolio Holder for
Finance & Governance)
Lead Director: Lee Colyer, Director of Finance, Policy & Development
Head of Service: Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking
Report Author: Clare Hazard, Accountancy Manager
Classification: Public document (non-exempt)
Wards Affected: All
Approval Timetable
Management Board
Portfolio Holder
Finance & Governance Cabinet Advisory
Board
Cabinet

Date
16 February 2022
28 February 2022
1 March 2022
17 March 2022

Recommendations
Officer / Committee recommendations as supported by the Portfolio Holder:
1. That Cabinet note the Quarter 3 net expenditure on services year to date was
£10,094,000, £745,000 less than budget.
2. That Cabinet note that by year end the Council anticipates net expenditure of
£15,349,000 on services. This forecast is £325,000 under budget, an
improvement of £315,000 since Quarter 2.
3. That Cabinet note that by year end the Council anticipates receiving an increase
in funding of £1,712,000, an improvement of £240,000 since Quarter 2. Overall,

Page

1 of 9

Page 179

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Revenue Management: Quarter 3 (to 31 December 2021)

Agenda Item 11
this means an improvement to budget of £2,037,000 which will reduce the
budget deficit that was to be met from reserves, to a forecast £963,000.
4. That Cabinet approve write offs as set out in Paragraph 2.24 and detailed in
Appendix J.

1. Introduction and Background
1.1

This report shows the actual expenditure on services compared to the revised
budget for the period ended 31 December 2021, and the forecast outturn
position, highlighting significant variances from the revised annual budget.

1.2

The net expenditure on services for the year is forecast to be £15,349,000 which
is an underspend against budget of £325,000.

1.3

The net funding the Council expects to receive has increased by £1,712,000
which means an overall improvement to budget of £2,037,000. This reduces the
budgeted £3,000,000 deficit for 2021/22, to be met from reserves, to a forecast
£963,000.

2. Revenue Management to 31 December 2021
Summary Outturn – Appendix A
2.1

Appendix A shows the overall income and expenditure on services forecast
outturn position as at 31 December 2021. Total income and expenditure on
services can be seen in greater detail within Appendix B, which provides
information per service area. The approved budget was set by Full Council on 24
February 2021 and does not change. The revised budget is used to record
virements amongst service areas and from reserves, whilst the forecast outturn
is used to record the reporting of savings, overspends and allocations from
reserves.

2.2

The forecast outturn for expenditure on services is £15,349,000, which is
£325,000 under budget. The various movements to forecast can be seen in
Appendix C. It can also be seen that the net funding for the year has increased
by £1,712,000, comprising £1,612,000 of additional funding from Government
and £100,000 in investment income. This means an overall improvement to the
budget position of £2,037,000.

2.3

Investment interest and income is forecast to be £100,000 over budget, which is
mainly due to the Council’s investment in the Property Fund which has generated
a net return of 4.41% to the end of Quarter 3.

2.4

It is forecast that the Council will receive additional grant funding of £1,612,000
during the year from Government. The Council received a grant of £486,000, to
support it through the pandemic, as well as £410,000 towards the cost of the new

Page

2 of 9

Page 180

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Revenue Management: Quarter 3 (to 31 December 2021)

Agenda Item 11
burdens that have been placed upon authorities. The sales, fees and charges
scheme, which compensated Councils for income losses during 2020/21, was
extended to cover April to June 2021 and it is estimated that the Council will be
compensated by an amount in the region of £570,000. The Council is also
expecting to receive an additional £146,000 of income from business rates
grants, above what had been included in the budget.
2.5

The 2021/22 budget was set on the assumption that losses from income, due to
the pandemic, would be in the region of £250,000 per month, and the annual loss
of £3,000,000 would be met by a transfer from reserves. The transfer from
reserves is therefore now forecast to be £963,000, a reduction of the £2,037,000,
as described in Notes 2.2 to 2.4.

Usable Reserves – Appendix D
2.6

Appendix D shows all usable reserves including the earmarked reserves. Usable
reserves are those that the Council can use to provide services, subject to the
need to maintain an overall prudent level of reserves. Earmarked reserves are
amounts set aside to meet identified, and sometimes committed, future liabilities.

2.7

As shown in Appendix D the Council had £39,466,000 of usable reserves as at 1
April 2021, including £29,060,000 of earmarked reserves. It should be noted that
the Grant Volatility Reserve holds £15,398,000 that at year end will be used to
fund the Council’s share of the deficit currently held on the Collection Fund. It is
committed and not available to spend despite being held in a usable reserve

2.8

Capital and Revenue Initiatives Reserve is generally used to finance the capital
programme, where it is financed from TWBC resources, and the property
development programme. The funding currently required from the reserve in
2021/22 is £456,000 comprising of £359,000 for the Development Programme
and a transfer of £97,000 to top up the ICT MKS Partnership reserve to fund
existing ICT capital projects. There is no requirement to fund the capital
programme from this reserve this year, as detailed in the Quarter 3 2021/22
Capital Monitoring Report.

2.9

The capital programme is funded from other specific earmarked reserves, and
this totals £779,000 for 2021/22. This comprises £324,000 from the ICT MKS
partnership reserve, £234,000 from the On Street Parking reserve, £102,000
from the Invest to Save reserve, £81,000 from the Torrington maintenance
reserve, £20,000 from the Strategic Plan reserve and £18,000 from the Digital
Transformation reserve.

2.10 The Council set up the Grant Volatility Reserve to manage fluctuations in
Government grants from one year to the next. For 2021/22 a transfer of
£860,000 is forecast to be made into the reserve, which is equivalent to the
amount which will be received for the New Homes Bonus. The forecast deficit for
2021/22, which is £963,000 can therefore mostly be met by not making this
transfer to the Grant Volatility Reserve.

Page

3 of 9

Page 181

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Revenue Management: Quarter 3 (to 31 December 2021)

Agenda Item 11
Financial Performance of Major Expenditure Accounts –
Appendix E
2.11 External Contract Payments are forecast to be £255,000 underspent, a further
£90,000 this quarter. The £90,000 is from an underspend for contract costs for
waste collection and street sweeping, which is due to the indexation being lower
than budgeted.
2.12 Other Fees are forecast to be a net £307,000 underspent, a further £22,000 this
quarter. This forecast includes £340,000 for the Assembly Hall theatre which is a
saving of show fees that are paid to promotors. In total, cost savings of £507,000
have been forecast for the Assembly Hall theatre, £340,000 for show fees,
£42,000 shown in Other Supplies and Services and £125,000 for staffing, as
included within Appendix F, Employee Related Costs.

Employee Related Costs – Appendix F and G
2.13 Staffing costs are now forecast to be £940,000 under budget, a further reduction
of £511,000 since Quarter 2. £180,000 of this will meet the contribution to the
vacancy factor for the year. The vacancy factor is an amount which at the start of
the year is assumed will be saved whilst budgeted posts are vacant.
2.14 The main projected changes are a saving of £175,000 for Environmental Health,
£157,000 for Property, £125,000 for the Assembly Hall theatre, £110,000 for
Parking, £99,000 for Planning, £62,000 for Digital Services, £37,000 for Policy
and Governance and £30,000 for Finance.

Income Streams– Appendix H
2.15 Off Street Parking income is forecast to be £192,000 overachieved, which is an
additional £160,000 this quarter. This is due to increased usage at both Crescent
Road and Torrington car parks, indicating a return to the office for local workers
and commuters. On Street Parking is forecast to be £197,000 underachieved, an
additional £165,000 this quarter. This is due to the number of Penalty Charge
Notices issued not returning to pre-Covid levels, but there have been cost
savings from enforcement officer vacancies as explained in Note 2.14.
2.16 The forecast income for the Assembly Hall Theatre has been reduced by
£558,000, a further £100,000 this quarter. The reduction is offset by cost savings
of £507,000, a further £100,000 forecast this quarter, as explained in Note 2.12.
This means an overall net forecast position of an additional cost of £51,000, with
the annual subsidy forecast to be £322,000.
2.17 In July the decision was taken to suspend Garden Waste collections due to the
national shortage of HGV drivers. This has meant the contractor can free up
available staff to ensure that food waste, recycling, refuse and clinical waste
collections continue. Within Waste Collection a shortfall of £765,000 has been

Page

4 of 9

Page 182

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Revenue Management: Quarter 3 (to 31 December 2021)

Agenda Item 11
forecast for income lost during 2021/22 with the decision to suspend the service
being kept under constant review.
2.18 The forecast for Other income has been increased by £150,000 this quarter due
to income from the Ice Rink which had the highest ticket sales in its history.

Variances by Portfolio Holder– Appendix I
2.19 The table in Appendix I shows variances by Cabinet Portfolio Holder.

Council Tax and Business Rates
2.20 The Council is a billing authority for Council Tax, which is collected on behalf of
precepting bodies including Kent County Council, Kent Police and the Kent and
Medway Fire & Rescue Services along with Town and Parish Councils. The total
due for 2021/22 is £89.3 million of which £8.564 million is due to this Council.
2.21 The Council is also the billing authority for Business Rates which are collected on
behalf of the Government, TWBC, Kent County Council and the Kent and
Medway Fire & Rescue Services. The total due is usually in the region of £56
million with the Council receiving back from government £2.375 million in
redistributed business rates.
2.22 For 2020/21 the government expanded its business rates retail discount for retail
properties to also include the leisure and hospitality sectors. In March 2021 it
was confirmed that the expanded discount would continue to apply at 100% for
the first three months of 2021/22 and 66% for the remaining period. The discount
reduces the amount billed and therefore the amount due for 2021/22 is £42.4
million. The Council is compensated for the relief through a Section 31 business
rates grant.
2.23 The table below shows the Quarter 3 recovery rate for Council Tax to be 0.04%
above target and the collection rate last year. The table shows the Quarter 3
recovery rate for business rates to be below target by 2.72% and 3.58% below
collection rates last year. The figures are skewed for business rates due to
expanded discount being 100% for April to June and 66% for July to March. The
target is based on the total bill being issued for April and payments being made
equally throughout the year. However, for the actual collections in 2021/22
nothing is due for the first 3 months and then they are billed for the last 9 months
and pay those instalments equally over the 9 months. This payment profile is
therefore unusual and should correct itself by the end of the financial year, but
will continue to be carefully monitored.

Revenue Billing Stream
Council Tax

Page

5 of 9

2021/22
Collection as at
31/12/2021

2021/22
Target as at
31/12/2021

2020/21
Collection as at
31/12/2020

83.56%

83.52%

83.52%

Page 183

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Revenue Management: Quarter 3 (to 31 December 2021)

Agenda Item 11
Business Rates

79.28%

82.00%

82.86%

Write Off/Excusal of Debts – Appendix J
2.24 Under Financial Procedure Rule (FPR) 6.2 excusal of debts due to the Council
can be granted by Cabinet, upon the recommendation of the Section 151 Officer,
and therefore the following debts are asked to be written off:
•

2 debts totalling £6,257.00 in respect of Housing Loans in accordance
with FPR 6.2.2 (c) being debts of £1,500 or over outstanding for more
than 2 years.

•

13 debts totalling £323,557.30 in respect of Business Rates in accordance
with FPR 6.3 being debts of over £10,000.

2.25 Financial Procedure Rule (FPR) 6.5 requires a summary of debts written off by
the Section 151 Officer to be reported to Cabinet on a regular basis and
therefore a summary of the total write offs for 2021/22 will be provided to Cabinet
in the Quarter 4 report.

3. Options Considered
3.1

This report is essentially for information.

3.2

The forecast use of reserves to balance the budget for 2021/22, has been
reduced from £3,000,000 to £963,000. The Council had planned to transfer an
amount equivalent to the New Homes Bonus, £860,000, into the Grant Volatility
Reserve at year end. This can be used to fund the majority of the £963,000
needed to balance the 2021/22 budget.

4. Preferred Option and Reason
4.1

That Members acknowledge the forecast outturn position for the year and the
variances to the revised budget and forecast outturn as at Quarter 3.

4.2

That £963,000 of reserves, with the final allocation between specific reserves
being made once the actual position is known at year end, is used to meet the
budget gap as forecast this quarter.

5. Consultation on Options
5.1

Page

6 of 9

The budget was approved by Full Council on 24 February 2021. Finance Officers
have liaised with Heads of Service and where appropriate cost centre managers,
to ensure that the information provided is robust.

Page 184

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Revenue Management: Quarter 3 (to 31 December 2021)

Agenda Item 11
Recommendation from Cabinet Advisory Board
5.2

The Finance & Governance Cabinet Advisory Board were consulted on 1 March
2022 and agreed the following:
Insert text from Cabinet Advisory Board minute, or request text
from Democratic Services Officer.

6. Implementation
The decision will be published on the Council’s website.

6.1

7. Appendices and Background Documents
Appendices:
•

Appendix A: Overall Income and Expenditure in Services

•

Appendix B: Net Expenditure on Services

•

Appendix C: Key Variances

•

Appendix D: Usable Reserves

•

Appendix E: Financial Performance of Major Expenditure Accounts

•

Appendix F: Employee Related Costs

•

Appendix G: Headcount by Service

•

Appendix H: Income Streams

•

Appendix I: Variance by Portfolio

Background Papers:
•

Budget 2020/21 and Medium Term Financial Strategy Update – CAB90/20
https://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/documents/s53259/7%20Budget%2020
21_22.pdf

•

Revenue Management: Quarter 1 (to 30 June 2021) – CAB61/21
https://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/documents/s57319/Quarter%201%20R
evenue%20Management%20202122.pdf

•

Revenue Management: Quarter 2 (to 30 September 2021) – CAB101/21
https://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/documents/s58521/11%20Quarter%202
%20Revenue%20Management%20202122.pdf

Page

7 of 9

Page 185

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Revenue Management: Quarter 3 (to 31 December 2021)

Agenda Item 11

8. Cross Cutting Issues
A. Legal (including the Human Rights Act)
Under section 151 of the local government act (LGA 1972), the Section 151 Officer has
statutory duties in relation to the financial administration and stewardship of the authority,
including advising on the corporate financial position and providing financial information.
Claudette Valmond, Interim Head of Legal Partnership

B. Finance and Other Resources
The report updates on the Authority’s forecast outturn net revenue position compared to
revised budget. The strain on the council’s finances will be felt for some time and the ability
of the council to finance new commitments is severely limited.
Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking

C. Staffing
The report monitors the establishment to the post occupied.
Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking

D. Risk Management
To ensure that the unaudited outturn net revenue remains within the Council’s Medium Term
Financial Strategy.
Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking

E. Environment and Sustainability
There are no specific implications that arise from the process of Revenue Management over
the fact that the budget supports the Council’s priorities.
Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking

Page

8 of 9

Page 186

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Revenue Management: Quarter 3 (to 31 December 2021)

Agenda Item 11
F. Community Safety
There are no specific implications that arise from the process of Revenue Management over
the fact that the budget supports the Council’s priorities.
Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking

G. Equalities
There are no specific implications that arise from the process of Revenue Management over
the fact that the budget supports the Council’s priorities.
Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking

H. Data Protection
There are no specific implications that arise from the process of Revenue Management over
the fact that the budget supports the Council’s priorities.
Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking

I. Health and Safety
There are no specific implications that arise from the process of Revenue Management over
the fact that the budget supports the Council’s priorities.
Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking

J. Health and Wellbeing
There are no specific implications that arise from the process of Revenue Management over
the fact that the budget supports the Council’s priorities.
Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking

Page

9 of 9

Page 187

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Revenue Management: Quarter 3 (to 31 December 2021)

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix A
Appendix A - Overall Revenue and Net Expenditure on Services

Financial Year 2021/22

Forecast to
31/12/21

Actuals to
31/12/21

Forecast
Variance to
31/12/21

Full Year
Full Year
Full Year
Variance to
Revised Budget Forecast Outturn Revised Budget

Increase/

as at Q3

Increase/

(Decrease)
£000's

£000's

£000's

(Decrease)
£000's

£000's

£000's

NET EXPENDITURE ON SERVICES-ORIGINAL BUDGET

14,766

14,766

0

Forecast Outturn Increase funded from Reserves

455
15,221

503
15,269

48
48

206
15,427

148
15,417

(58)
(10)

247
15,674

(68)
15,349

(315)
(325)

183
151
209
2,071
733
1,311
1,332
134
1,925
5,679
1,298
828
(180)
15,674

183
151
138
2,141
499
1,252
1,315
134
1,670
6,000
1,132
734
0
15,349

0
0
(71)
70
(234)
(59)
(17)
0
(255)
321
(166)
(94)
180
(325)

(450)
2,779
(4,140)
(11,278)
779
290
(225)
(429)
(3,000)
(15,674)

(550)
2,779
(5,752)
(11,278)
779
290
(225)
(429)
(963)
(15,349)

(100)
0
(1,612)
0
0
0
0
0
2,037
325

0

0

0

NET EXPENDITURE ON SERVICES-QTR 1
Forecast Outturn Increase funded from Reserves

NET EXPENDITURE ON SERVICES-QTR 2
Forecast Outturn Increase funded from Reserves

NET EXPENDITURE ON SERVICES-QTR 3
Comprised of:
Chief Executive
D Of Finance, Policy & Development
Finance, Procurement & Parking
Mid Kent Services Client
Economic Development & Property
Planning
Policy & Governance
D Of Change & Communities
HR, Cust Service & Culture
Housing, Health & Environment
Facilities & Community Hubs
Digital Services & Communications
Vacancy Factor
Total Cost of Services

135
114
60
1,047
29
886
1,020
101
1,283
4,643
991
575
(45)
10,839

133
110
(74)
1,139
(58)
808
1,004
100
993
4,502
892
545
0
10,094

(2)
(4)
(134)
92
(87)
(78)
(16)
(1)
(290)
(141)
(99)
(30)
45
(745)

Funded by:
Net Interest & Investment Income
Parish Precepts & Levies
Business Rates and Other Government Grants
Council Tax Precepts
Capital Expenditure from Revenue
Minimum Revenue Provision
Non Govt Grants
Transfer to & From Earmarked Reserves
Transfer From Earmarked Reserves (to balance budget)
TOTAL FUNDING
(SURPLUS)/DEFICIT

Page 189

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix B
Net Direct Expenditure on Services

Appendix B

Chief Executive
HEAD OF SERVICE

Revised YTD
Budget £

Actual £

Revised YTD
Budget Variance £

Full Year Revised
Budget £

Full Year Budget
Projection £

Variance Full Yr
Bud £

Direct Expenditure
Direct Income
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

134,510
0
134,510

133,336
0
133,336

(1,174)
0
(1,174)

183,270
0
183,270

183,270
0
183,270

0
0
0

Director Total:

134,510

133,336

(1,174)

183,270

183,270

0

Finance, Policy & Development
HEAD OF SERVICE

Revised YTD
Budget £

Actual £

Revised YTD
Budget Variance £

Full Year Revised
Budget £

Full Year Budget
Projection £

Variance Full Yr
Bud £

Direct Expenditure
Direct Income
D OF FINANCE, POLICY & DEVELOP
Direct Expenditure
Direct Income
FINANCE, PROCUREMENT & PARKING
Direct Expenditure
Direct Income
MID KENT CLIENT SERVICES
Direct Expenditure
Direct Income
ECONOMIC DEV & PROPERTY
Direct Expenditure
Direct Income
PLANNING
Direct Expenditure
Direct Income
POLICY & GOVERNANCE

113,940
0
113,940
4,218,820
(4,158,650)
60,170
20,470,040
(19,422,890)
1,047,150
3,027,057
(2,997,682)
29,375
1,993,460
(1,107,340)
886,120
1,259,740
(239,540)
1,020,200

109,730
0
109,730
4,013,468
(4,087,570)
(74,102)
20,517,189
(19,377,660)
1,139,529
2,966,993
(3,024,597)
(57,604)
1,943,224
(1,135,051)
808,173
1,243,471
(239,858)
1,003,613

(4,210)
0
(4,210)
(205,352)
71,080
(134,272)
47,149
45,230
92,379
(60,064)
(26,915)
(86,979)
(50,236)
(27,711)
(77,947)
(16,270)
(318)
(16,587)

150,770
0
150,770
5,760,290
(5,551,250)
209,040
28,739,970
(26,668,790)
2,071,180
4,092,280
(3,359,330)
732,950
2,645,710
(1,334,460)
1,311,250
1,571,340
(239,540)
1,331,800

150,770
0
150,770
5,614,290
(5,476,250)
138,040
28,739,970
(26,598,790)
2,141,180
3,897,280
(3,398,330)
498,950
2,697,710
(1,445,460)
1,252,250
1,554,340
(239,540)
1,314,800

0
0
0
(146,000)
75,000
(71,000)
0
70,000
70,000
(195,000)
(39,000)
(234,000)
52,000
(111,000)
(59,000)
(17,000)
0
(17,000)

Director Total:

3,156,955

2,929,338

(227,617)

5,806,990

5,495,990

(311,000)

Change & Communities
HEAD OF SERVICE

Direct Expenditure
Direct Income
D OF CHANGE & COMMUNITIES
Direct Expenditure
Direct Income
HR, CUSTOMER SERVICE & CULTURE
Direct Expenditure
Direct Income
HOUSING, HEALTH & ENVIRONMENT
Direct Expenditure
Direct Income
FACILITIES & COMMUNITY HUBS
Direct Expenditure
Direct Income
DIGITAL SERVICES & COMMUNICATIONS

Director Total:

Revised YTD
Budget £

Actual £

Revised YTD
Budget Variance £

Full Year Revised
Budget £

Full Year Budget
Projection £

Variance Full Yr
Bud £

101,030
0
101,030
3,436,380
(2,153,720)
1,282,660
8,852,340
(4,209,830)
4,642,510
1,266,505
(275,120)
991,385
735,580
(160,720)
574,860

100,261
0
100,261
3,171,195
(2,178,589)
992,606
8,733,497
(4,231,545)
4,501,952
1,164,689
(272,692)
891,998
662,616
(117,983)
544,633

(769)
0
(769)
(265,185)
(24,869)
(290,054)
(118,843)
(21,715)
(140,558)
(101,816)
2,428
(99,387)
(72,964)
42,737
(30,227)

133,850
0
133,850
5,156,980
(3,231,600)
1,925,380
12,844,910
(7,166,370)
5,678,540
1,781,020
(482,860)
1,298,160
1,020,230
(191,970)
828,260

133,850
0
133,850
4,554,980
(2,884,600)
1,670,380
12,476,910
(6,477,370)
5,999,540
1,623,020
(490,860)
1,132,160
941,230
(206,970)
734,260

0
0
0
(602,000)
347,000
(255,000)
(368,000)
689,000
321,000
(158,000)
(8,000)
(166,000)
(79,000)
(15,000)
(94,000)

7,592,445

7,031,448

(560,997)

9,864,190

9,670,190

(194,000)

Vacancy Factor
HEAD OF SERVICE

Direct Expenditure
Direct Income
VACANCY FACTOR

Director Total:
Grand Total:

Revised YTD
Budget £

Actual £

Revised YTD
Budget Variance £

Full Year Revised
Budget £

Full Year Budget
Projection £

Variance Full Yr
Bud £

(45,000)
0
(45,000)

0
0
0

45,000
0
45,000

(180,000)
0
(180,000)

0
0
0

180,000
0
180,000

(45,000)

0

45,000

(180,000)

0

180,000

10,838,910

10,094,122

(744,788)

15,674,450

15,349,450

(325,000)

Note: There may be small rounding differences compared to the Core Paper.

Page 191

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix C
Key Variances
Quarter 1
£000’s

Details
Quarter 1 – Reported Overspend/Decline in income
Additional income - Covid-19 Compensation for loss of income (estimate)
Additional income - Covid-19 Support Grant
Additional income - Covid-19 New Burdens Grants
Saving in costs - Assembly Hall Theatre
Additional income - Cultural Recovery Grant
Saving in costs - Property vacancies
Additional income - Investment income
Additional income - Furlough income for theatre staff
Saving in staff costs - Food & Safety vacancies
Saving in staff costs - Planning vacancies
Additional income - Planning
Saving in staff costs - Assembly Hall Theatre
Additional income - VAT adjustment for bulky waste collection
Saving in staff costs - Gateway vacancies
Saving in costs - Public Conveniences business rates
Additional income - Property staff recharge
Saving in staff costs - Crematorium vacancies
Saving in staff costs - Digital Services vacancies
Saving in staff costs - Facilities vacancies
Saving in staff costs - HR vacancies
Saving in costs - Crematorium Medical Fees
Saving in staff costs - Community Centres

Quarter 2
£000’s

(570)
(486)
(262)
(210)
(190)
(98)
(70)
(28)
(40)
(30)
(30)
(25)
(25)
(20)
(13)
(12)
(10)
(7)
(5)
(5)
(5)
(1)
(2,142)

Quarter 1 – Reported Saving/Increase in income
Reduction in income - Assembly Hall Theatre
Reduction in income - Crematorium
Additional costs - Planning Public Enquiry costs
Reduction in income - Court cost income
Vacancy Factor - Quarter 1
Additional costs - Additional audit testing due to Covid-19

453
140
80
70
45
14
802

Net Deficit/(Surplus) for Quarter 1

(1,340)

Page 193

(1,340)

Appendix C
Quarter 2 – Reported Overspend/Decline in income
Saving in costs - Sports Centre financial support
Additional income - Sports Centres Management Fee
Saving in costs - Assembly Hall Theatre
Additional income - Covid-19 New Burdens Grants
Saving in staff costs - Assembly Hall Theatre
Additional income - Planning
Saving in staff costs - Property vacancies
Additional income - Land Charges
Additional income - Compensation for car park income
Saving in staff costs - Finance vacancies
Saving in staff costs - Digital Services vacancies
Additional income - Parks
Additional income - Building Control
Additional income - Recovery of costs for Property Services
Additional income - Street Naming and Numbering
Saving in staff costs - Gateway vacancies
Saving in costs - Cricket week
Saving in staff costs - Sustainability vacancies
Saving in costs - Town Hall business rates
Saving in staff costs - Facilities vacancies
Saving in staff costs - Planning vacancies

(165)
(146)
(112)
(84)
(60)
(51)
(36)
(36)
(32)
(30)
(27)
(25)
(20)
(19)
(15)
(15)
(12)
(10)
(8)
(8)
(2)
(913)

Quarter 2 – Reported Saving/Increase in income
Reduction in income - Suspension of garden waste collection service
Reduction in income - Assembly Hall Theatre
Reduction in income - Crematorium
Vacancy Factor - Quarter 2
Reduction in income - Debt Recovery Service
Reduction in income - Penalty Charge Notices
Additional costs - Planning Consultants costs

390
172
70
45
36
32
26
771

Net Deficit/(Surplus) reported for Quarter 2

(1,482)

Page 194

Appendix D
Balance

Usable Reserves

Balance

01/04/21

Receipts

Payments

31/03/22

£000's

£000's

£000's

£000's

General Fund

4,301

0

0

4,301

Capital Grants & Contributions

2,781

0

0

2,781

Capital Receipts

3,324

215

(2,108)

1,431

3,023

0

(456)

2,567

81

0

(81)

0

Earmarked Reserves
Capital and Revenue Initiatives
Torrington Car Park
On Street Parking

833

0

(234)

599

1,009

0

(90)

919

36

0

0

36

2

0

0

2

Strategic Plan

1,344

0

(20)

1,324

Royal Victoria Place Car Park Maintenance

1,397

0

0

1,397

Government Grants

640

0

(295)

345

Invest to Save

721

0

(102)

619

Cultural

169

89

0

258

Housing Renewal

254

0

0

254

Insurance

316

25

0

341

17,900

860

0

18,760

ICT MKIP Partnership

197

127

(324)

0

Establishment

364

0

0

364

Ice Rink

219

0

0

219

Digital Transformation

37

0

(18)

19

Traveller Protocol

15

0

0

15

Land Charges Transition after loss of income

60

0

0

60

Lottery Income

25

0

0

25

388

120

0

508

30

0

(30)

0

0

0

(963)

(963)

Earmarked Reserves

29,060

1,221

(2,613)

27,668

TOTAL USABLE RESERVES

39,466

1,436

(4,721)

36,181

Local Plan
Section 106 Interest
Maintenance of Garden of Remembrance

Grant Volatility

Rent Advance and Deposit
Waste Bin Replacement
Transfer to balance budget (as at Quarter 3)

Page 195

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix E
Financial Performance of Major Expenditure Accounts
Forecast to
31/12/21

Actuals to
31/12/21

Variance to
31/12/21

Full Year
Revised Budget

Increase/

Full Year
Forecast
Outturn
as at Q3

(Decrease)
£000's

Building Maintenance/Repairs
Grounds Maintenance
Business Rates/Council Tax
Utility Bills
Other Premises Costs
Transport
External Contract Payments
IT & Communications
Grants
Consultants/Legal Fees
Other Fees
Members Allowances
Other Supplies & Services
Net Benefits Income
TOTAL
Business Support Grants
TOTAL OTHER COSTS

551
891
1,464
434
1,483
106
2,556
1,149
475
518
941
297
1,600
13
12,478
1,801
14,279

£000's

£000's

522
876
1,462
424
1,506
83
2,428
1,107
469
436
885
281
1,612
13
12,104
1,801
13,905

Page 197

(29)
(15)
(2)
(10)
23
(23)
(128)
(42)
(6)
(82)
(56)
(16)
12
0
(374)
0
(374)

Full Year Variance
to Revised Budget
Increase/
(Decrease)

£000's

1,247
1,369
1,485
597
1,884
148
4,080
1,399
568
1,005
1,600
396
2,338
0
18,116
1,979
20,095

£000's

1,247
1,369
1,464
561
1,912
147
3,825
1,365
568
1,145
1,293
387
2,247
0
17,530
1,979
19,509

£000's

0
0
(21)
(36)
28
(1)
(255)
(34)
0
140
(307)
(9)
(91)
0
(586)
0
(586)

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix F
Employee Related Costs
Forecast to
31/12/21

Actuals to
31/12/21

Variance to
31/12/21

Full Year
Full Year
Full Year Variance to
Revised Budget Forecast Outturn
Revised Budget

Increase/

as at Q3

(Decrease)
£000's

Salaries & Casual Hours
National Insurance
Pension Costs
Severance Costs
Training
Other Employee Costs
Vacancy Factor
TOTAL EMPLOYEE COSTS

£000's

7,821
822
1,984
0
132
1,903
(45)
12,617

£000's

7,448
750
1,898
15
98
1,978
0
12,187

(373)
(72)
(86)
15
(34)
75
45
(430)

Increase/
(Decrease)

£000's

10,985
1,123
2,781
0
223
3,065
(180)
17,997

£000's

10,178
1,066
2,705
15
204
3,082
0
17,250

£000's

(807)
(57)
(76)
15
(19)
17
180
(747)

Staff Numbers on Payroll
310

300
290
280
270
260
Qtr Qtr Qtr Qtr Qtr Qtr Qtr Qtr Qtr Qtr Qtr Qtr Qtr Qtr Qtr Qtr Qtr Qtr Qtr Qtr Qtr Qtr Qtr Qtr Qtr Qtr Qtr Qtr
1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4
2015/16

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

Staff Numbers on Payroll

The 2017/18 Quarter 1 figure onwards include the MKS Environmental Health Service Partnership where
staff from Maidstone and Swale transferred to Tunbridge Wells. The 2017/18 Quarter 3 figure
onwards take into account the transfer of Revenues and Benefits partnership staff to Maidstone.

Page 199

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix G
FULL TIME EQUIVALENTS IN POST AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021
Service

Budget FTE's FTE's in Post as
as at
at
1 Apr 2021
31 Dec 2021

Appendix G

Key Variances

Chief Executive

1.00

1.00

Chief Executive

1.00

1.00

Director of Finance, Policy & Dev

1.00

1.00

Finance & Procurement

53.91

49.91

- Civil Enforcement Officer (3.00 FTE less)
- Procurement Officer (1.00 FTE less)

Economic Dev & Property

20.18

15.00

- Tourist Infromation Centre Assistant (0.73 FTE less)
- Urban Designer (0.59 FTE less)
- Development Surveyor (2.00 FTE less)
- Development Admin Support (1.00 FTE less)
- Marketing & Administration Assistant (0.86 FTE less)

Planning

51.13

42.53

- Technical Officer (4.00 FTE less)
- Scanning Assistant (1.14 FTE less)
- Principal Planning Officer (1.00 FTE less)
- Planning Officer (0.59 FTE less)
- Condition & S106 Officer (1.00 FTE less)
- Principal Building Control Surveyor (1.00 FTE less)
- Technical Assistant (0.13 FTE more)

Policy & Governance

16.58

15.09

- Corporate Governance Assistant (1.00 FTE less)
- Mayor's Secretary (0.49 FTE less)
- Executive Office Manager (1.00 FTE less)
- Democratic Services & Elections Manager (1.00 FTE less)
- Democratic & Executive Support Manager (1.00 FTE more)
- Democratic Services Officer (1.00 FTE more)

142.80

123.53

Finance, Policy & Development

- No variance

- No variance

Page 201

Appendix G
Service

Director of Change & Comm

Budget FTE's FTE's in Post as
as at
at
1 Apr 2021
31 Dec 2021

Key Variances

1.00

1.00

HR, Customer Service & Culture

49.11

41.57

- Visitor Services Manager (1.00 FTE less)
- Business Development Manager (0.81 FTE less)
- Education Officer (1.00 FTE more)
- Project Co-ordinator (0.08 FTE less)
- Learning & Engagement Assistant (0.50 FTE less)
- HR Officer (1.00 FTE less)
- Customer Service & Gateway Manager (0.39 FTE less)
- Gateway Customer Service Advisor (4.76 FTE less)

Housing, Health & Environment

90.57

80.99

- Housing Register & Development Manager (1.00 FTE less)
- Housing Options Advisor (0.03 FTE less)
- Housing Support Officer (1.81 FTE less)
- Private Sector Housing Manager (0.27 FTE less)
- Housing Environmental Health Officer (0.61 FTE less)
- Borough Engineering Officer (0.42 FTE less)
- Graduate Climate Change Officer (1.00 FTE more)
- Senior Environmental Health Officer (0.43 FTE less)
- Environmental Health Officer (3.00 FTE less)
- Food & Safety Officer (0.50 FTE less)
- Contract Services Manager (1.00 FTE less)
- Senior Crematorium Technician (1.00 FTE less)
- Crematorium Technician 1.00 FTE less)

Facilities & Community Hubs

12.91

11.91

- Facilities Technician (1.00 FTE less)

Digital Services & Commun

19.11

18.29

- GIS & LLPG Operations Manager (1.00 FTE less)
- Research and Insight Officer (1.00 FTE more)
- Communications Officer (0.50 FTE less)
- Digital Services Assistant (Kickstart) (0.68 FTE more)
- Business Analyst (1.00 FTE less)

Change & Communities

172.70

153.76

Total

316.50

278.29

Variance

- No variance

(38.21)

Page 202

Appendix H
Income Streams
Forecast to
31/12/21

Actuals to
31/12/21

Variance to
31/12/21

Full Year Revised
Budget

Increase/

Full Year Forecast
Outturn
as at Q3

(Decrease)
£000's

Off Street Parking
On Street Parking
Assembly Hall
Grants
Rents
Crematorium Income
Revenue Contribution
Planning Income
Land Charges
Waste Collection
Other Income
TOTAL
Business Support Grants
TOTAL INCOME

(2,888)
(1,194)
(1,571)
(860)
(1,742)
(1,249)
(1,315)
(1,097)
(246)
(575)
(1,519)
(14,256)
(1,801)
(16,057)

£000's

£000's

(3,031)
(1,028)
(1,456)
(839)
(1,793)
(1,288)
(1,223)
(1,120)
(236)
(508)
(1,675)
(14,197)
(1,801)
(15,998)

(143)
166
115
21
(51)
(39)
92
(23)
10
67
(156)
59
0
59

Page 203

Full Year Variance
to Revised Budget
Increase/
(Decrease)

£000's

(3,726)
(1,641)
(2,599)
(742)
(2,094)
(2,069)
(2,304)
(1,319)
(280)
(1,878)
(1,787)
(20,439)
(1,979)
(22,418)

£000's

(3,918)
(1,444)
(2,041)
(793)
(2,151)
(1,859)
(2,290)
(1,430)
(316)
(1,178)
(2,011)
(19,431)
(1,979)
(21,410)

£000's

(192)
197
558
(51)
(57)
210
14
(111)
(36)
700
(224)
1,008
0
1,008

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix I
Variances by Portfolio Holder
Forecast to
31/12/21

Actuals to
31/12/21

Variance to
31/12/21

Full Year
Full Year Revised
Full Year
Variance to
Budget
Forecast Outturn Revised Budget

Increase/

as at Q3

(Decrease)
£000's

Leader (Finance & Governance)
Economic Development
Communities & Well-Being
Culture & Leisure
Planning & Transportation
Environment
Vacancy Factor
TOTAL

5,308
556
1,209
1,175
(934)
3,570
(45)
10,839

£000's

£000's

5,151
514
1,196
833
(1,087)
3,487
0
10,094

Page 205

(157)
(42)
(13)
(342)
(153)
(83)
45
(745)

Increase/
(Decrease)

£000's

8,611
723
1,620
2,038
(1,047)
3,909
(180)
15,674

£000's

8,250
649
1,599
1,676
(1,177)
4,352
0
15,349

£000's

(361)
(74)
(21)
(362)
(130)
443
180
(325)

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix J
Appendix J
Housing Loans Write Offs 2021/22
Over £1,500 and more than 2 years old

Account Number

Loan
Reference

Financial
Year

758313

L0000705

2019/20

758241

L0000623

2018/19

Total

2

Total to be
written off Comment
£1,637.00 Unable to contact. No longer living in
Tunbridge Wells borough
£4,620.00 Unable to contact. No longer living in
Tunbridge Wells borough
£6,257.00

Business Rates Write Offs 2021/22
Over £10,000

Business Name
BB-Com Ltd
The Not Just Pubs Company Ltd
Monsoon Accessorize Limited
Wesley Barrell (Whitney Ltd)
Individual's name redacted
Three Little Piggies Pub Company Limited
Tunbridge Wells Royale Retreat Limited
Envoy Night Club Limited
Omaha Nominees (A) Limited
Wesley Barrell (Whitney) Ltd
Oakley Fitness (TW) Ltd
Simple Sleeping Small Hotels Ltd
Old Fordge Construction Ltd
Total

Account
Number

Financial
Year

101410609
101440381
101445425
100855883
101421287
101439703
101442017
101444455
101410065
101454610
101447821
101438306
101442279

2019/20
2019/20
2019/20
2018/19
2015/16
2019/20
2019/20
2019/20
2015/16
2021/22
2019/20
2019/20
2019/20

13

Total to be Comment
written off
£10,775.58
£10,529.00
£57,682.37
£15,365.81
£31,511.42
£33,237.11
£12,427.29
£11,363.44
£16,119.00
£27,993.09
£11,496.98
£71,234.28
£13,821.93
£323,557.30

Page 207

Ceased trading/dissolved
Ceased trading/dissolved
Company Voluntary Arrangement
Ceased trading/dissolved
Bankruptcy
Ceased trading/dissolved
Ceased trading/dissolved
Liquidation
Ceased trading/dissolved
Ceased trading/dissolved
Ceased trading / dissolved
Liquidation
Ceased trading / dissolved

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 12

Treasury and Prudential Indicator
Management: Quarter 3 (to 31
December 2021)
For Cabinet on 17 March 2022

Summary
Lead Member: Councillor Tom Dawlings, Leader of the Council (Portfolio Holder for
Finance & Governance)
Lead Director: Lee Colyer, Director of Finance, Policy & Development
Head of Service: Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking
Report Author: Clare Hazard, Accountancy Manager
Classification: Public document (non-exempt)
Wards Affected: All
Approval Timetable
Management Board
Portfolio Holder
Finance & Governance Cabinet Advisory
Board
Cabinet

Date
16 February 2022
28 February 2022
1 March 2022
17 March 2022

Recommendations
Officer / Committee recommendations as supported by the Portfolio Holder:
1. That Cabinet note the Treasury Management and Prudential Indicator position
for 2021/22.
2. That Cabinet note the forecast for investment and bank interest is £462,000, an
increase of £100,000 from the approved budget of £362,000, and a further
improvement of £30,000 from the Quarter 2 projection.

Page

1 of 9

Page 209

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Treasury & Prudential Indicator Management: Quarter 3 (to 31 Dec 2021)

Agenda Item 12

1. Introduction and Background
1.1

This report monitors compliance with the Treasury Management Policy &
Strategy 2021/22 for the period 1 April 2021 to 31 December 2021.

1.2

The report updates Members on investments held by the Council and informs
that interest from investments and bank interest for 2021/22 is forecast to be
£462,000, an increase of £100,000, on the approved budget of £362,000, and a
further improvement of £30,000 from the Quarter 2 projection.

2. Treasury Management and Prudential
Indicator Management
2.1

Under its Financial Procedure Rules, the Council delegates responsibility for the
implementation and monitoring of its treasury management policies and practices
to Cabinet.

2.2

This report monitors, for the period 1 April 2021 to 31 December 2021,
compliance with the Treasury Management Policy and Strategy 2021/22
recommended by Cabinet at its meeting 4 February 2021 (CAB92/20) and
approved by Full Council at its meeting of 24 February 2021 (FC61/20).

Current Investments
2.3

The 2021/22 approved limits on the amount of money and the time period the
Council can invest with any given counterparty is shown in Appendix A.

2.4

As at 31 December 2021 the Council had £68.6 million of investments and bank
account money. The institution categories and the maturity profile of these are
shown in Appendix B.

Interest Rate Forecast
2.5

The bank interest rate was cut to 0.10% in March 2020 when it became clear that
the coronavirus outbreak would pose a huge threat to the economy. At
subsequent meetings it remained unchanged until the meeting held on 15
December 2021 where it was increased by 0.15% to 0.25%. The rate was
increased again at the meeting held on 2 February 2022 by 0.25% to 0.50%.

2.6

Link Asset Services, who are the Council’s treasury advisors, regularly review
interest rates and produce a forecast of the rate over future years. They currently

Page

2 of 9

Page 210

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Treasury & Prudential Indicator Management: Quarter 3 (to 31 Dec 2021)

Agenda Item 12
forecast that the rate will increase again during 2022/23 to 0.75% by March
2023.

Cash Flow Management
2.7

The Council prioritised its cash flow management in response to the coronavirus
crisis and the position continues to be carefully monitored.

2.8

Currently monies are being kept short term, or in the Council’s current account,
as there is little benefit in investing longer term. This enables the Council to have
funds available should cash flow not meet current projections or worsen in the
future.

Cash Balances
2.9

The 2021/22 budget was set based on average funds expected to be available
for investments during the year of £26.8 million.

2.10 The opening cash balance position was much higher than forecast at budget
setting due to several reasons including:
•

The administration of business grants schemes provided by the Government,
to support businesses during the pandemic. The funding for these schemes
had been provided up front and at year end the Council held a balance of
£7.998 million for these grants until the sums are able to be passed onto
businesses or back to the Government.

•

Capital projects being rescheduled during 2020/21. Projects totalling £4.226
million were rescheduled into 2021/22 at Quarter 4 of 2020/21.

•

£2.118 million was held in the Capital Receipts Reserve at 31 March 2021,
which had been received from the sale of assets. This will be used for the
2021/22 capital programme.

•

The Council was able to close the 2020/21 financial year with a small surplus
of £211,000 being returned to the general fund. At budget setting time it had
been expected that reserves would be needed to balance the budget, but this
was not required due to additional government support, along with mitigating
some of the income losses with expenditure savings.

2.11 The funds available for investment throughout 2021/22 are also expected to be
higher than forecast due to several reasons including:

Page

3 of 9

•

The Council has received a fifth tranche of Covid-19 support grant of
£486,000 and additional new burdens grants of £410,000, which is further
support from the government to meet the challenges of the pandemic.

•

The Council continues to administer business grants schemes, provided
by government, to support businesses during the pandemic. The funding
for these schemes is provided up front and therefore the Council is

Page 211

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Treasury & Prudential Indicator Management: Quarter 3 (to 31 Dec 2021)

Agenda Item 12
holding funds until they can be passed onto business or need to be repaid
to Government. The average amount held for these grants, to the end of
December 2021, was £6.379 million.
•

The government provided eligible retail, hospitality and leisure properties
with 100% business rates relief during 2020/21. The Council was
compensated for this loss of income through Section 31 grants paid
throughout last year. As it is the billing authority the Council suffered the
full loss of business rates income, in terms of cashflow, rather than just its
40% share and was compensated for this by receiving 100% of the
Section 31 grants. It needs to repay government the 60% that is due to
the other preceptors, which is a sum of £16.562 million, but this will not be
paid until March 2022, therefore increasing the average funds throughout
the year.

•

Capital projects have been rescheduled during 2021/22. Projects totalling
£7.373 million have been rescheduled into 2022/23, a further £5.566
million this quarter as detailed in the Quarter 3 2021/22 Capital Monitoring
Report.

2.12 Overall, despite the continuing challenges from the Covid-19 pandemic, the
amount the Council forecasts it will have to invest, is significantly higher than
estimated when setting the budget. Most of the additional funds will only be held
temporarily, and repaid by year end, but whilst held will earn interest and
increase the annual average funds.

Investment and Bank Interest
2.13 The target interest rate to be earnt from funds was set at 1.35%. Applying this to
the budgeted funds available resulted in an interest budget of £362,000.
2.14 The amount of interest to be received from investments and bank balances is
forecast to be £462,000, an increase of £100,000 on the approved budget and a
further improvement of £30,000 from the Quarter 2 projection. The increase is
mainly due to increasing the forecast interest from the Property Fund, as
explained in Note 2.19. Also, there have been more funds available to invest and
since the interest rate increase in December 2021 the Council has received an
additional 0.10% on the balances held in its bank account.
2.15 A summary of the forecast position is shown below:
Budget
2021/22

Quarter 2

Quarter 3

Equated Investments

£26,800,000

£48,400,000

£57,700,000

Average Interest Rate

1.35%

0.89%

0.80%

£362,000

£432,000

£462,000

Total Interest

Page

4 of 9

Page 212

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Treasury & Prudential Indicator Management: Quarter 3 (to 31 Dec 2021)

Agenda Item 12
2.16 Although it is forecast that there will be additional funds available to invest, they
will mainly be invested short term and will earn less than the average for the rest
of the portfolio. The average rate of the entire portfolio is estimated to decrease
from 1.35% to 0.80%, despite the forecast increase in overall income received.

Treasury Management Strategy Prudential Indicators and
Targets
2.17 Details of the Prudential Indicators and Treasury Management Targets compared
to the position as at 31 December 2021 are set out in Appendix C.
2.18 None of the Prudential Indicators were breached during the quarter. As explained
in Note 2.16 the interest rate for the year is not forecast to be met but the amount
of interest will be £100,000 above budget.

Local Authorities Property Fund
2.19 The Council purchased £9 million worth of units in The Local Authorities’
Property Fund between 2013 and 2014. The Fund pays a dividend to the Council
on a quarterly basis. The dividend paid for April to December was 5.19%
although a management fee of 0.78% was paid back to the Fund resulting in a
net interest rate of 4.41%. The budget assumed an average return of 3.60% from
the Property Fund for the year and therefore this increase has been reflected in
the interest forecast, as explained in Note 2.14.
2.20 The value of the investment is calculated at year end to be included in the
Council’s Financial Statements at its fair value or market price. The value of the
Council’s £9 million investment was £10,413,051 as at 31 March 2021. The value
of the £9 million invested as at 31 December 2021 is £11,701,073, an increase of
£1,288,022 in 2021/22 thus far.
2.21 The difference in value at year end is held in an unusable reserve, set up
specifically for this purpose, called the Financial Instrument Revaluation
Reserve. This reserve will hold the £2,701,073 cumulative gain from the
investment. The increase during 2021/22 has no impact on the overall cost of
services.

Other Interest and Investment Income Received
2.22 The Council receives interest and investment income in addition to investment
interest from a variety of sources as shown below:
Budget
2021/22

Investment Property Income

Page

5 of 9

£22,500

Page 213

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Treasury & Prudential Indicator Management: Quarter 3 (to 31 Dec 2021)

Agenda Item 12
Fusion Loan

£6,670

Mortgages

£2,920

Total

£32,090

2.23 The Council purchased a commercial property in 2016/17, held on the balance
sheet as an investment property. The property was occupied by a restaurant
which following lockdown went into administration. It has however now been relet and the investment interest budget of £22,500 is expected to be achieved.
2.24 The Council provided a loan to Fusion Lifestyle, who manage the Council’s
sports centres, to fund sports centre improvements. The final three instalments
were due during in 2021/22 with total interest of £6,670 being charged. The
payments have all now all been made therefore concluding the loan.

3. Options Considered
3.1

This report is essentially for information.

4. Preferred Option and Reason
4.1

That Members acknowledge the 2021/22 Treasury Management and Prudential
Indicator position and note that investment and bank interest is forecast to be
£432,000, an increase of £100,000 on the approved budget of £362,000, and a
further improvement of £30,000 from the Quarter 2 projection.

5. Consultation on Options
5.1

The Council takes advice from Link Asset Services on all treasury management
activities. The decision will be published on the Council’s website.

Recommendation from Cabinet Advisory Board
5.2

The Finance & Governance Cabinet Advisory Board were consulted on 1 March
2022 and agreed the following:
Insert text from Cabinet Advisory Board minute, or request text
from Democratic Services Officer.

Page

6 of 9

Page 214

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Treasury & Prudential Indicator Management: Quarter 3 (to 31 Dec 2021)

Agenda Item 12
6. Implementation
6.1

The investment income and borrowing costs are also included within the Quarter
3 Revenue Management report which is an accompanying report on this agenda.

7. Appendices and Background Documents
Appendices:
•

Appendix A: Treasury Management Investment Limits

•

Appendix B: Current Investments

•

Appendix C: Prudential Indicators and Treasury Management Targets

Background Papers:
•

Treasury Management Policy and Strategy 2021/22 – CAB92/20
https://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/documents/s53266/9%20Treasury%20Str
ategy%20202122.pdf

•

Treasury & Prudential Indicator Management: Quarter 1 (to 30 June 2021) –
CAB63/21
https://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/documents/s57338/Quarter%201%20Tr
easury%20Management%20202122.pdf

•

Treasury & Prudential Indicator Management: Quarter 2 (to 30 September 2021)
– CAB103/21
https://democracy.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/documents/s58538/13%20Quarter%202
%20Treasury%20Management%20202122.pdf

Page

7 of 9

Page 215

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Treasury & Prudential Indicator Management: Quarter 3 (to 31 Dec 2021)

Agenda Item 12

8. Cross Cutting Issues
A. Legal (including the Human Rights Act)
Under Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 (LGA 1972) the Section 151 Officer
has statutory duties in relation to the financial administration and stewardship of the authority,
including securing effective arrangements for treasury management.
Claudette Valmond, Interim Head of Legal Partnership

B. Finance and Other Resources
The net investment interest is an important source of income for the Council’s revenue
budget.
Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking

C. Staffing
There are no specific implications that arise from the process of Treasury Management over
the fact that the income is part of the budget which supports the Council’s priorities.
Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking

D. Risk Management
The Treasury Management Policy and Strategy sets out how the Council aims to control the
risks associated with treasury management. The security of the Council’s investments is the
top priority when making investments and is always considered before yield
Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking

E. Environment and Sustainability
There are no specific implications that arise from the process of Treasury Management over
the fact that the income is part of the budget which supports the Council’s priorities.
Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking

Page

8 of 9

Page 216

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Treasury & Prudential Indicator Management: Quarter 3 (to 31 Dec 2021)

Agenda Item 12
F. Community Safety
There are no specific implications that arise from the process of Treasury Management over
the fact that the income is part of the budget which supports the Council’s priorities.
Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking

G. Equalities
There are no specific implications that arise from the process of Treasury Management over
the fact that the income is part of the budget which supports the Council’s priorities.
Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking

H. Data Protection
There are no specific implications that arise from the process of Treasury Management over
the fact that the income is part of the budget which supports the Council’s priorities.
Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking

I. Health and Safety
There are no specific implications that arise from the process of Treasury Management over
the fact that the income is part of the budget which supports the Council’s priorities.
Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking

J. Health and Wellbeing
There are no specific implications that arise from the process of Treasury Management over
the fact that the income is part of the budget which supports the Council’s priorities.
Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking

Page

9 of 9

Page 217

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Treasury & Prudential Indicator Management: Quarter 3 (to 31 Dec 2021)

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix A
APPENDIX A: Treasury Management Investments Limits
Banks/Building Societies
Fitch Rating (minimum)

1st tier institutions
2nd tier institutions

LT

ST

AA+ AA AAA+ A A-

F1+
F1

Maximum
Investment per
Institution/
Group
£20 million
£10 million

Maximum
Duration

Maximum
Investment per
Institution/
Group
£20 million
£10 million

Maximum
Duration

Maximum
Investment
£20 million

Maximum
Duration
5 years

Maximum
Investment
£5 million
£5 million
£5 million
£5 million
£30 million

Maximum
Duration
5 years
5 years
5 years
5 years
5 years

Maximum
Investment
£5 million

Maximum
Duration
5 years

Maximum
Investment
£10 million

Maximum
Duration
-

5 years
3 years

Nationalised/Part Nationalised Banks
Fitch Rating (minimum)

1st tier institutions
2nd tier institutions

LT

ST

AA+ AA AAA+ A A-

F1+
F1

5 years
3 years

Lloyds Banking Group

Lloyds Banking Group

Local Authorities/Debt Management Office

Unitary Councils
County Councils
Police Authorities
Other Local Authorities
Government's Debt Management Office

Money Market Funds

Money Market Funds

Collective Investments Schemes (Pooled Funds)

Collective Investments Schemes (Pooled Funds)

Organisations for the purposes of improving Council's Assets

Organisations for the purposes of improving Council's
Assets

Maximum
Investment
£5 million

Page 219

Maximum
Duration
5 years

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix B
APPENDIX B: Current Investments

Banks/Building Societies
Lloyds Banking Group
Debt Management Office
Other Local Authorities
Collective Investment Schemes
Total

Investments
10,000,000
49,600,000
0
0
9,000,000
68,600,000

On Call
0 - 3 months
4 - 6 months
7 - 9 months
10 - 12 months
12 months +
Total

Investments
10,000,000
49,600,000
0
0
0
9,000,000
68,600,000

Page 221

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix C
APPENDIX C: Prudential Indicators and Treasury Management Targets
Budget/
Year End
Position
2021/22

Forecast/
Actual
Quarter 3

Forecast/
Actual
Quarter 2

£10,430,000

£12,240,000
projected

£17,767,000
projected

£1,425,000
£1,870,000
£924,000
£468,000
£532,000
£540,000
£2,000,000
£7,759,000
projected

£1,425,000
£1,870,000
£924,000
£468,000
£532,000
£1,922,000
£2,000,000
£9,141,000
projected

£34,000,000
projected
(Quarter 3 end
£68,600,000)

£20,800,000
projected
(Quarter 2 end
£52,200,000)

Prudential Indicators
1

Capital Expenditure
This indicator is a summary of The Council's capital
expenditure plans.
2021/22 Estimate

2

The Council's Borrowing Need
This indicator is the Council's Capital Financing
Requirement (CFR) which is the historic outstanding
capital expenditure which has not yet been paid for
either from revenue or capital resources. It is
essentially a measure of the Council's indebtedness
and so is its underlying borrowing need.

Property Investment
Dowding House
Strategic Land Acquisition
Calverley Square Property Purchase
Waste Bins
Civic Site Essential Works
2020/21 Actual

£1,496,000
£1,960,000
£966,000
£489,000
£598,000
£95,000
£5,604,000

Property Investment
Dowding House
Strategic Land Acquisition
Calverley Square Property Purchase
Waste Bins
Civic Site Essential Works
The Amelia Scott
2021/22 Estimate

3

Core Funds and Expected Investment Balances
The application of resources to either finance capital
expenditure or other budget decisions to support the
revenue budget will have an ongoing impact on
investments unless resources are supplemented
each year from new sources.
2020/21 Closing Investments Amount

£34,600,000

2021/22 Estimate Closing Investments Amount

Note: Grant income from Government relating
to Covid-19 grants for businesses was held at
year end and the end of Quarter 3 2021/22.
This is expected to be paid out or back to
Government by March 2022.

Page 223

Appendix C
APPENDIX C: Prudential Indicators and Treasury Management Targets
Budget/
Year End
Position
2021/22

Page 224

Forecast/
Actual
Quarter 3

Forecast/
Actual
Quarter 2

Appendix C
APPENDIX C: Prudential Indicators and Treasury Management Targets

4

Budget/
Year End
Position
2021/22

Forecast/
Actual
Quarter 3

Forecast/
Actual
Quarter 2

£14,766,000
£0
0.00%

£15,349,000
£0
0.00%
projected

£15,417,000
£0
0.00%
projected

£0
£5,945,000

£0
£5,558,000

£5,945,000
actual

£5,558,000
actual

£0
£5,945,000

£0
£5,558,000

£5,945,000
actual

£5,558,000
actual

Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Streams
This indicator identifies trends in the cost of capital,
borrowing and long term obligation costs of net
investment income, against net revenue stream.

Net Cost of Services Estimate
Borrowing Costs Estimate
Percentage

Treasury Indicators
1

Authorised Limit for External Debt
The Council is expected to set a maximum
authorised limit for external debt. This limit should
not be exceeded and is therefore calculated on the
basis of the worst case scenario for cash flow
requirements in the short term.

Authorised limit for external debt
Other long term liabilities (S106 with repayment
conditions)
Total

2

£25,000,000

Operational boundary for external debt
The Council is required to set an operational
boundary for external debt. This indicates the most
likely maximum level of external debt for cash flow
requirements in the short term. This indicator may be
breached temporarily for operational reasons.

Operational boundary for external debt
Other long term liabilities (S106 with repayment
conditions)
Total

£25,000,000

Page 225

Appendix C
APPENDIX C: Prudential Indicators and Treasury Management Targets
Budget/
Year End
Position
2021/22

Forecast/
Actual
Quarter 3

Forecast/
Actual
Quarter 2

1.35%

0.80%
projected

0.89%
projected

0.75%

No long term
Investments
made

No long term
Investments
made

Nil

Nil

Nil

Treasury Management Targets
1

2

3

Target Investment Interest Rate
Base Rate 0.10% from 19 Mar 20 to 16 Dec 22
Base Rate 0.25% from 16 Dec 22 to 3 Feb 22
Base Rate 0.50% from 3 Feb 22 onwards

Longer term investment decisions
Made in the context of a minimum investment rate of

Cash flow
Overall cash flow to be managed to achieve a nil
borrowing requirement although borrowing will be
considered an option where it is prudent to do so

Page 226

Appendix C
APPENDIX C: Prudential Indicators and Treasury Management Targets
Budget/
Year End
Position
2021/22

Forecast/
Actual
Quarter 3

Forecast/
Actual
Quarter 2

£26,800,000

£57,700,000
projected

£48,400,000
projected

£362,000

£462,000
projected

£432,000
projected

(Year to
date
£341,000)

(Year to
date
£227,000)

Other Key Data
1

2

Estimated average equated sums for investment
2021/22
Total

Investment Income
Investment Income including investments and
bank interest

Page 227

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 13

Housing, Homelessness and Rough
Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
For Cabinet on 17 March 2022

Summary
Lead Member: Cllr Andrew Fairweather
Lead Director: Paul Taylor, Director of Change and Communities
Head of Service: Gary Stevenson, Head of Housing, Health and Environment
Report Author: Sue Oliver, Private Sector Housing Manager
Classification: Public document (non-exempt)
Wards Affected: All
Approval Timetable
Housing Advisory Panel
Management Board
Communities & Economic Development CAB
Cabinet

Date
1 February 2022
16 February 2022
2 March 2022
17 March 2022

Recommendations
Officer recommendation as supported by the Portfolio Holder:
1. That Cabinet adopts the Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy
at Appendix A.
2. That the Housing Advisory Panel monitors, reviews and evaluates the action
plans that sit under the four key ambitions every six months, to ensure that our
priorities remain in the right direction and reflect local and national priorities.

Page

1 of 9

Page 229

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026

Agenda Item 13

1. Introduction and Background
1.1

Our current Housing Strategy is the West Kent Housing and Homelessness Strategy
2016 – 2021 which reaches the end of its term in summer 2021. We worked in
partnership to deliver this Strategy with Sevenoaks District Council and Tonbridge and
Malling Borough Council, and we have a long history of working together successfully
on housing and homelessness initiatives. The Councils have decided to have their
own strategies for the next five years, to ensure a focus on each local authority area,
although partnership working will of course continue.

1.2

The Homelessness Act 2002 requires local authorities to conduct a review of the
nature and extent of homelessness every five years, and to develop a Strategy setting
out how services will be delivered in the future to tackle homelessness and the
available resources to prevent and relieve homelessness.

1.3

In 2018, the Government published a national Rough Sleeping Strategy which set out
a vision to halve rough sleeping by 2022 and eliminate it completely by 2027, and that
local authorities should update their homelessness strategies to include rough sleeper
strategies.

1.4

We are not required to produce a Housing Strategy, although it is good practice to do
so, to ensure that we have an integrated and comprehensive Strategy that sets out all
of our aims and how we will deliver them.

1.5

To ensure continuity with our previous Strategy and the delivery of the work contained
within it, this Strategy, which was approved for consultation in 2021, spans the five
year period 2021 – 2026, commencing 1st April 2021 and ending on 31 March 2026 .

1.6

At Appendix A of this report is the Council’s Housing, Homelessness and Rough
Sleeping Strategy 2021 – 2026. We have incorporated rough sleeping for the first
time, in line with the Government’s requirements.

1.7

The Strategy received approval from Cabinet to consult with partners and the local
community at the meeting on 28 October 2021, and the consultation has now taken
place.

2. Content of Strategy
2.1

Section 1 of the Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 – 2026
contains an introduction, which explains how the Strategy links into the Council’s Five
Year Plan, sets out our vision, and considers the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic
on the borough’s residents, in particular on housing need.

2.2

The vision for this Strategy is to:

Page

2 of 9

Page 230

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026

Agenda Item 13
Enable access to safe, secure and affordable housing, preventing homelessness and
ending rough sleeping.
2.3

Section 2 of the Strategy contains a profile of the Tunbridge Wells area, with reference
to house prices, deprivation, tenure types and size of accommodation, and the needs
of specific groups, in particular young people and older people.

2.4

Section 3 of the Strategy relates to the West Kent Housing and Homelessness
Strategy 2016 – 2021 and contains a summary of what has been achieved.

3. Ambitions for 2021 - 2026
3.1

The Strategy sets out our ambitions for the next five years, which are:
•
•
•
•

Preventing homelessness and ending rough sleeping;
Increasing the supply and choice of affordable homes;
Improving housing and meeting need;
Promoting homes that sustain health and well-being.

Within each of these four ambitions, we set out why this is a priority, our current
position, and our plans for delivery for 2021 – 2026. Each ambition contains a number
of aims, how we will deliver each aim, by when and the lead officer with responsibility
for delivery.

Preventing homelessness and ending rough sleeping
3.2

The prevention of homelessness is a national and local priority, and the
Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 has meant that the Housing Options team takes a
proactive approach to help people threatened with homelessness, helps them to
sustain tenancies and prevent them from becoming homeless again.

3.3

The Government wants to end rough sleeping by the end of 2024. Rough sleeping is
the most extreme form of homelessness and to end it, secure and affordable housing
is needed. Rough sleepers often have complex health and support needs, and so
require a range of co-ordinated interventions including stable accommodation, and
health and clinical support.

3.4

The action plan for preventing homelessness and rough sleeping contains four key
areas:
A1 – Preventing homelessness and supporting households at risk of homelessness
A2 – Ending rough sleeping
A3 – Working with private sector landlords to house homeless and at risk households
A4 – Moving homeless households onto permanent homes

Page

3 of 9

Page 231

Cabinet 17 March 2022
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026

Agenda Item 13
Increasing the supply and choice of affordable homes
3.5

In late 2020, the Government announced plans to increase the supply of affordable
homes including homes for social rent, and affordable home ownership. This is
particularly relevant for the Council as home ownership is out of reach for many, in
particular low and middle income households. The emerging Local Plan identifies a
relatively high need for affordable housing, and as part of the work undertaken for the
emerging Local Plan, a review titled “Affordable housing needs in the context of First
Homes” was conducted in February 2021.

3.6

Affordable housing is normally provided and managed by registered providers which
includes not for profit housing associations and for profit organisations. On the
majority of sites it should mainly be available for social rent.

3.7

The Council’s ambition is to make the borough carbon neutral by 2030, and the
policies contained within the emerging Local Plan will seek to support carbon
reduction and the transition to a low carbon future.

3.8

The action plan for increasing the supply and choice of affordable homes contains two
key areas:
B1 – Maximising delivery of new affordable homes to meet housing need
B2 – Delivering low carbon and environmentally sustainable homes

Improving housing and meeting need
3.9

Good quality housing positively impacts on health, wellbeing, and life expectancy, and
poor housing has detrimental effects on education, health and crime. We have a
thriving private rented sector and for many, privately renting is an effective solution to
housing needs. The sector has expanded in recent years and rents have risen
significantly, which means that private renting is becoming out of reach for many lower
income households.

3.10 The Private Sector Housing team ensures that standards are maintained and
improved across all tenures and in particular the private rented sector, works to
remove hazards, and to licence houses in multiple occupation (HMOs).
3.11 Housing Register statistics provide an important source of information as regards
housing need. Most demand is for one and two bedroom units.
3.12 Energy efficiency and fuel poverty remain key challenges across all tenures, and
particularly impact lower income homes. As benefit caps and rising housing costs
place additional strain on household budgets, as well as the increases to the cost of
gas leading to difficulties in paying bills, reducing energy costs and enabling warmer
homes for low income households becomes a greater priority. The Council will
continue to ensure that awareness of government funding initiatives is maintained,
and submit bids for funding, so that residents can access retro-fitting for insulation and
low carbon heating measures where relevant criteria are met.

Page

4 of 9

Page 232

Cabinet 17 March 2022
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026

Agenda Item 13
3.13 The action plan for Improving housing and meeting need contains four key areas:
C1 – Shaping a thriving, high standard private rented sector
C2 – Bringing long term empty homes back into use
C3 – Making best use of social rented housing
C4 – Reducing the environmental impact of homes

Promoting homes that sustain health and well-being
3.14 Poor quality housing harms both physical and mental health, and poor housing
conditions present a greater risk to the health of older and disabled people, and
people with long term health conditions.
3.15 Safe accessible housing can maintain or improve health and wellbeing and greatly
improve quality of life, especially as people grow older. Minor repairs, as well as minor
and major home adaptations are effective interventions for preventing falls and
injuries, improving the performance of everyday activities and mental health. We work
with partners to share best practice, identify areas for joint working and agree positive
objectives for housing and the promotion of good health, in particular the Kent
Housing Group.
3.16 The action plan for Promoting homes that sustain health and wellbeing contains three
key areas:
D1 - Shaping the housing stock
D2 – Supporting and maintaining the independence of residents
D3 - Developing integrated housing, health and care strategies

4. Consultation outcome
4.1

Consultation was conducted via the Council’s consultation portal, and a series of
questions were asked to assist respondents with their comments. The consultation
opened on 24 November 2021 and closed on 14 January 2022. A broad range of
people and organisations including partners who work with us to deliver services,
interested parties in the local community and housing and health colleagues in other
local authorities and organisations were consulted. Residents were also able to
respond.

4.2

There were 63 visits to the consultation page, and thirteen responses were received
via the portal. One was from a partner, one was from the Tunbridge Wells
Constituency Labour Party and the remainder were either anonymous or appeared to
be from local residents. A letter was received from the National Residential Landlords’
Association.

4.3

The Housing Advisory Panel considered the comments on 1 February 2022, which
focused mainly on tackling homelessness and the provision of affordable housing. The

Page

5 of 9

Page 233

Cabinet 17 March 2022
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026

Agenda Item 13
comments received were positive with some suggestions for actions that the Council
could consider taking, and these are largely already contained within the action plans.

5. Options Considered
4.1

Option 1 – agree to adopt the Strategy attached at Appendix A.

4.2

Option 2 – do nothing. Not adopting the Strategy would mean that the Council would
not be complying with the requirements of the Homelessness Act 2002, and the
Government’s Rough Sleeping Strategy.

6. Preferred Option and Reason
6.1

Option 1 – adopt the Strategy.

6.2

Having a current Strategy would mean that the Council is complying with the
Homelessness Act 2002, the Government’s Rough Sleeping Strategy and that
ambitions and aims are in place for the next five years.

7. Consultation on Options
7.1

The cross-party Housing Advisory Panel considered the consultation responses on 1
February 2022 and agreed that no changes were required to the Strategy.

Recommendation from Cabinet Advisory Board
7.2

The Communities and Economic Development Cabinet Advisory Board was consulted
on 2 March 2022 and recommended that Cabinet should adopt the Strategy.

8. Implementation
If Cabinet adopts the Strategy on 17 March 2022, it will be added to the Council’s
website, with a link being sent to partners and interested parties.

8.1

9. Appendices and Background Documents
Appendices:
•

Appendix A: Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026

•

Appendix B: Equalities Impact Assessment

Page

6 of 9

Page 234

Cabinet 17 March 2022
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026

Agenda Item 13
10. Cross Cutting Issues
A. Legal (including the Human Rights Act)
Councils are required under the Homelessness Act 2002 to conduct a review of the nature
and extent of homelessness every five years, and to develop a Strategy setting out how
services will be delivered in the future to tackle homelessness and the available resources to
prevent and relieve homelessness. Homelessness strategies now need to include rough
sleeper strategies, and this Strategy covers both of these aspects.
The Strategy contains a number of actions that will delivered during 2021 – 2026. Advice will
be sought from Legal Services on these specific actions where necessary.
Accepting the recommendations will fulfil the Council’s duties under the 2002 Act. Failure to
accept the recommendations without agreeing suitable alternatives may place the Council in
breach of legislation governing homelessness.
Claudette Valmond, Principal Solicitor – Commercial 15 October 2021

B. Finance and Other Resources
The Strategy document itself does not require funding, although some of the aims within the
five year action plans will require funding and some of this will be from external sources.
Finance will be consulted where necessary, to include guidance on capital and revenue
funding, and Cabinet approval will be sought where relevant.
Jane Fineman, Head of Finance and Procurement 14 October 2021

C. Staffing
The Strategy contains a number of actions that will delivered during 2021 – 2026. It is noted
that some posts deliver projects that are externally funded, and advice will be sought from
HR where necessary.
Nicky Carter, Head of HR 19 October 2021

D. Risk Management
The Strategy contains a number of actions that will delivered during 2021 – 2026. Advice will
be sought from the Head of Audit on these actions where necessary. Consideration will be
given to these specific actions as they are planned and delivered, and where relevant risks
will be included in the strategic risk register.
Sue Oliver, Private Sector Housing Manager 23 September 2021

Page

7 of 9

Page 235

Cabinet 17 March 2022
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026

Agenda Item 13
E. Environment and Sustainability
One of the four over-arching ambitions of the Strategy relates to how we will increase the
supply and choice of affordable housing. Within this, there is a section on reducing carbon,
which refers to the council’s Climate Emergency declaration and the relevant Local Plan
policies (see pages 31 – 34). The action plan relating to how we will deliver low carbon and
environmentally friendly homes contains the steps we plan to take to:
•
•

Reduce the impact of new build schemes on the environment through planning policy
and development management.
Set sustainable design standards and ensure delivery of low carbon measures by
private developers.

I note that the strategy contains a section on reducing carbon and delivering new low carbon
homes. The domestic sector in Kent and Medway accounts for 28% of carbon emissions
(Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emission strategy evidence base – 2017 data).
Therefore, it is recommended that improving the energy efficiency and decarbonising heating
systems for the existing housing stock will continue to be and is included as a key feature for
all renovation projects that are influenced by and under the Council’s direct control.
Similarly, it is recommended that opportunities for grant funding are explored and projects to
improve the existing housing stock in general are developed to reduce carbon emissions to
support the ambition to achieve carbon neutrality by 2030.
Karin Grey Sustainability Manager 14 October 2021

F. Community Safety
Generally a healthy home is one that is affordable and secure and provides for all household
needs.
The only specific community safety issue relates to ending rough sleeping, which is a positive
initiative. Rough sleeping is a risk to the wellbeing of the rough sleepers themselves and can
also be a frustration for residents and other users of public spaces.
Terry Hughes, Community Safety Manager 24 September 2021

G. Equalities
An Equalities Impact Assessment has been undertaken and is attached at Appendix B.
The scope of the EqIA is to consider how our services/policies meet the needs of those who
are:
•
•
•
•
•

homeless or threatened with homelessness
rough sleepers
in need of an affordable home
living in the private rented sector
living in fuel poverty

Page

Page 236

8 of 9

Cabinet 17 March 2022
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026

Agenda Item 13
• require support from integrated housing, health and care providers
No potential negative impacts have been identified, however there are a number of aims over
the next five years that will impact on some groups with protected characteristics, particularly
disability, race, sex and age, both young people and older people.
Corporate Governance 15 October 2021

H. Data Protection
There are no data protection implications.
Corporate Governance 15 October 2021

I. Health and Safety
There are no health and safety implications.
Sue Oliver, Private Sector Housing Manager 18 May 2021

J. Health and Wellbeing
One of the four over-arching ambitions of the Strategy (see pages 42 - 46) relates to how we
will promote homes that sustain health and wellbeing, and why this is a priority. Reference is
made to the impact of poor quality housing on health, the findings of the Marmot Review and
the Ten Years On review. The action plan relating to how we will deliver this ambition
contains actions to:
•
•
•

shape the housing stock and how we will ensure that homes meet the needs of
residents
support and maintain the independence of residents
develop integrated housing, health and care strategies working with partners across
Kent

Rebecca Bowers, Health Improvement Team Leader 1 October 2021

Page

9 of 9

Page 237

Cabinet 17 March 2022
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix A

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

Appendix A - Housing,
Homelessness and Rough
Sleeping Strategy 2021 2026
This Strategy sets out our vision and
ambitions for preventing homelessness
and ending rough sleeping, increasing the
supply and choice of affordable homes,
improving housing and meeting need, and
promoting homes that sustain health and
wellbeing.

Page 239

Appendix A

Contents
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026 ................. 1
Contents ............................................................................................................................... 2
Foreword .............................................................................................................................. 4
Executive Summary ............................................................................................................. 5
Delivering our vision ......................................................................................................... 5
1.

Introduction ................................................................................................................. 7
Five Year Plan 2017 – 2022 ............................................................................................. 7
Delivering our vision ......................................................................................................... 8
Kent and Medway Housing Strategy 2020 - 2025............................................................. 8
The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic ............................................................................ 8

2.

Tunbridge Wells profile ............................................................................................. 10
House prices ................................................................................................................... 10
Indices of deprivation ...................................................................................................... 10
Population ....................................................................................................................... 10
Tenure types and size of accommodation ...................................................................... 10
Young people and older people ...................................................................................... 11

3.
Summary of progress with West Kent Housing and Homelessness Strategy 2016 –
2021 12
Improving availability of housing and preventing homelessness..................................... 12
Improving housing supply ............................................................................................... 15
Improving standards ....................................................................................................... 16
Improving wellbeing ........................................................................................................ 17
4.

Our ambitions for 2021 - 2026 .................................................................................. 20
4.1

Preventing homelessness and ending rough sleeping .......................................... 20

4.2 Increasing the supply and choice of affordable homes ............................................. 29
4.3 Improving housing and meeting need ....................................................................... 34
4.4 Promoting homes that sustain health and wellbeing ................................................. 42
5

Putting our plans into place .......................................................................................... 47

Appendix 1: Local policy and supporting information ......................................................... 48
Local Plan ....................................................................................................................... 48
Gypsy and traveller accommodation assessment........................................................... 48

Page

2 of 55

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 240

Appendix A
Housing Needs Assessment topic paper ........................................................................ 48
Housing Needs Study 2018 ............................................................................................ 49
Review of affordable housing needs in the context of First Homes February 2021 ........ 49
Strategic Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment .................................... 49
Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) ............................................................. 49
Empty Homes Policy 2018 – 2023 .................................................................................. 49
Housing Assistance Policy 2021 – 2026 ......................................................................... 50
Appendix 2: Other useful documents ................................................................................. 51
Appendix 3: Glossary of terms ........................................................................................... 53
Affordable housing .......................................................................................................... 53
Category 1 hazard .......................................................................................................... 53
Disabled facilities grant ................................................................................................... 53
Emergency accommodation ........................................................................................... 53
Energy company obligation (ECO) ................................................................................. 53
First Homes .................................................................................................................... 53
Fuel poverty .................................................................................................................... 54
House in multiple occupation (HMO) .............................................................................. 54
Licensed house in multiple occupation (HMO)................................................................ 54
Housing health and safety rating system (HHSRS) ........................................................ 54
Intermediate housing ...................................................................................................... 54
Local housing allowance ................................................................................................. 54
Registered provider ........................................................................................................ 54
Rent deposit bond........................................................................................................... 55
Rent deposit loan ............................................................................................................ 55
Rough sleeping ............................................................................................................... 55
Section 106 affordable housing funding .......................................................................... 55
Social housing ................................................................................................................ 55
Supported housing.......................................................................................................... 55
Temporary accommodation ............................................................................................ 55

Page

3 of 55

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 241

Appendix A

Foreword
Welcome to our Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 – 2026.
We want to ensure that people living in our borough can access the best possible
accommodation to meet their needs and promote their overall health and wellbeing, so our
vision for this Strategy is to:
Enable access to safe, secure and affordable housing, preventing homelessness and
ending rough sleeping.
Since the publication of our last Strategy in 2016, we have worked with partners from a wide
range of statutory and voluntary agencies to address rough sleeping, tackle homelessness,
provide affordable housing and improve standards in the private rented sector. There is a
clear link between housing, and health and wellbeing, and a healthy home is one that is
affordable and secure and provides for all household needs.
We are aware that house prices in the borough are relatively high, making purchase a
challenge for many people and families, in particular those with low incomes and young
people. As a result, the need for social rented housing remains high. Added to this our
population is changing, with an increase in residents over the age of 65, and so it is
necessary for housing to be provided that is suitable for the needs of an ageing population.
We have been addressing these challenges with our partners, and in addition we have
responded to the unforeseen challenge of the COVID-19 pandemic, meeting the
responsibilities required by the Government’s “Everyone In” initiative to ensure that no-one
was sleeping rough or at risk of sleeping rough during the worst of the pandemic.
It is important to us that we are able to respond to emerging challenges, and we have
pledged to help to find ten privately rented properties that are safe and suitable for Afghan
families, as part of the Government’s Vulnerable Person Relocation Scheme, as well as
fulfilling our on-going commitment to refugees from other parts of the world.
This Strategy sets out our four key ambitions for the next five years which are to:
•
•
•
•

prevent homelessness and end rough sleeping.
increase the supply and choice of affordable homes.
improve housing and meeting need.
promote homes that sustain health and well-being.

The Strategy contains an action plan for each of these four ambitions, which sets out in detail
what we will be doing, how we will do it, and by when.
We have developed this Strategy with input from our key partners and stakeholders in the
public, private and voluntary sectors. These relationships and the importance of working in
partnership are critical to enable us to deliver our ambitions over the coming years.
Councillor Andy Fairweather, Portfolio holder for Communities and Well-being

Page

4 of 55

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 242

Appendix A

Executive Summary
Most of our residents live in or have access to good quality, safe, secure and affordable
housing, which provides for all household needs and contributes to maintaining or improving
health and well-being, providing strong connections to the local community, services, work,
and education. However we face a number of key challenges, influenced by national policy,
local factors, and changes to the housing market, which include:
•

•
•

•
•

•

•

•

Prevention of homelessness – this is a key national and local priority, and we take a
proactive approach. The numbers of households who need emergency
accommodation is increasing.
Ending rough sleeping – this is the most extreme form of homelessness and to end it,
secure and affordable housing is needed.
Housing costs – the average house price is £400,000, 13 times the earnings of
households in the Borough and far higher than the national average of £255,535.
Renting in the private sector is an expensive option, with an average cost of £795 per
month.
Housing supply - the need for social rented accommodation remains high, with waiting
times on the housing register ranging from between two to four years.
Changing population – rising household numbers together with an ageing population
means that we will need to continue to provide a mix of housing types, sizes and
tenures.
Private rented sector – we have a thriving private rented sector and for many this is an
effective solution to housing needs. The sector has expanded in recent years and
rents have risen significantly, which makes private renting out of reach for many low
income households.
Carbon reduction and the transition to a low carbon future – we recognise the need to
meet nationally and locally set targets and to work with developers and private owners
to achieve sustainable construction methods and low carbon measures.
COVID-19 pandemic – the lockdowns in 2020 and 2021 impacted on homelessness
and an increase in tenants being served with notice to quit. Many private renters
struggled to pay rent and some home owners were unable to pay their mortgages.

Delivering our vision
Our vision for this Strategy is to:
Enable access to safe, secure and affordable housing, preventing homelessness and ending
rough sleeping.
To enable us to meet the key challenges set out above, and deliver this vision, this Strategy
sets out our four key ambitions for 2021 – 2026:
•
•

Preventing homelessness and ending rough sleeping.
Increasing the supply and choice of affordable homes.

Page

5 of 55

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 243

Appendix A
•
•

Improving housing and meeting need.
Promoting homes that sustain health and wellbeing.

Within each of these four ambitions, we set out why this is a priority, our current position, and
our plans for delivery for 2021 – 2026. A number of aims sit under each ambition with
information on how they will be delivered, by when and by whom. The aims are as follows:

Preventing homelessness and ending rough sleeping
•
•
•
•

Preventing homelessness and supporting households at risk of homelessness
Ending rough sleeping
Working with private sector landlords to house homeless and at risk households
Moving homeless households onto permanent homes

Increasing the supply and choice of new and good quality homes
•
•

Maximising delivery of new affordable homes to meet housing need
Delivering low carbon and environmentally sustainable homes

Improving housing and meeting need
•
•
•
•

Shaping a thriving, high standard private rented sector
Bringing long term empty homes back into use
Making best use of social rented housing
Reducing the environmental impact of homes

Promoting homes that sustain health and wellbeing
•
•
•

Shaping the housing stock
Supporting and maintaining the independence of residents
Developing integrated housing, health, and care strategies

Monitoring, evaluation and review of the Strategy will be carried out by the Housing Advisory
Panel bi-annually to ensure that our priorities remain in the right direction.

Page

6 of 55

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 244

Appendix A

1. Introduction
Welcome to our new Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy, which for the
first time includes a focus on rough sleeping in line with the Government’s Rough Sleeping
Strategy.
To ensure continuity with our previous Strategy and the delivery of the work contained within
it, this Strategy spans the five year period 2021 – 2026, commencing 1st April 2021 and
ending on 31 March 2026.
The Government White Paper fixing-our-broken-housing-market acknowledged the scale of
the problem in providing a range of housing that meets a cross-section of need. Without a
remedy for the imbalance in the market, the result has been a national increase in all forms of
housing need, exhibiting itself in the most acute forms of housing need – homelessness and
rough sleeping.
During the life of our last Housing Strategy 2016 – 2021 many challenges and opportunities
have emerged which impact on housing:
•
•

•
•

the roll-out of welfare reform and the implementation of Universal Credit, and the
impact on household finances along with the growing use of food banks.
the introduction of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 and our responsibilities to
prevent and reduce homelessness, leading to the provision of a better service for the
people who approach us for advice and support.
the Government’s Rough Sleeping Initiative and associated funding, which has rightly
led to a focus on ending rough sleeping.
the Local Housing Allowance was increased in 2020, however rising market rents
means that some of the private rented market is unaffordable for low income
households who may be dependent wholly or partly on assistance with housing costs.

Five Year Plan 2017 – 2022
This Strategy is a key document which supports the delivery of the Council’s Five-Year-Plan.
The Plan sets out the Council’s corporate strategy for the next five years and focuses on
what we want to achieve and the services we provide, and how we will encourage investment
and sustainable growth, and enhance the quality of life for all. There are four overarching
priorities:
•
•
•
•

Our Borough – to support a prosperous, well, and inclusive borough.
Our Services – to provide digital choice, quality, and responsive services.
Our People – to have effective leadership, relevant skills, and high levels of wellbeing.
Providing Value – to ensure innovation in our services, effective partnership working,
and that we operate in a business like way.

Page

7 of 55

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 245

Appendix A

Delivering our vision
Our vision for this Strategy is to:
Enable access to safe, secure and affordable housing, preventing homelessness and ending
rough sleeping.
To achieve this, our Strategy sets out four key ambitions, and each has an action plan. The
four ambitions are:
•
•
•
•

Preventing homelessness and ending rough sleeping.
Increasing the supply and choice of affordable homes.
Improving housing and meeting need.
Promoting homes that sustain health and wellbeing.

To help us develop this Strategy and to ensure that our priorities and the actions to deliver
them are the right ones for our communities, we undertook consultation and sought the views
of partners and interested parties. We cannot do this work alone and working with partners is
essential to ensure that we can make progress and deliver these ambitions over the next five
years, improving outcomes and opportunities for our residents.

Kent and Medway Housing Strategy 2020 - 2025
The Kent Housing Group has produced the Kent and Medway Housing Strategy 2020-2025
“A place people want to call home” which sets out the strategic direction for housing in the
county, to enable organisations to respond to frequently emerging housing challenges. The
five key ambitions are to:
•
•
•
•
•

Health and wellbeing – proactively support all communities to achieve a higher level of
health and wellbeing.
Working together for safer homes to facilitate and strengthen partnership
arrangements, collective expertise and continuous shared learning.
Infrastructure first – support and influence the delivery of key infrastructure investment.
Accelerating housing delivery – to support planned housing.
Affordability – support the provision of good quality affordable housing.

The role of the Kent and Medway Strategy is to complement and support the delivery of local
housing objectives, and so it fits well with the vision and ambitions for our Strategy.

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic
The COVID-19 pandemic has affected our residents and their health and wellbeing,
employment prospects and level of income, and has led to a need for increasing levels of
support from local government and health and welfare services. There are short and medium
term impacts for example rising levels of homelessness, unemployment, and food poverty,

Page

8 of 55

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 246

Appendix A
which exacerbate disadvantage and inequalities. The long term health, social and economic
impacts are yet to be fully quantified.
The Government has issued several sets of housing related guidance which are regularly
updated to take account of any changes in the COVID-19 situation:
•
•
•

covid-19-guidance-for-landlords-and-tenants
technical-guidance-on-eviction-notices
guidance-for-local-authorities

Housing need and availability within the Borough were already acute before the pandemic,
and affordability was a particular concern. Plans to address this are included within our
emerging Local Plan. Pre-existing need has been exacerbated by the pandemic, and
placements in emergency housing (where households are homeless and in priority need)
have increased, along with a 50% increase in housing benefit claims in the private rented
sector between August 2019 and August 2020.
Moving households on from this emergency accommodation is challenging given the lack of
affordable rental accommodation across the borough. The end of the furlough scheme, and
national trends which are seeing more people move to areas outside of London for larger
homes and more open space, with the option to work from home, has increased demand
placing further pressure on the housing market. In turn there is an increased need for
affordable housing, as many households turn to the Council and registered providers for
accommodation.
The uncertainties of this national situation and how COVID-19 continues to affect our
residents may lead to the need for updates to this Strategy, particularly if homelessness and
rough sleeping become more prevalent, placing more of our residents at risk and putting
additional pressures on the Housing team.

Page

9 of 55

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 247

Appendix A

2. Tunbridge Wells profile
House prices
The Borough of Tunbridge Wells consists of the town itself along with several smaller towns
such as Southborough, Paddock Wood, Cranbrook and Hawkhurst, as well as a number of
villages and hamlets each with its own distinctive character. Many of the neighbourhoods can
be described as affluent, and according to Land Registry data, the average house price
between September 2020 and September 2021 is £400,000. Evidence from the Strategic
Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) and the Office of National Statistics indicates
affordability pressures for house purchases, with entry level prices at approximately 13 times
the earnings of households in the borough. This compares to a ratio of 6.5 nationally and 10
within Kent as a whole.

Indices of deprivation
The Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (formerly the Ministry of
Housing, Communities and Local Government publishes the English indices of deprivation,
the most recent version being 2019. The indices show where residents experience significant
levels of deprivation, characterised by poorer health, lower skills, educational disadvantage,
fuel poverty and reduced access to quality housing. In 2015 Tunbridge Wells borough ranked
271 out of 317 local authorities, and in 2019 the rank was 273 indicating a relatively good
position. However, Sherwood ward contains an area that ranks amongst the most deprived
20% of neighbourhoods in the country, and Broadwater ward contains an area that ranks
amongst the most deprived 30% of neighbourhoods in the country. A map of the Borough
with detailed information on each ward can be found by following this link
communities.gov.uk/imd/iod

Population
The population of the Borough of Tunbridge Wells is changing as improvements to health
outcomes result in residents living longer. In 2018, our population was 118,054, and this is
projected to increase by 9.4% to 128,800 by 2033. Growth is forecast across all population
groups with a particularly marked increase in residents aged 65 and over, from 22,600 in
2017 to 31,800 by 2033, an increase of 40.7%.

Tenure types and size of accommodation
In terms of the tenure, the breakdown is:

Page

10 of 55

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 248

Appendix A
•
•
•

66% owner-occupied;
17% private rented;
16% affordable (social/affordable rented or intermediate housing).

Intermediate housing is the term used for moving towards home ownership, so includes
shared ownership, rent to buy, discounted market sales, and First Homes (a scheme to
provide new homes for first-time buyers with a 30% discount on the market price).
The breakdown in terms of the size of accommodation and number of bedrooms is:
•
•
•
•

14.7% with one bedroom/bedsits;
24.9% with two bedrooms;
31.3% with three bedrooms;
29.1% with four or more bedrooms.

The need for social rented housing across all sizes of accommodation remains high. The
average wait on the housing register for family sized accommodation ranges from two and a
half years for a two bed home to four years plus for four bed accommodation.

Young people and older people
Specific groups within the community face particular challenges in meeting their housing
needs, as considered in the Housing Needs Assessment topic paper. Young people, if single
and under the age of 35, face restrictions on claiming housing benefit or Universal Credit if
renting from a private landlord, as the maximum amount payable is the shared room rate,
often not suitable in particular for vulnerable young people. Care leavers, of which there are a
disproportionately large number in Kent, must be placed in suitable accommodation with
appropriate levels of support.
The need to provide housing for older people (generally defined as being over 65) is a
significant priority, as the proportion of older people in the population is increasing. The
number, size, location, and quality of dwellings needs to be considered, to enable older
people to live independently and safely in their own homes for as long as possible or move to
suitable accommodation if they wish. Many older people, 63.5% in the borough would
consider staying in their own homes, with 26.3% considering buying a property on the open
market and 8.5% considering renting from a social landlord.
For older people who wish to remain in their homes, a proportion will need some assistance
and/or adaptations. The disabled facilities grant is a useful intervention for maintaining
independence and helping people to remain in their homes.
New housing, in particular affordable housing, needs to be accessible and adaptable to meet
the needs of older people and those with disabilities and long-term health conditions.
Supporting independent living can help to reduce costs to health and social services and
providing more options for older people to move could also free up family size homes and
release smaller homes for first time buyers.

Page

11 of 55

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 249

Appendix A

3. Summary of progress with West
Kent Housing and
Homelessness Strategy 2016 –
2021
This section contains a summary of what we have achieved since our last Strategy:

Improving availability of housing and preventing
homelessness
We reviewed our homelessness prevention toolkit and we:
•
•
•
•

Agreed personalised housing plans with customers.
Contacted landlords of tenants given notice to quit, to prevent tenancies from ending,
and undertook mediation with family and friends.
Supported people facing homelessness with applications for discretionary housing
payments, including those affected by COVID-19.
Assisted households into social housing through the housing register.

We delivered temporary and leased accommodation to relieve
homelessness, working with partners, and we:
•
•
•

Leased 34 units of temporary accommodation from housing associations.
Purchased and renovated Dowding House, Paddock Wood to directly provide 25
temporary accommodation flats for homeless households.
Worked with the YMCA to subsidise the delivery of supported housing at Ryder House
for young people facing homelessness.

Page

12 of 55

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 250

Appendix A
Ryder House supported housing
Ryder House provides safe, welcoming, and supportive housing for 37 young
people aged 16 and over, in high quality furnished flats. Most of these young
people would be homeless so this is an essential and important service.
The team of YMCA Housing Support Workers assist each resident to address
issues and to develop personal, social and life skills, look for training and secure
work, and gain self-confidence and the skills to live independently.
For residents, Ryder House is more than a flat or a home, as they actively engage
in decision making, and run residents’ meetings and youth inclusion activities, as
well as raising funds for special projects and awareness of the needs of other
young people in Kent.
•

Contributed section 106 affordable housing funding to develop nine bed spaces in
three shared facility flats at Quaker Meeting House to provide move on
accommodation for young people.
Quaker meeting house
The Friends’ meeting house is a good example of a project where better use is
being made of an existing space in the town. The Quakers decided they only
needed half of the building, and they wanted to do something useful with the rest of
it. They found out that the local YMCA was struggling to find accommodation for
people ready to move out of supported housing, and so they looked into using half
of the building as a stepping-stone to independent living, providing a home for nine
young homeless people in three shared flats.
The funding for the conversion was provided by Habitat for Humanity GB Homes
who invested £500,000, the Quakers raised £100,000 and the Council contributed
£250,000. The three shared flats are affordable to anyone on a low income, or
receiving housing benefit, and give young people a chance of a home, developing
their independence, and learning skills to enter the mainstream housing market,
after spending approximately two years in a flat.

We worked with partners to enable households to maximise their
income and receive advice and support on a range of issues by:
•
•
•

Identifying joint working opportunities with CAB who provide debt, benefits and
employment advice, and support for tenants facing eviction.
Working with Kent County Council to support care leavers, in particular when
threatened with homelessness.
Making referrals to Live Well Kent, who offer mental health support and manage
supported accommodation for people with high mental health needs.

Page

13 of 55

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 251

Appendix A
•

Supporting Look Ahead to extend the use of the Sanctuary scheme and referring
customers fleeing domestic abuse to local refuges.
Look Ahead
Look Ahead offers specialist care, support and housing services across Kent,
providing a range of community and accommodation support services.
People who stay with Look Ahead come from a range of life experiences, for
example a young person of 16 or 17 years old, a care leaver, or someone
experiencing homelessness, domestic abuse or mental ill-health. Look Ahead works
with each person to empower them to take control of their lives, and their skilled,
multi-disciplinary teams put the customer at the heart of everything, with a focus on
developing positive relationships, building on strengths, and preparing and
supporting each person to move on and maintain their own independent
accommodation in a safe environment.
Experienced Domestic Abuse advisors work in refuges and in the community,
running support groups and specialist programmes, providing expert care and
support to both female and male survivors. Look Ahead can offer emergency
accommodation to those in immediate danger, while helping domestic abuse
survivors who want to stay in their own homes with security measures.

We delivered private sector tenancy support by:
•

•
•
•
•

Setting up Tenancy Officer roles who work with private landlords to find
accommodation, arrange deposit bonds and deposit loans, negotiate private assured
shorthold tenancies, manage temporary accommodation, and assist customers to
move onto permanent accommodation.
Developing our website to provide comprehensive information and advice about
homelessness and prevention.
Referring customers to Kent Homeless Connect, provided by Porchlight, to help
people sustain their tenancies.
Contacting landlords about leasing vacant properties to us, placing adverts in local
media and via Housing Benefits mail-outs.
Contacting landlords about hard to let accommodation and the potential to use it as
temporary accommodation.

We worked to reduce rough sleeping by:
•

Making successful bids to the Government’s Rough Sleeping Initiative in 2018/19,
2019/20, 2020/21 and 2021/22 for a total of £890,000 to fund a package of initiatives
to support people sleeping rough and end rough sleeping, including a Rough Sleeper
Co-ordinator role.

Page

14 of 55

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 252

Appendix A
Supporting rough sleepers
Many people who have been sleeping rough have done so for several years and often
have complex support needs. Our robust Outreach Service enables us to meet the needs
of every individual, visiting rough sleepers regularly and bringing mental and physical
health support directly to them. This greatly increases the likelihood of benefit to the rough
sleeper, as it can be challenging for a rough sleeper to seek out and receive support
through the usual channels.
Our Rough Sleeper Coordinator and the two Porchlight outreach workers work closely with
a number of other agencies including CGL (ChangeGrowLive) who provide substance
misuse support, as well as the Citizens’ Advice Bureau and the National Probation Service,
to provide tailored support for the individual needs of each client. A significant amount of
work may be needed to gain trust and confidence to encourage the person sleeping rough
to move into accommodation, and to be able to fully support their needs, including their
mental and physical health.
Our Housing First scheme has supported 14 former rough sleepers since it began in July
2018. These Housing First properties enable intensive support to be wrapped around
people who have been sleeping rough, helping them to quickly readapt to living in a
property and achieving targets on their journey to living independently.

•

Made a successful bid in 2020/21 to the Government’s Next Steps Accommodation
Programme for housing rough sleepers, to cover:
o Renovation of empty council-owned homes to create six bedspaces for people
recovering from rough sleeping.
o Funding for three bedspaces for ex-offenders in supported housing in
Maidstone.
o Funding for emergency housing.
o Funding for rent deposits.
o Tenancy sustainment support.
o Mental and physical health outreach workers.

Improving housing supply
We have:
•
•

Worked with partners to deliver 313 new affordable homes for rent and 239 homes
built for shared ownership.
Used section 106 monies for Quaker Meeting House refurbishment, and to provide
social rented accommodation in Hawkhurst.

Page

15 of 55

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 253

Appendix A
•
•

Enabled three parish councils to conduct housing needs surveys as part of the
neighbourhood plan development process.
Prepared an Affordable Housing policy for the emerging Local Plan, working with the
Planning Policy team, to ensure a range of housing sizes and types with an emphasis
on the provision of social rented housing.

Improving standards
We funded and promoted financial assistance for home
improvements and energy efficiency by:
•
•

Utilising funding sources to deliver new boilers, insulation, and replacement windows
for 32 households.
Funding Warm homes assistance by enabling 12 households to have measures
installed.

We improved houses in multiple occupation (HMOs) by:
•
•

•
•

Licensing and ensuring licensing conditions were met for 40 HMOs in 2016/17 and
2017/18.
Licensed a further 20 HMOs in 2018, when additional types of HMOs were required to
be licensed, and in 2020 we licensed a further 10, making a total of 70 licenced
HMOs.
Working with the Police, making joint visits to potential HMOs.
Engaging with landlords at twice yearly West Kent Landlords’/National Residential
Landlords’ Association Forum to advise and inform about legislation and policy.

We improved the private sector by:
•

•

Removing over 200 Category 1 hazards which are serious hazards in the home, the
most common being excess cold, dampness and mould growth, electrical safety, fire
safety, and crowding and space requirements.
Working with partners to bring 60 empty homes back into use.

We improved facilities at Cinderhill, our gypsy and traveller site
by:
•
•
•

Replacing site lighting with LED lights, saving money, and improving lighting levels.
Installing a smart meter for each pitch to give the occupants better control over how
they pay for electricity.
Being granted planning permission for three additional pitches for family members.

Page

16 of 55

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 254

Appendix A

Improving wellbeing
We promoted advice and assistance available through national
and local energy efficiency schemes:
•

•
•

Provided advice on Energy Company Obligation (ECO) funding leading to cavity wall
and loft insulation and draught-proofing being installed for 70 households since
November 2018.
Participated in Kent wide Solar Together project, assisting households to apply to
have solar panels installed and battery storage retrofitted.
Referred 30 households to have mains gas installed, to provide gas central heating
and additional insulation.

We expanded advice, opportunities, and assistance to improve
housing conditions with Better Care Fund by:
•

•

•
•

Introduced additional measures in our Housing Assistance Policy to provide hospital
discharge grants (to enable people to return home more quickly), home straight grants
(to assist cleaning and repairs for people with hoarding behaviours), and energy
efficiency assistance (to improve the energy rating of a property).
Setting up the Health and Housing Co-ordinator roles in partnership with Sevenoaks
and Tonbridge and Malling councils, based at Pembury & Maidstone hospitals, to
enable 470 people to be discharged from hospital more quickly, improving their quality
of life and saving NHS resources.
Funding the Handyperson post to support hospital discharge, by fitting key-safes, grab
and banister rails, or moving furniture, helping 308 people.
Funding the innovative Home Straight Co-ordinator role, offering support for 34 people
in 2018/19, 36 people in 2019/20 and 46 people in 2020/21, to address clutter and
hoarding issues and make their homes safer.

Page

17 of 55

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 255

Appendix A
Home Straight project
Home Straight is a service provided by Peabody and supports people with
hoarding behaviours. Many people who have difficulty managing their possessions
can be embarrassed about their home and want to keep services and people away.
Home Straight builds trust by establishing a personalised plan to help the person
declutter, sometimes by working through their belongings themselves, or by
providing a contractor to clear and clean the property, or a combination of these
approaches. Regular visits to help with sorting, setting targets, giving focus and
motivation help the person to manage tasks while maintaining control of the
clearance process. Home Straight continues to work with the person to maintain
the habits and routines that work for them, avoiding a return to hoarding behaviours
in many situations.
Key to changing hoarding behaviours and establishing continued change is
understanding what led to the behaviour and contributed to its persistence, by
making appropriate referrals for support. This may include referrals to mental
health and social services as well as non-statutory services to assist the person to
engage with the community in rewarding ways. All of these interventions help the
person to move forward and increase their resilience. Sometimes it is possible to
help the person redirect the focus of their hoarding behaviour into a pastime in a
community setting, for example craft or horticultural groups.
Home Straight also assists with practical issues and can arrange for Peabody’s
handy-person service to carry out basic repairs and install minor aids and
adaptations.

We delivered a disabled facilities grant service to fund aids and
adaptations by:
•
•

Funding an in-house occupational therapist to enable joined-up working, avoiding
unnecessary delays.
Delivering 374 disabled facilities grants to enable people to remain independent in
their own homes, working in partnership with Kent County Council occupational
therapists, housing associations and the Mid and West Kent home improvement
agency, replacing baths with showers, providing stair-lifts and improving access,
spending over £3.54 million.

Page

18 of 55

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 256

Appendix A
Mid and West Kent home improvement agency
The agency which is run by Peabody provides practical support, advice,
adaptations, small handyperson jobs and information for older or disabled people
to help them to feel safe and independent in their homes.
They play a key role in assisting people to apply for disabled facilities grants which
help with the costs of making changes to their homes, to enable them to continue
to live there. The agency has an in-house surveyor and finds building contractors to
carry out the works and supervises the works, so the older or disabled person does
not have to be involved with what can be quite challenging tasks.
The types of adaptations that people often require are widening doors and
installing ramps, improving access to rooms and facilities for example by installing
stair-lifts, and enabling people to use their bathrooms, often by removing a bath
and installing a flush floor shower.

•
•

Assisting five disabled people with their financial contribution to a disabled facilities
grant, enabling the necessary work to go ahead.
Assisting Town and Country Housing Association with their refurbishment of sheltered
accommodation at Camden Court, by enabling occupational therapy assessments,
and installing showers/shower fittings instead of baths in 18 units.

Syrian refugee resettlement programme
We assisted 11 families under the Home Office Syrian Vulnerable Persons’ Relocation
Scheme, working with Kent County Council, the support organisations Rethink and Clarion,
and the local charity Tunbridge Wells Welcomes Refugees to provide privately rented
furnished homes for vulnerable families. Support has been provided to the families to settle
and feel at home, including support to obtain work and claim benefits, settle children into
school, and how to obtain help with medical issues

Page

19 of 55

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 257

Appendix A

4. Our ambitions for 2021 - 2026
Our four key ambitions for the next five years are:
4.1
4.2
4.3
4.4

Preventing homelessness and ending rough sleeping.
Increasing the supply and choice of affordable homes.
Improving housing and meeting need.
Promoting homes that support health and well-being.

These ambitions are set out in more detail in this part of the Strategy, and within each
ambition, we set out why this is a priority, our current position, and our plans for delivery for
2021 – 2026. Each ambition contains a number of aims, how we will deliver each aim, by
when and the lead officer with responsibility for delivery.

4.1 Preventing homelessness and ending rough
sleeping
Why is this a priority?
The prevention of homelessness is a key national and local priority, and the Homelessness
Reduction Act 2017 has pushed this higher up the agenda, with the result that our Housing
Options team take a proactive approach, undertaking work to help people threatened with
homelessness.
The Homelessness Reduction Act changed our responsibilities in relation to homelessness,
and all applicants who are eligible and homeless or threatened with homelessness must have
an assessment of their case, including:
•

•

•

an assessment of the circumstances that have caused them to become homeless,
their housing needs and the accommodation that would be suitable for them, and the
support that they require to have and sustain accommodation, for the applicant and
their household members.
develop and agree a personalised housing plan with everyone who qualifies for help,
containing the housing options available and the steps both parties will take to prevent
or relieve homelessness.
take reasonable steps to prevent threatened homelessness for anyone who is eligible,
by assisting them to stay in their current accommodation or helping them to find a new
place to live.

Our customers receive a comprehensive service to prevent homelessness and consider
housing options, as we spend longer with them, an approach which includes partnership
working with the voluntary, third and private sectors.

Page

20 of 55

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 258

Appendix A
Our current position
Many homeless households are vulnerable and have complex needs that require additional
support, for example people with mental health needs or experiencing domestic abuse, and
care leavers, so our service provides support to help households sustain tenancies and
prevent them from becoming homeless again.
The reasons for homelessness in 2019 and 2020 were consistently the end of a private
rental, strained relationships with family or friends, relationship breakdown, and domestic
abuse, and there is a growing demand for the Housing Options service.
Emergency accommodation
Emergency accommodation is typically a room in a bed & breakfast with shared facilities for a
single homeless applicant, and self-contained accommodation for homeless families with
children. It can often be outside of the Borough due to lack of local availability, which places
pressure on homeless applicants and can disrupt their employment and their children’s
education, as well as being costly to provide.
We have seen an increase in the numbers of households needing emergency
accommodation over the past two years, although there is some fluctuation. In 2019 the
average number of households in emergency accommodation was 25, and most of these
were families with children. In August 2020, 51 households were in emergency
accommodation, most of whom were single people or couples not in priority need as defined
by homelessness legislation, accommodated due to COVID-19 and the national lockdowns.
Only 14 households were families with children. By November 2020, the number of
households in emergency accommodation had increased to 67, although there was a
decrease by the end of March 2021 to 44 households. In August 2021, 38 households were
in emergency accommodation, seven of these being families with children.
The demand means that we are having to find additional emergency accommodation, and in
2020 there was a marked increase in single people approaching us for help.
The table below shows the changes that have taken place over the past three years in terms
of approaches to us and new households placed in emergency accommodation:
Year

Number of approaches to the
Housing Options team

Number of new households
placed in emergency
accommodation

2018/19

1088

141

2019/20

1303

219

2020/21

1232

269

The increase in new households placed in emergency accommodation in 2020/21 was
largely due to the impact of COVID-19.

Page

21 of 55

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 259

Appendix A
Temporary accommodation
We lease 34 units of temporary accommodation from housing associations in addition to the
25 units at Dowding House, and our Tenancy Officers work with residents to support them to
move onto permanent accommodation. These units are usually fully occupied. The Dowding
House units are managed by our partner Paramount, with a Scheme Manager on site.
Dowding House – preparing for new residents
The Scheme Manager plays a pivotal role in preparing for new residents. This includes the
initial work of sign-ups for the accommodation, assisting with housing benefit applications
and looking at entitlement to other benefits, and helping people to manage financially and
pay the service charge for water and electricity. A lap-top has been donated and the
Manager works with the resident to ensure they have basic on-line skills.
As well as paperwork, there are tasks to prepare the accommodation. New residents are
coming from emergency accommodation so may not have basics like furniture, bedding,
towels, crockery & cutlery, toaster and a kettle. The Manager prepares the room with what
is required, makes up the bed, and ensures the new resident has food. If not, she has built
a good relationship with the nearby food bank.
This is a front facing role, and the Manager needs to make sure residents trust her. She
carries out regular welfare checks, and signposts to a GP or health visitor if necessary.
Many residents have been able to turn their lives round whilst at Dowding House, with the
support of the Manager and an Outreach worker, moving into permanent accommodation.

Our Tenancy Officers work with private landlords to find accommodation, arrange deposit
bonds and deposit loans, negotiate private assured shorthold tenancies, manage temporary
accommodation, and assist customers to move onto permanent accommodation.
Costs of emergency and temporary accommodation
As well as emergency and temporary accommodation being unsuitable, in particular for
families, there is a considerable cost to the Council. In 2020/21 the costs were significantly
impacted by the “Everyone In” initiative, when the Government required all local authorities to
provide housing for every rough sleeper due to COVID-19 to get them off the streets.
Taking into account what we spent, and income received including government grants, the
total net expenditure on emergency and temporary accommodation for the past three years
is:

Page

22 of 55

Year

Net expenditure

2018/19

£254,000

2019/20

£260,000

2020/21

£824,000

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 260

Appendix A
These increased costs are unsustainable at a time when there is pressure across all Council
services and so it is a priority for us to explore other options and find more suitable
accommodation for the people who approach us for help with their housing need.
Impact of COVID-19
The lockdowns in 2020 and 2021 impacted homelessness, predominantly due to family or
friends no longer being able to accommodate people, and an increase in tenants being
served with a notice to quit. As part of the COVID-19 measures, the Government put
emergency legislation into place to ensure that private and social tenants were not evicted.
Landlords were required to serve tenants with six month notice periods, and landlords were
not permitted to send in bailiffs to evict tenants. The ban came to an end on 31 May 2021.
Many private renters struggled to pay rent and have arrears, so are worried about losing their
home, and being unable to find another. The rental market is very competitive which means
that those who are homeless or facing homelessness are likely to find it difficult to secure a
private rental.
Mortgage payment holidays were put into place for landlords whose tenants were
experiencing financial difficulties, but some smaller landlords decided to sell up and leave the
private rented market. The rise in unemployment, and the ending of furlough arrangements,
and the associated impact on the ability to pay rent, has significantly contributed to the
demand on our Housing Options service. In addition to housing advice, people often require
advice on employment and welfare benefits which is provided by our partners.
Rough sleeping
The Government’s rough-sleeping-strategy set out the national vision for halving rough
sleeping by 2022 and ending it by 2027, and more recently, they have stated that they want
to end rough sleeping by the end of 2024. The key elements of the Government Strategy are
prevention, intervention, and recovery.
Rough sleeping is the most extreme form of homelessness and to end it, secure and
affordable housing is needed. Rough sleepers often have complex health and support needs,
including poor physical and mental health, drug and alcohol misuse, lack of family and
personal support, financial exclusion, and sometimes anti-social behaviour. They are
frequently victims of violence and theft. As a result, rough sleepers require a range of coordinated interventions including stable accommodation, and health and clinical support.
The Government’s Rough Sleeping Initiative launched in 2018 and funding was made
available to local authorities. Working with Tonbridge and Malling District Council on joint
projects, we successfully made applications and received the following sums:

Page

23 of 55

Year

Sum

2018/19

£162,840

2019/20

£170,718

2020/21

£260,680

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 261

Appendix A
2021/22

£276,240

Total

£870,478

This has enabled us to provide funding to two specialist organisations who employ staff, and
to develop support initiatives, including a Rough Sleeper Co-ordinator, two Porchlight Rough
Sleeper Outreach workers, two Housing First project workers, and a Supported Lettings
worker. We have also contributed to funding a mental health outreach worker and a complex
care nurse, both of whom work across West Kent. These roles combine to provide an
intensive package of one to one support, from locating and meeting people sleeping rough to
identify their needs and refer them to appropriate health and other services, getting them off
the streets into suitable housing, and on-going support to help sustain tenancies.
Housing First is an approach to providing housing and support which prioritises access to
stable accommodation prior to requiring a homeless person to address any other support
needs s/he might have. This enables people to sustain their accommodation and improve
their health and wellbeing. Our Housing First project provides accommodation for the most
entrenched rough sleepers, with support from staff to manage their finances and to act as a
pathway into other mental health and health services. We aim to have 14 units of
accommodation and to maintain them in the future.
To ensure that we met our responsibilities under the “Everyone In” initiative, we provided
emergency accommodation to single people who were sleeping rough, or at risk of sleeping
rough. We have provided accommodation for 140 individual people or couples who were
sleeping rough since the Initiative commenced, and over 90 of them moved into longer term
accommodation, such as privately renting, supported accommodation, and social housing.
These placements were in addition to accommodation provided for families with children or
single people/couples with priority need under homelessness legislation, which shows the
level of demand that we faced.
Rough sleeping has continued to be a concern in the town centre and during 2020 it was
usual to provide between 15 to 20 rough sleepers with emergency accommodation at any
one time. We carry out annual street counts and in 2017 we found 20 people sleeping rough,
in 2018 there were seven, and in 2019 there were 11. Due to the extensive intervention work
done to provide accommodation for rough sleepers, in particular the “Everyone In” Initiative,
the November 2020 count found no rough sleepers.
The Government announced further funding in 2020 to help local authorities end rough
sleeping, the Next Steps Accommodation Programme, a three year programme starting in
2020/21 and ending in 2022/23, with capital and revenue streams. We made a successful bid
and received both capital and revenue funding. The revenue sums fund emergency housing,
rent deposits, staffing costs for supported lettings workers to help with tenancy sustainment,
and funding for three bed spaces at Pathways to Independence in Maidstone, which provides
supported housing for ex-offenders.
The capital funding of £205,000 received from this Programme was used to set up a
supported accommodation scheme, with three houses owned by the Council in Crescent Rd,
Tunbridge Wells converted to six one bedroom self-contained flats for former rough sleepers

Page

24 of 55

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 262

Appendix A
during the summer 2021. We have contributed £310,000 to the project from section 106
commuted sums from developers for the purpose of providing affordable housing.
The properties are managed by Tunbridge Wells Property Holdings Ltd and let at a social or
affordable rent. People can live in the flats while they receive support to sustain a tenancy,
build a good tenancy history for rehousing through the housing register in future. and help
them into a permanent home. This means that over the 30 year period for the scheme, many
people can be assisted. This type of accommodation is vital to ensure that we can play our
part in ending rough sleeping.
There is a range of rough sleeping support services including the Porchlight outreach service,
and information about them can be found on our website which is regularly updated.

Our plans
A1. Preventing homelessness and supporting households at risk of homelessness
Our Housing Options team provides early support to households facing homelessness, with
the aim of keeping people in their existing homes or finding a new place to live. To enable us
to fulfil this role, we will:
Aim

How we will deliver

By when

Allocated to:

Provide high quality
advice

Review website regularly
and ensure information on
housing options is current,
and regularly updated

Years 1 - 5

Housing Services
Manager

Carry out research to Investigate why people are
establish reasons for becoming homeless
homelessness and
Support households at risk
support households
of homelessness e.g. rent
arrears to build resilience
and prevent them from
losing their homes

Years 1 – 5

Housing Services
Manager

Work with key
partners and
agencies so that a
complete range of
support and advice is
available

Years 1 - 2

Work with CAB to explore
their role in representing
tenants at eviction hearings

Work with CAB on a referrals
route for debt advice and
Years 1 – 2
family mediation to prioritise
residents facing
homelessness
Explore options for landlord
& tenant mediation services

Page

25 of 55

Years 1 - 5

Years 1 - 2

Housing Services
Manager

Housing Services
Manager

Housing Services
Manager

Housing Services
Manager

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 263

Appendix A
Support residents
facing eviction so
they can remain in
their homes

Contact landlords who have
given tenants notice to quit
to prevent tenancies ending
Mediate with family and
friends to prevent
homelessness
Target discretionary housing
payments to people
adversely affected by
COVID-19 and facing
homelessness

Reduce the need for
emergency
accommodation

Manage costs of
emergency
accommodation

Strengthen the
support for victims
experiencing or at
risk of domestic
abuse

Page

26 of 55

Explore private leasing
options with landlords
Consider use of incentive
payments to landlords to
provide tenancies

Years 1 - 5

Years 1 - 5

Years 1 - 2

Years 2 - 5

Years 2 - 3

Housing Services
Manager

Housing Services
Manager

Housing Services
Manager

Housing Services
Manager
Housing Services
Manager

Explore guaranteed rent
arrangements and landlord
insurance

Years 2 – 3

Provide a package of
tenancy support and
quarterly property
inspections

Years 2 - 3

Housing Services
Manager

Procurement with Maidstone
and Swale councils to tender
for emergency
accommodation across all
three areas to ensure
consistent costs

Years 1 - 2

Housing Services
Manager

Proactively manage
placements to ensure
reasons for homelessness
are investigated, and
benefits are maximised to
cover costs

Years 1 - 5

Implement the Domestic
Abuse Act 2021 specifically
the duty to provide support
to victims and their children
within refuges and other safe

Years 1 – 5

Housing Services
Manager

Housing Services
Manager

Housing Services
Manager

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 264

Appendix A
accommodation, and provide
housing related advice and
support
Participate in the multiagency Domestic Abuse
Local Partnership Board

Years 1 - 5

Housing Services
Manager

A2. Ending rough sleeping
We will work with partners to end rough sleeping, with these measures:
Aim

How we will deliver

By when

Allocated to:

Provide emergency
housing for rough
sleepers

Submit bids to Next Steps
Accommodation programme

Years 1 - 2

Housing Services
Manager

Provide a support
package for rough
sleepers, to address
mental and physical
health problems and
drug and alcohol
issues

Submit bids to Rough
Sleeping Initiative to
maintain support package
and outreach work

Years 1 - 5

Housing Services
Manager

Deliver the Ending
rough sleeping plan

Continue with work to
prevent homelessness

Years 1 – 2

Housing Services
Manager

Explore crash pad provision
and direct access
accommodation with the
Bridge Trust

Years 1 – 2

Housing Services
Manager

Explore peer mentoring with
Tunbridge Wells Churches
and Mosaic centre

Years 1 - 2

Housing Services
Manager

A3. Working with private sector landlords to house homeless and at risk households
The private rented sector is an important part of our local housing market and we have been
developing relationships with private landlords and negotiating tenancies for homeless
households. We will build on this by:
Aim

How we will deliver

By when

Allocated to:

Increase numbers of
private rented
homes available for

Continue with rent deposit
bond and deposit loan
scheme

Years 1 – 5

Housing Services
Manager

Page

27 of 55

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 265

Appendix A
Housing Options
team referrals

Contact private landlords via
the Housing benefits system

Progress options for the
council to act as a rent
guarantor for low income
families

Years 1 - 5

Years 1 - 2

Housing Services
Manager

Housing Services
Manager

Explore long term
private rentals
funded through
investment
company, with the
council having
nomination rights
and owning the
property after 25
years

Investigate options

Years 2 - 3

Obtain approval to progress

Years 2 - 3

Identify suitable property
management company to
provide accommodation

Years 3 - 4

Work with private
landlords to provide
at least 5 units of
accommodation for
Afghan citizens

Communications and direct
contact with landlords and
letting agents to locate
properties

Years 1 – 2

Housing Services
Manager

Ensure properties meet all
relevant safety standards

Years 1 – 2

Housing Services
Manager

Ensure support provided for
families

Years 1 - 2

Housing Services
Manager
Housing Services
Manager

Housing Services
Manager

Housing Services
Manager

A4. Moving homeless households onto permanent homes
Temporary and emergency accommodation is usually suitable for the short-term only, and so
we aim to assist homeless households to move onto permanent homes. Our plans are to:
Aim

How we will deliver

By when

Allocated to:

Provide low cost and
sustainable
temporary
accommodation

Work in partnership with
Housing associations to
lease additional
accommodation

Years 1 – 5

Housing Services
Manager

Evaluate need and consider
options to purchase
additional temporary
accommodation

Years 1 - 5

Page

28 of 55

Housing Services
Manager

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 266

Appendix A
Identify homes for
those currently living
in temporary
accommodation

Develop a strategy
for intentionally
homeless
households

Tenancy officers to work with Years 1 – 5
landlords to identify suitable
homes to enable people to
move out of temporary
accommodation

Housing Services
Manager

Promote tenancy
sustainment service to
encourage landlords to let
properties to homeless
families

Housing Services
Manager

Investigate options for
finding accommodation for
harder to house households

Years 1 - 5

Years 2 - 5

Housing Services
Manager

4.2 Increasing the supply and choice of affordable
homes
Why is this a priority?
The national situation
In September 2020, the Government announced a £11.5 billion Affordable Homes
Programme, including homes for social rent. In November 2020 they issued a White Paper
“The charter for social housing residents”, setting out their plans to increase the supply of
affordable homes, affordable home ownership, and a right to shared ownership where
residents can purchase a 10% or more stake in their homes. Around half of all new affordable
homes are delivered through developer contributions which are negotiated as part of the
planning system.
Affordable housing includes social rented, affordable rented, starter homes and intermediate
housing (principally shared ownership) and discounted market sales. It is provided for eligible
households whose needs are not met by the market.
The local situation
Rising household numbers together with an ageing population means we will need to
continue to provide a mix of housing types and sizes and tenures. Proximity to London &
ease of travel makes the area attractive and the relatively high property values continue to
increase. Home ownership is out of reach for many in particular lower and middle income
households, despite low unemployment in the borough compared to Kent and the South east,
and above average incomes.

Page

29 of 55

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 267

Appendix A
A review titled “Affordable housing needs in the context of First Homes” was conducted in
February 2021 as part of the work undertaken for the emerging Local Plan, to explore this
situation in more depth. First Homes are a specific kind of discounted market sale housing
which has been introduced through an update to the Planning Practice Guidance in May
2021. This review provided an analysis of Land Registry data for the year to September
2020, which suggests that the entry level cost of buying a flat starts at £190,000 and rises to
over £500,000 for a detached home, with the “average” price for all dwelling types being
£276,000. For the year to September 2021, the average price for all types of property is
£400,000 (as of July 2021, the Land Registry data shows the average house price in the UK
to be £255,535). The situation is just as challenging for renters in the private sector, where
analysis of Office of National Statistics (ONS) data shows an average cost of £795 per
month.
The Affordable housing needs review goes on to look at the range of incomes in the Borough
estimating that around 10% of households have an income in excess of £120,000. The
median income is £42,900 per annum, with a lower quartile figure of £24,800. Households
would need an income of around £55,200 per annum to afford to buy a home, and £30,300 to
afford to rent. The notable gap between these income requirements means that households
who fall between will potentially have a need for affordable home ownership which going
forward will include First Homes, and further work is being undertaken to support planmaking and decision-making.
The implications of COVID-19 on the need for affordable housing are not yet clear, however,
rising unemployment is very likely to place additional pressure on the need for affordable
housing, particularly rented housing.
Challenges to our ability to deliver more housing include:
•
•
•
•

high land values with land supply constrained by Green Belt and AONB restrictions.
funding from Homes England (formerly the Homes and Communities Agency) has an
emphasis on home ownership, with more limited resources for new rented housing.
the impact of right to acquire for housing association tenants, potentially reducing the
available social housing stock in future years.
a mis-match between housing association stock and housing need.

We need to continue with development especially houses, develop and increase the range of
housing and support products for older people and to deliver additional affordable housing to
help offset identified net shortfalls.
We recognise the need to preserve rural communities and enable local people on modest
incomes to remain in, or move back to, the community in which they already live or work, or
where they have strong local connections. This supports the local economy and sustains
services to the benefit of the community. We work in partnership with parish and town
councils as well as Rural Kent - Action with Communities, to undertake housing needs
surveys, identifying the need for new homes and working together to find solutions.

Page

30 of 55

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 268

Appendix A
Our current position
The emerging Local Plan (once adopted) sets out our housing need as a minimum of 678
dwellings per year until 2038. Within this total, there is a relatively high need for affordable
housing. This situation is expected to continue, so the emerging (submission version) Local
Plan will look to maximise supply. Policy H3 Affordable Housing contains more detail on what
is required and how it will be delivered.
We have set a relatively high affordable housing requirement for sites of more than nine
dwellings, which is 40% for greenfield sites and 30% for brownfield sites, and by having a low
threshold in terms of the size of developments that the threshold applies to. The general
approach is that 60% will be provided for social rent, with the remaining 40% being
intermediate tenures. In addition, both in recognition of the affordability issues in the AONB
and the smaller scale of many developments there, financial contributions towards affordable
housing from schemes of between six and nine dwellings are sought, equivalent to 20%
affordable housing for greenfield sites and 15% for brownfield sites.
Affordable housing is normally provided and managed by registered providers (this includes
not for profit housing associations and for profit organisations) and should be mainly available
for social rent on the majority of sites. All affordable housing will need to be built to accessible
and adaptable standards as set out in the Building Regulation Standard Part M4 (2), apart
from the proportion that is wheelchair adaptable or accessible as set out in Part M4 (3).
The Government promotes other forms of affordable housing through registered providers
and help to buy equity loans and shared ownership are available through the South East
Help to buy agent helptobuyagent3
Housing for older people
The emerging (submission version) Local Plan will seek to meet the housing needs of older
people (defined as being over the age of 65 years) by encouraging the delivery of housing
through planning applications and as part of a mixed use scheme. Policy H6 Housing for
Older People and People with Disabilities includes the need to consider specific types of
accommodation such as residential nursing care, end of life, hospice care, and dementia
care homes, as well as self-contained accommodation, sheltered accommodation, extra care
accommodation, assisted living, close care and continuing care.
Community support networks are recognised as being helpful and so housing needs to be
provided in all areas, including rural areas, to ensure older people can remain in their
communities, along with the need to be close to local services in particular shops, healthcare,
social/community facilities, and/or regular bus routes. Homes will need to be accessible and
adaptable for the future needs of residents, and accommodation suitable for people with
dementia will be increasingly required.
Reducing carbon emissions
Climate change is a major issue at both a national and local level, and the Government’s
current legally binding target is to reduce all greenhouse gas emissions to net zero by 2050.
Net zero means that emissions that cannot be eradicated would be offset by an equivalent

Page

31 of 55

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 269

Appendix A
amount of greenhouse gases with schemes such as planting trees or carbon capture and
storage.
We have recognised the need to take a firm lead on reducing carbon emissions in our own
operations, services and buildings and in 2019 we declared a Climate Emergency setting an
ambition to make the borough carbon neutral by 2030, and a summary can be found by
following this link climate-change We are looking at the actions that we need to take to
address this emergency including how the wider community including businesses,
organisations and individuals can be encouraged to make contributions to meeting the goal
to make the Borough carbon neutral by 2030.
The policies contained within the emerging (submission version) Local Plan seek to support
carbon reduction and the transition to a low carbon future, reducing the ecological and
carbon footprint of development, seeking to achieve sustainable construction methods and
the use of responsibly sourced and low environmental impact building materials to reduce
waste and resources. New regulations and building standards will be enforced through the
planning system.
The Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy 2020 sets out how we will, in
partnership with Kent County Council and the other councils in Kent, respond to the UK
climate emergency and drive clean, resilient economic recovery across the county. Priority
themes with relevance to housing relate to planning and development, a building retrofit
programme, and renewable energy generation.
The Government’s Future Homes Standard sets out a plan to radically improve the energy
performance of new homes, which will need to be highly energy efficient with low carbon
heating systems and zero carbon ready, for implementation from 2025. These homes are
expected to produce 75 – 80% lower carbon emissions compared to current levels. As a first
step, from 2022, all new homes are expected to produce 31% lower carbon emissions as part
of an interim uplift.
This Strategy recognises the importance of promoting low and zero carbon homes, and
sustainable development. In the Borough, approximately one-third of carbon emissions come
from residential property, so taking steps to reduce these plays a significant role in meeting
wider sustainability objectives and targets.

Our plans
B1. Maximising delivery of new affordable homes to meet housing need
These actions will enable us to deliver new affordable homes and to monitor progress with
our targets:
Aim

How we will deliver

By when

Allocated to:

Maximise the
provision of
affordable homes in

Monitor and support delivery
of Local Plan target for 40%
affordable homes on larger

Years 1 – 5

Housing Services
Manager/Head of
Planning

Page

32 of 55

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 270

Appendix A
line with the Local
Plan

greenfield sites and 30% on
brownfield sites
Support developers to
design schemes that deliver
affordable housing quotas,
including liaison with
registered providers and by
identifying the size and type
of accommodation required
by people on the housing
register

Years 1 – 5

Maximise delivery of
Years 1 - 5
affordable homes in the
AONB, including through
financial contributions on
smaller (six – nine dwellings)
schemes and exception sites
Develop affordable
housing for residents
on the housing
register

Prioritise new
affordable homes for
rent

Monitor delivery and review
the housing needs of all
residents to ensure they are
being met, including those
with disabilities or long-term
health conditions

Years 1 - 5

Explore options for setting
up an Affordable Housing
company

Years 3 - 5

Negotiation with developers
and registered providers and
explore setting up local
forum

Years 1 – 5

Use commuted sums to
subsidise social rented
housing

Years 1 - 5

Housing Services
Manager/Head of
Planning

Head of Planning

Housing Services
Manager

Housing Services
Manager

Housing Services
Manager

Head of Planning

B2. Delivering low carbon and environmentally sustainable homes
These actions will enable us to ensure we meet current environmental standards, and that
carbon neutral and environmentally sustainable homes are delivered:
Aim

How we will deliver

Reduce impact of
new build schemes

Work with local developers to Years 1 – 5
facilitate low and zero carbon

Page

33 of 55

By when

Allocated to:
Head of Planning

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 271

Appendix A
on the environment
through planning
policy and
development
management

development and
technologies
Ensure public transport
options are integrated into
scheme planning and full
provision is made for EV
charging points

Years 1 – 5

Head of Planning

Set sustainable
design standards
and ensure delivery
of low carbon
measures by private
developers

Local Plan policies will seek
to deliver measures:

Years 1 - 5

Head of Planning

•
•

•
•

that support and
enhance biodiversity
improve the thermal
and acoustic
performance
support renewable
energy generation
retrofit existing
buildings

4.3 Improving housing and meeting need
Why is this a priority?
Good quality housing positively impacts on health, wellbeing, and life expectancy, and poor
housing has detrimental effects on education, health and crime. We have a thriving private
rented sector and for many, privately renting is an effective solution to housing needs,
particularly for younger mobile households who need flexibility or who only intend to rent for
short periods of time. It works less well for those wanting longer term tenancies such as
families and older residents. The sector has expanded in recent years and rents have risen
significantly, which means that private renting is becoming out of reach for many lower
income households, so it is important to make best use of our existing homes.
Our Private Sector Housing team ensures that standards are maintained and improved
across all tenures in particular the private rented sector and works to remove hazards and
licence houses in multiple occupation. Recently there have been some legislative changes
which have assisted us to improve standards:
•

•

Rented accommodation (privately or from a housing association) must be fit for human
habitation - safe, healthy and free from things that could cause serious harm. Tenants
can take their landlords to court if their accommodation does not meet this standard.
Extension of the mandatory HMO licensing scheme to smaller properties.

Page

34 of 55

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 272

Appendix A
•
•
•

Powers to issue financial penalty notices for certain Housing Act 2004 offences as an
alternative to prosecution.
A database of rogue landlords and property agents.
Properties in the private rented sector must have an Energy Performance certificate
with a rating of at least Band E (and there are proposals to raise this to C).

Our Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy 2021 – 2026 sets out our approach to
improving standards. We actively work with businesses to advise and assist on compliance,
but we will take enforcement action if necessary. The policy can be found by following this
link Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy 2021-2026

Our current position
Private sector stock condition survey
In 2020, we commissioned the Building Research Establishment (BRE) to carry out a private
sector stock condition survey, which was delivered by stock modelling and database
information. This has provided a resource to enable us to take a proactive and targeted
approach to improving housing in terms of identifying:
•
•
•

dwellings in the private sector with category 1 Housing Health and Safety Rating
System hazards (HHSRS), the most common hazards being excess cold and falls.
dwellings with an EPC rating of F or G.
potential HMOs which may require mandatory licensing.

We will use the survey information to identify and investigate poor housing and unsafe living
conditions.
Barriers to the private rented sector
Barriers for people wishing to access the private rented sector include the requirement to
meet income thresholds set by letting agents together with upfront costs such as one month’s
rent in advance, deposits and administration fees. A further barrier is Universal Credit where
the housing subsidy is paid directly to residents meaning that some landlords are more
reluctant to accept tenants who receive benefits.
Affordability is an issue, impacted by Local Housing Allowance (LHA), which is the rate that
determines the maximum amount of housing benefit that is payable in a particular locality for
each property size. Most of the Tunbridge Wells borough is in the High Weald LHA area
although there are a few parts in the Ashford LHA area. For example, a two bedroom
property currently has a LHA cap of £207.12per week in High Weald, and the rent for many
two bedroom properties is higher than that, making access to the private rented sector
difficult for those reliant on help with their rent.
Access to social housing
We no longer own any housing stock, and social housing is provided by registered providers
formerly known as housing associations. The main provider of social housing is Town and

Page

35 of 55

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 273

Appendix A
Country Housing, and other registered providers that work in the borough include Moat, Orbit,
and West Kent Housing
To apply for social housing, households and individuals will need to register with us, and to
be eligible, they will need to have a housing need and meet the criteria in the housing register
allocation policy
Housing register statistics represent an important source of information with regard to
housing need. There can be an imbalance in demand, for example, the greatest demand is
for one and two bedroom units and the supply of available housing does not match this.
A snapshot of the housing register position was taken on 31 July 2020 and is shown in Chart
1 below, with the reason for the application by bedroom size.
C H AR T 1 R E AS O N S F O R AP P L I C AT I O N T O T H E
HOUSING REGISTER
1 bed

2 bed

3 bed

4 bed

200
180
160
140
120
100
80
60
40
20
0

For one bedroom properties, the principal reasons are a high or a low medical or welfare
need, moving on from supported housing or of no fixed abode. For two, three and four
bedroom properties, the reasons are overwhelmingly overcrowding.
The ethnic origin of applicant registered for housing on that same date was as follows:
Ethnic origin
Arab
Asian or Asian British
Black or Black British

Page

36 of 55

Number of applicants
1
51
21

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 274

Appendix A
Gypsy or traveller
Mixed other
Mixed White and Asian
Mixed White and Black
Not Stated
Other
Prefer not to say
White British
White Irish
White other

13
4
3
11
35
10
3
679
3
67

Most of those on the register (75%) describe themselves as White British, with a further 10%
describing themselves as White other, and 5% as Asian or Asian British.
In terms of the total number of households on the housing register, the number has remained
fairly constant. However during 2019/20, this figure started to increase as shown in Chart 2,
which also shows the numbers of households that we have been able to house over the past
three years:
CHART 2 HO US E HO LDS O N RE G I S TE R AND
P RO P E RTI E S LE T
Properties let

2018/19

2019/20

225

895
239

311

887

929

Households on register

2020/21

Demand for different property sizes varies, with most demand being for one or two
bedrooms. Chart 3 shows the demand compared to what we have let in the past year.

Page

37 of 55

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 275

Appendix A
CHART 3 DEMAND FOR PROPERTIES AND
NUMBERS LET
Properties let

3

52

31

123

135

225

301

342

Number of applicants

ONE BED

TWO BED

THREE BED

FOUR BED

The average time to be rehoused has increased, and in December 2020 it was:
•
•
•
•

One bedroom – one year to 18 months
Two bedrooms – over two and a half years
Three bedrooms – three years
Four bedrooms – little data due to limited availability but at least four years

Historically demand was greatest for 2 bedroom units, but it has recently increased for 1
bedroom units.
The need for more affordable homes for rent in the borough is evident, and whilst the impact
of the right to acquire social housing has not affected stock levels dramatically to date, it may
impact availability in the future.
Energy efficiency and fuel poverty
Energy efficiency and fuel poverty remain key challenges across all tenures, and particularly
impact lower income homes. Benefit caps and rising housing costs place additional strain on
household budgets, as well as the increases to the cost of fuel, leading to difficulties in
paying bills, and so reducing energy costs and enabling warmer homes for low income
households becomes a greater priority.
Since April 2020, landlords can no longer let or continue to let properties with an energy
performance certificate (EPC) below E unless they have a valid exemption. It is the landlord’s
responsibility to fund energy efficiency improvements of up to £3,500 and the EPC will
include a list of recommendations for example insulation and draft-proofing, which will have a
beneficial impact in terms of making the home warmer and reducing fuel bills. The
Government has consulted on a proposal to raise the minimum EPC level to C, as well as
consulting on a Future Buildings Standard with proposals to improve existing housing,

Page

38 of 55

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 276

Appendix A
including building work meeting new standards and measures to tackle over-heating and
drive down costly bills for families.
The independent Climate Change Committee which advises the UK, reported in October
2021 that housing accounts for about 14% of the UK's greenhouse-gas emissions, mostly
because of gas-boiler heating systems and poor insulation. Retro-fitting of insulation and the
provision of low carbon heating measures are essential if the UK is to significantly cut carbon
emissions to meet the net zero target for greenhouse gas emissions by 2050.
New technologies have been developed and currently these are heat pumps, and the future
use of hydrogen although this is of course dependent on supply to homes. Heat pumps
transfer heat from the ground, air or water around a property into its heating system, powered
by electricity, so provide greener heating. The current costs of a heat pump are between
£6,000 - £18,000 depending on the size of the property, significantly more than a
replacement gas boiler which starts at £2,500. These new technologies are out of the price
range for many, however, it is anticipated that prices will decrease over the years to become
more affordable. The Government has committed to installing 600,000 heat pumps a year by
2028 and announced in October 2021 that no gas boilers will be sold after 2035. From April
2022, grants of £5,000 will be available for homeowners to install a heat pump and £450m
has been allocated by the Government for this programme over the next three years.
We will continue to ensure that we maintain our awareness of government funding initiatives,
and submit bids for funding, so that residents can access retro-fitting for insulation and low
carbon heating measures where the relevant criteria are met.

Our plans
C1. Shaping a thriving, high standard private rented sector
Our actions will maintain and improve standards for tenants and work with landlords to
deliver a thriving private rented sector, by:
Aim

How we will deliver

By when

Allocated to:

Raise standards in
the private rented
sector

Reduce Category 1 hazards
by carrying out Housing
Health and Safety Rating
system (HHSRS)
assessments and taking
enforcement action

Years 1 – 5

Private Sector
Housing Manager

Years 1 – 5

Private Sector
Housing Manager

Participate in review of
HHSRS and update relevant
policies and documentation
to reflect changes
Use the BRE report and
other data sources to carry

Page

39 of 55

Years 1 - 5

Private Sector
Housing Manager

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 277

Appendix A
out proactive work to
improve standards
Ensure all HMOs
that require licensing
meet relevant
standards

Undertake licensing of HMOs Years 1 - 5
& carry out inspections to
ensure compliance with
standards and proactive
work to identify HMOs that
require licensing

Private Sector
Housing Manager

Work with
businesses to
improve the private
rented sector

Attend and participate in the
West Kent
Landlords’/National
Residential Landlords’
Association Forum to advise
and inform about new and
emerging legislation and
policy

Years 1 – 5

Private Sector
Housing Manager

Keep businesses fully
informed about changes to
legislation and policy,
including updates to the web
site

Years 1 - 5

Private Sector
Housing Manager

C2. Bringing long term empty homes back into use
We will work with the owners of long term empty homes to encourage them to bring them
back into use, by:
Aim

How we will deliver

Work with owners of
empty homes to
make them available
and assist with
housing supply

Implement our Empty Homes Years 1 - 5
Policy 2018 – 2023 to
include:

Page

40 of 55

Information, support, and
advice for owners and
enforcement action when
required

By when

Years 1 – 5

Financial assistance and
loans, including Kent No Use
Empty loans

Years 1 – 5

Review Policy and adopt
new Policy 2023 - 2028

Year 2 - 3

Allocated to:
Private Sector
Housing Manager

Private Sector
Housing Manager

Private Sector
Housing Manager

Private Sector
Housing Manager

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 278

Appendix A
C3. Making best use of social rented housing
We plan to ensure that social rented homes are available to households in the most housing
need, and we will do this by:
Aim

How we will deliver

By when

Allocated to:

Monitor housing
register applications
and allocations to
assess number of
vacancies and
housing need

Review banding system to
address needs of
households living with
complex disabilities and
other long term health
conditions

Years 1 - 2

Housing Services
Manager

Review the Housing
register allocations
policy and adopt
new policy

Ensure alignment with
Homelessness Reduction
Act

Years 2 - 3

Housing Services
Manager

Work with registered
providers to align allocation
policies

C4. Reducing the environmental impact of homes
We will ensure we provide advice and information on our website to assist owners and
landlords to access information on new technologies, and current national and local
schemes, by:
Aim

How we will deliver

By when

Allocated to:

Promote and
encourage the
adoption of low
carbon measures to
reduce carbon
emissions

Promote access to national
and regional funding
opportunities, working with
partners and registered
industry providers to procure
discounted purchasing for
PV panels and other
low/zero carbon technology
and water saving technology

Years 1 – 5

Private Sector
Housing Manager

Ensure web content is
updated with links to Simple Years 1- 5
Energy Advice (Government
agency) and other agencies
to keep residents informed of
new initiatives

Page

41 of 55

Private Sector
Housing Manager

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 279

Appendix A
Improve the energy
efficiency of private
rented housing

Take action to raise Energy
Performance Assessments
(EPCs) of properties to E

Years 1 - 3

Private Sector
Housing Manager

Monitor status of BEIS
consultation and take action
to raise Energy Performance
Assessments for:
•
•

new tenancies to C
existing tenancies to
C

Year 4 (2025)
2028

Promote collective
switching

Enable residents to
participate in the Energy
Deal Scheme (suppliers bid
with 100% renewable energy
three times a year)

Years 1 - 5

Sustainability
Manager

Enable households
to access energy
efficient and
economic forms of
power and retrofitting programmes

Review new national and
local initiatives and promote
to residents

Years 1 - 5

Private Sector
Housing Manager

4.4 Promoting homes that sustain health and
wellbeing
Why is this a priority?
Since the Marmot Review report on Health Equity in England in 2010 and the Ten Years On
review in 2020, research on the relationship between poor housing conditions and health has
expanded. Poor quality housing harms health, and evidence shows that exposure to poor
housing conditions (including damp, mould, cold and noise) is strongly associated with both
poor physical and mental health. The longer the exposure to poor conditions, the greater the
impact on physical and mental health. Specific physical effects are respiratory conditions,
cardiovascular disease, communicable diseases, and mortality.
In terms of mental health impacts, living in non-decent, cold or overcrowded housing and
unaffordable housing has been associated with increased stress, a reduction in control over
one’s life, depression and anxiety. Children living in overcrowded homes are more likely to be
stressed, anxious, depressed, have poorer physical health, attain less well at school, with a
greater likelihood of behavioural problems.

Page

42 of 55

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 280

Appendix A
In their study on the impact of housing problems on mental health in 2017, Shelter reported
that 21 per cent of adults in England said that a housing issue had negatively affected their
mental health, and housing affordability was most frequently stated as the reason. Falling into
arrears with housing payments and not being able to afford decent housing increases stress,
blood pressure and hypertension, depression, and anxiety. Housing costs including privately
renting have significantly increased since 2010 and impacts are clearly greater for lower
income households, pushing families into poverty or deeper into poverty. Universal credit is
slow to respond to changing circumstances and when people lose work, rent arrears can
build up. Rising levels of poverty amongst working and non-working households have led to
increased use of food banks and raised levels of evictions.
A healthy home is one that is affordable and secure and provides for all household needs.
Occupants need to feel comfortable and safe and there needs to be strong connections to
the local community, services, work, and education.
Poor housing conditions present a greater risk to the health of older and disabled people, and
people with long term health conditions. An ageing population leads to a greater need to
integrate and align housing, health, and care services with the aim of keeping residents in
their homes. The Government’s “Improving health and care through the home: memorandum
of understanding” published in 2018 brought together over 25 stakeholders to give a renewed
commitment to joint action across the health, social care and housing sectors.
Safe accessible housing can maintain or improve health and wellbeing and greatly improve
quality of life, especially as people grow older. As the number of people over 50 increases, so
does the proportion of the population with disability, accessibility, and mobility requirements.
Kent Public Health Observatory produces health and social care maps at ward level, and with
regards to Tunbridge Wells Borough Council, key issues are:
•
•

in 2017 of those aged 65+, 44% have two or more long term conditions.
in 2018/19, there were 602 admissions to hospital for falls.

Minor repairs, as well as minor and major home adaptations, are effective interventions for
preventing falls and injuries, and improving the performance of everyday activities and mental
health. Future proofing housing stock to meet the needs of an ageing population means
people will be able to remain independent, safe, and well in their homes for longer. Housing,
health and social care needs to be connected in ways that improve older people’s quality of
life in terms of delivering a diverse range of housing options and providing services to help to
maintain both health and independence. We participate in the regular Kent and Medway
Clinical Commissioning Group Multi-disciplinary team meetings which identifies adults who
require support from a range of health and social care professionals, providing an integrated,
holistic and patient centred approach to their needs.

Our current position
Partnership working to share best practice, identify areas for joint working and agree positive
objectives for housing is well established in Kent. We are a member of the Kent Housing
Group, a forum for housing organisations, with representatives from all Kent local authorities,
housing associations, Homes England, National Residential Landlords’ Association, Kent

Page

43 of 55

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 281

Appendix A
Developers’ Group, Kent Planning Officers’ Group, Kent Public Health and the South East
Local Enterprise Partnership. Key aims are to:
•
•
•

strategically shape and set the housing agenda.
work together to improve the supply and quality of affordable homes.
create sustainable communities for Kent.

The over-arching Kent Housing Group has sub-groups, including the Housing, Health and
Social Care Sub-Group, which is a forum for housing organisations, NHS, public health, and
social care to take an overview of how we can work together to promote healthy places,
communities, and the health and wellbeing of individuals. The key objectives are to promote
good health and prevent ill-health, and to encourage organisations to work together to create
healthier communities.
The Better Care Fund provides financial support for councils and NHS organisations to jointly
plan and deliver integrated services to cover health, social care, and housing, to prevent illhealth and avoid unnecessary hospital admissions. We use this funding to provide disabled
facilities grants to enable disabled people to live independently in their own homes, and to
provide a package of grants and financial assistance to repair, improve or provide energy
efficient measures to private sector housing, meeting local need and addressing emerging
need. The grants and assistance are set out in our Housing Assistance Policy 2021-2026

Government’s Charter for social housing residents
We are mindful of the Government’s Charter for social housing residents, and that every
social housing resident should be able to expect:
1. To be safe in their home – the Government will work with industry and landlords to
ensure every home is safe and secure.
2. To know how their landlord is performing, including on repairs, complaints and safety,
and how it spends its money, so it can be held to account.
3. To have complaints dealt with promptly and fairly, with access to a strong ombudsman
who will provide swift and fair redress when needed.
4. To be treated with respect, backed by a strong consumer regulator and improved
consumer standards for tenants.
5. To have their voice heard by their landlord, for example through regular meetings,
scrutiny panels or being on its Board.
6. To have a good quality home and neighbourhood to live in, with landlords keeping
homes in good repair.
7. To be supported to take first steps to ownership, so it is a ladder to other opportunities.
The role of the Regulator for Social Housing is to create a strong, proactive consumer
regulatory regime, strengthening the formal standards against which social landlords are
regulated, and requiring them to be transparent about their performance and decisionmaking, put things right when they go wrong and listen to tenants through effective
engagement.

Page

44 of 55

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 282

Appendix A
Our plans
D1. Shaping the housing stock
We will take steps to ensure that homes meet the needs of residents, and we will:
Aim

How we will deliver

By when

Allocated to:

Ensure housing
provision aligns with
forecast change in
needs of residents

Monitor changing needs

Years 1 - 5

Housing Services
Manager

Explore solutions for high
needs households, including
those with children with
complex needs and
disabilities

Years 1 - 5

Housing Services
Manager

New homes to meet
Accessible Homes Standard

Years 1 - 5

Head of Planning

Work with registered Meet with registered
providers on their
providers to review repairing
obligations under the obligations
Charter for social
housing residents

Years 1 - 5

Housing Services
Manager

Promote design
standards for new
homes that support
independent living

D2. Supporting and maintaining the independence of residents
We will take steps to support independent living, working with partners, by:
Aim

How we will deliver

By when

Allocated to:

Maximise use of
Better Care Fund to
deliver disabled
facilities grants and
other grants and
assistance

Prioritise Better Care funding
and specifically disabled
facilities grants to support
independent living for elderly
and disabled households

Years 1 - 5

Private Sector
Housing Manager

Explore using the
Better Care Fund to
support people with
dementia

Work with partners to deliver
dementia friendly equipment

Year 2

Private Sector
Housing Manager

Page

45 of 55

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 283

Appendix A
Promote schemes
for resident safety

Make referrals to Kent Fire &
Rescue Service Safe and
Well Scheme to promote fire
safety

Years 1 – 5

Install automatic door
openers to all flats at Bowles
Lodge extra care facility.

Year 1 - 2

Private Sector
Housing Manager

Private Sector
Housing Manager

D3. Developing integrated housing, health, and care strategies
We will work with partners across Kent to tackle health inequalities and the demand on health
and care services by improving access to high quality housing:
Aim

How we will deliver

By when

Allocated to:

Develop joint
strategies that align
approaches to
housing and health,
promoting good
health and
preventing ill-health

Work with Housing, Health
and Social Care sub-group
to research local and
national models, share good
practice and develop
guidance and advice to
include:

Years 1- 5

Housing Services
Manager/Private
Sector Housing
Manager

Make referrals to Live Well
Kent (delivered by Porchlight
& Shaw Trust on behalf of
Kent County Council and the
NHS) who provide mental
health housing related
support

Year 1

Housing Services
Manager

Enable supported housing
providers to deliver
appropriate accommodation

Year 1 – 5

Housing Services
Manager

•
•
•
•
•

Further develop
partnerships to
support people with
housing and health
needs

hospital discharge
preventing delayed
transfers of care
use of DFGs
extra care
assistive moving on
schemes, downsizing
and mutual
exchanges

Participate in multidisciplinary team meetings,

Page

46 of 55

Years 1 – 5

Private Sector
Housing Manager

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 284

Appendix A
referring people to
appropriate housing services

Years 1- 5

Promote One You Kent

Private Sector
Housing Manager

5 Putting our plans into place
Monitoring, evaluation and review of the Strategy will be carried out by the Housing Advisory
Panel bi-annually to ensure that our priorities remain in the right direction and reflect local
and national priorities. The panel consists of six councillors, including the Portfolio holder for
Communities and Wellbeing who has responsibility for housing.
We have undertaken an equality impact assessment and we will review this every six months
alongside the Strategy to ensure that our services can be accessed by all members of the
community, with particular relevance to people with protected characteristics, and that we
meet our public sector equality duty.
The action plans set out when we will undertake our aims.
Year 1 is 2021/22
Year 2 is 2022/23
Year 3 is 2023/24
Year 4 is 2024/25
Year 5 is 2025/26

Page

47 of 55

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 285

Appendix A

Appendix 1: Local policy and
supporting information
Several key strategies and policies are relevant to housing in the Tunbridge Wells borough,
along with a wide range of supporting evidence, which link into and inform this Strategy. The
key ones are:

Local Plan
The role of the Local Plan is to set out the spatial vision and strategic objectives for the
borough, as well as the development strategy to meet those objectives. It aims to strike a
balance between the growth to meet current and future housing needs and safeguarding our
important natural and historic environments.
The emerging (submission version) Local Plan once adopted, will provide the basis for
determining the suitability of development proposals across the borough for a 15 year period
to 2038, and reflects the increased levels of housing need, in particular the need for
affordable housing and private rented housing. It takes into account the housing needs of
older people, people with disabilities, gypsies and travellers, and the need for custom and
self-building opportunities, and for a proportion of smaller housing sites.
The Local Plan is currently at the examination stage. Consultation took place in Autumn
2019, and in 2021, ahead of formal examination by the Planning Inspectorate in 2022. It is
anticipated that the emerging Local Plan will be adopted in early 2023.
The Government’s proposals in the White Paper “Planning for the future – consultation on
proposals for reform of the planning system in England” will have an impact, because of
constraints on where development can occur, for example the Green Belt, leading to
pressures on specific areas in the borough.

Gypsy and traveller accommodation assessment
A Gypsy_and_Traveller_Accommodation_Assessment was completed in 2018 to identify
future accommodation needs.

Housing Needs Assessment topic paper
The Housing-Needs-Assessment-Topic-Paper sets out the findings of the Strategic Housing
Market Assessment and the Housing Needs Study, and focuses on assessing housing need,
and the number of homes that need to be planned for.

Page

48 of 55

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 286

Appendix A

Housing Needs Study 2018
We carried out a Housing_Needs Study in 2018 and this helps us to identify the size, type
and tenure of housing required, by considering the current market demand relative to supply.
It identifies a continued affordable housing imbalance.

Review of affordable housing needs in the context
of First Homes February 2021
The Review-of-affordable-housing-needs-in-the-context-of-First-Homes provides an updated
assessment of the need for affordable housing in the Borough, taking into account a new
tenure of affordable housing (First Homes). Further work is being undertaken in the context of
First Homes to support plan-making and decision-making.

Strategic Housing and Economic Land Availability
Assessment
The purpose of the strategic housing and economic land availability assessment is to identify
a potential supply of land that is suitable, available, and achievable to meet identified housing
and economic development needs.

Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA)
We carried out a joint Strategic Housing Market Assessment SHMA-2015 with Sevenoaks
and Tonbridge and Malling councils in 2015, and this was updated in 2017 SHMA_2017
The purpose of the SHMA is to assess housing needs, working with neighbouring authorities
where housing market areas cross boundaries. The aim is to identify the scale and mix of
housing and the range of tenures that the local population is likely to need over the Local
Plan period.
The SHMA identified that the Borough of Tunbridge Wells and the Sevenoaks District fall
within a West Kent Housing Market Area which also includes Tonbridge, Crowborough,
Hawkhurst and Heathfield.

Empty Homes Policy 2018 – 2023
We have been working to reduce the number of empty homes for some time and bringing
empty properties back to use can be a cost effective and sustainable way to increase the

Page

49 of 55

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 287

Appendix A
supply of housing. Our Empty Homes Policy sets out the actions we have taken so far, and
the current tools for tackling empty homes.

Housing Assistance Policy 2021 – 2026
This policy sets out our approach to grants and financial assistance to adapt homes for
people with disabilities, improve and repair homes, bring empty properties back into use and
provide energy efficiency measures
Housing-Assistance-Policy-2021-2026

Page

50 of 55

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 288

Appendix A

Appendix 2: Other useful documents
Charter for social housing residents: white paper MHCLG November 2020
charter-for-social-housing-residents

Future Buildings Standard – Government consultation 27 January 2021
the-future-buildings-standard

Future Homes Standard – Government consultation 1 October 2019
the-future-homes-standard-changes-to-part-L-and-part-F-of-the-building-regulations

Health Equity in England: Marmot Review 10 Years On 2020
Marmot Review10 Years On

Impact of Housing Problems on Mental Health – Shelter 2017
The impact of housing problems on mental health

Improving health and care through the home: a national memorandum of understanding 2018
improving-health-and-care-through-the-home

Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy 2020
Kent-and-Medway-Energy-and-Low-Emissions-Strategy.pdf

Kent and Medway Housing Strategy “A Place People want to call home” 2020 - 2025
Kent-Medway-Housing-Strategy-2020-2025

Kent County Council – Tunbridge Wells Area profile
facts-and-figures-about-Kent/area-profiles

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government Indices of Deprivation 2019

Page

51 of 55

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 289

Appendix A
government/statistics/english-indices-of-deprivation-2019

Room to improve: the role of home adaptations in improving later life 2017 – Centre for
Ageing Better
ageing-better.org.uk/publications/room-improve-role-home-adaptations-improving-later-life

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government Rough Sleeping Strategy 2018
government/publications/the-rough-sleeping-strategy

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council Climate Emergency Declaration
environment/climate-change

Page

52 of 55

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 290

Appendix A

Appendix 3: Glossary of terms
Affordable housing
This includes social rented, affordable rented, and intermediate housing (principally shared
ownership) and discounted market sales.

Category 1 hazard
This relates to the outcome of a Housing health and safety rating system (HHSRS)
assessment and where there is a high score for a particular hazard which means that the
Council must take action to remove or reduce it.

Disabled facilities grant
A grant for a person with a disability who needs to make changes to their home to enable
them to live independently.

Emergency accommodation
Often provided to meet the interim accommodation duty where there is reason to believe the
person is eligible, homeless and with priority need. This accommodation is usually a room in
a bed & breakfast with shared facilities for a single homeless applicant, and self-contained
accommodation for homeless families with children, charged on a nightly paid basis.

Energy company obligation (ECO)
A Government energy efficiency scheme to help reduce carbon emissions and fuel poverty in
private housing.

First Homes
A scheme to provide new homes for first-time buyers with a 30% discount on the market
price.

Page

53 of 55

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 291

Appendix A

Fuel poverty
A household is said to be in fuel poverty where they have required fuel costs that are above
average and if they were to spend that sum, they would be left with a residual income below
the poverty line.

House in multiple occupation (HMO)
A house where at least three tenants live, forming more than one household, and where the
WC, bathroom or kitchen facilities are shared with other tenants.

Licensed house in multiple occupation (HMO)
An HMO requires a licence where at least five tenants live there, forming more than one
household, and where the WC, bathroom or kitchen facilities are shared with other tenants.

Housing health and safety rating system (HHSRS)
This system provides a way for hazards to be assessed in private properties, and the best
way of dealing with them.

Intermediate housing
The term used for moving towards home ownership, and includes shared ownership, rent to
buy, discounted market sales, and First Homes.

Local housing allowance
The rate that determines the maximum amount of housing benefit or Universal Credit housing
element that is payable in a particular locality for each property size.

Registered provider
The term that is now used for housing associations who provide housing, and who are
registered with the Regulator of Social Housing.

Page

54 of 55

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 292

Appendix A

Rent deposit bond
An alternative to a tenant giving the landlord a cash deposit, and it is set up between the
Council, landlord and tenant.

Rent deposit loan
An interest free loan provided by the Council to cover the first month’s rent and deposit to
help someone move into a privately rented property.

Rough sleeping
Where someone is sleeping or is bedded down without adequate shelter.

Section 106 affordable housing funding
This is an agreement between a local authority and a planning applicant, which ensures that
the proposed development will contain a proportion of homes that are affordable.

Social housing
Accommodation provided at affordable rates.

Supported housing
Housing where support is provided to residents, and sometimes care packages.

Temporary accommodation
Short term accommodation provided to eligible homeless persons believed to have a priority
need and provided to meet either the interim accommodation duty or main housing duty.

Page

55 of 55

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix A - Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 - 2026
Cabinet – 17 March 2022
Revision: 8

Page 293

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix B

Appendix B: Equality Impact
Assessment for Housing,
Homelessness and Rough
Sleeping Strategy
Completed by: Sue Oliver, Private Sector Housing Manager
Signed off by: Gary Stevenson, Head of Housing, Health and Environment
Date commenced: 17 March 2021
Date completed: 23 September 2021

Background
Context
This section provides a summary of the decision to be made and the context for the decision
within wider Council priorities.
The existing West Kent Housing and Homelessness Strategy 2016 – 2021 expires in July
2021. It is a joint strategy which was undertaken in partnership with Sevenoaks District
Council, and Tonbridge and Malling District Council.
It was decided that going forward, TWBC would have its own Housing, Homelessness and
Rough Sleeping Strategy 2021 – 2026. The Strategy is currently in draft form and is listed in
the Forward Plan for Cabinet to consider on 28 October 2021, where permission to consult
will be requested. A six week consultation period will then take place, feedback will be
considered, and the Strategy will be amended and updated, as necessary. The Strategy will
then be reported to Cabinet on 17 March 2022 for adoption.

Page

1 of 17

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix B: Equality Impact Assessment for Housing, Homelessness and Rough
Sleeping Strategy
Date of publication – 14 October 2021
Revision: 2

Page 295

Appendix B

Scope of equality impact assessment (EqIA)
This section sets out what aspects are being considered, what changes are being made to
existing policies or procedures and if there are any aspects that are not being covered and
why (for example if they have already been covered in another EqIA).
The scope of the EqIA is to consider how our services/policies meet the needs of those who
are:
•
•
•
•
•
•

homeless or threatened with homelessness
rough sleepers
in need of an affordable home
living in the private rented sector
living in fuel poverty
require support from integrated housing, health and care providers

Data and information
Please see Annex 1 for data relating to our population, Residents’ Survey and performance
indicators. Specific findings in relation to protected characteristics may be described in more
detail within the consideration of impacts.

Relevance to the Public Sector Equality Duty
This section explains which of the following aspects of the Public Sector Equality Duty are
relevant and how:
a. Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct
prohibited by the Act.
b. Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not.
c. Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and
those who do not.
The Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy is relevant to any person who
resides in the Tunbridge Wells borough. It sets out key ambitions and aims for 2021 – 2026
and all of the protected characteristics in the next section have been considered.
The four over-arching ambitions are:
•
•
•
•

Preventing homelessness and ending rough sleeping;
Increasing the supply and choice of affordable homes;
Improving housing and meeting need;
Promoting homes that sustain health and wellbeing.

Page

2 of 17

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix B: Equality Impact Assessment for Housing, Homelessness and Rough
Sleeping Strategy
Date of publication – 14 October 2021
Revision: 2

Page 296

Appendix B

Consideration of impacts
Protected characteristics
Disability (including carers)
Summary of available data, statistics or consultation findings held by the service
Kent County Council district profiles facts-and-figures-about-Kent/area-profiles and facts-andfigures-about-Kent/equality-and-diversity-data
Disability in Kent - Strategic Commissioning Analytics Statistical Bulletin September 2020
Disability-in-Kent
Kent Public Health Observatory Health and social care maps kpho.org.uk/area-profile
TWBC annual housing register statistics.
TWBC disabled facilities grant completions.
How will the proposal impact on people?
Safe accessible housing can maintain or improve health and wellbeing and greatly improve
quality of life, especially as people grow older. As the number of people over 50 increases,
so does the proportion of the population with disability, accessibility, and mobility
requirements. Kent Public Health Observatory produces health and social care maps at ward
level, and with regards to Tunbridge Wells Borough Council, key issues are:
•
•

in 2017 of those aged 65+, 44% have two or more long term conditions
in 2018/19, there were 602 admissions to hospital for falls

Housing, health and social care needs to be connected in ways that improve older people’s
quality of life in terms of delivering a diverse range of housing options and providing services
to help to maintain both health and independence. We participate in the regular Kent and
Medway Clinical Commissioning Group Multi-disciplinary team meetings which identifies
adults who require support from a range of health and social care professionals, providing an
integrated, holistic and patient centred approach to their needs.
The Better Care Fund provides financial support for councils and NHS organisations to jointly
plan and deliver integrated services to cover health, social care, and housing, to prevent illhealth and avoid unnecessary hospital admissions. We use this funding to provide disabled

Page

3 of 17

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix B: Equality Impact Assessment for Housing, Homelessness and Rough
Sleeping Strategy
Date of publication – 14 October 2021
Revision: 2

Page 297

Appendix B
facilities grants to enable disabled people to live independently in their own homes, and to
provide a package of grants and financial assistance to repair, improve or provide energy
efficient measures to private sector housing. The range of grants and financial assistance is
set out in our Housing Assistance Policy 2021 – 2026
The following aims are included in the Strategy as part of our plans for 2021 - 2026
Aim
Monitor Housing Register
applications and allocations
to assess number of
vacancies and housing need

Ensure housing provision
aligns with forecast change
in needs of residents

Promote design standards
for new homes that support
independent living
Maximise use of Better Care
Fund to deliver disabled
facilities grants and other
grants and assistance

Develop joint and strategies
that align approaches to
housing and health,
promoting good health and
preventing ill-health

How we will deliver
Review banding system to
address needs of
households living with
complex disabilities and
other long term health
conditions
Explore solutions for high
needs households, including
those with children with
complex needs and
disabilities
New homes to meet
Accessible Homes Standard

By when
Year 1

Prioritise Better Care
funding and specifically
disabled facilities grants to
support independent living
for elderly and disabled
households

Years 1 - 5

Work with Housing, Health
and Social Care sub-group
to research local and
national models, share good
practice and develop
guidance and advice to
include:
• hospital discharge
• preventing delayed
transfers of care
• use of DFGs
• extra care
assistive moving on
schemes, downsizing and
mutual exchanges

Years 1- 5

Years 1 - 5

Years 1- 5

What action will be taken to reduce or mitigate any potential negative impacts?
No potential negative impacts identified.

Page

4 of 17

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix B: Equality Impact Assessment for Housing, Homelessness and Rough
Sleeping Strategy
Date of publication – 14 October 2021
Revision: 2

Page 298

Appendix B
Race
Summary of available data, statistics or consultation findings held by the service
Kent County Council district profiles facts-and-figures-about-Kent/area-profiles and facts-andfigures-about-Kent/equality-and-diversity-data
TWBC annual housing register statistics.
How will the proposal impact on people?
Most of those on the housing register (75%) describe themselves as White British, with a
further 10% describing themselves as White other, and 5% as Asian or Asian British. We will
continue to monitor the race of applicants.
The current Housing Register Allocation Policy will be updated during 2021, and the
information that we collect will be reviewed.
We will continue to assist families under the Home Office Syrian Vulnerable Persons’
Relocation Scheme, working with Kent County Council, the support organisations Rethink
and Clarion, and the local charity Tunbridge Wells Welcomes Refugees to provide privately
rented furnished homes for vulnerable families. Support is provided to families to settle and
feel at home in the Borough, including support to obtain work and claim benefits, to settle
children into school, and obtaining help with medical issues
What action will be taken to reduce or mitigate any potential negative impacts?
No potential negative impacts identified.

Sex
Summary of available data, statistics or consultation findings held by the service
Kent County Council district profiles facts-and-figures-about-Kent/area-profiles and facts-andfigures-about-Kent/equality-and-diversity-data
The ONS mid-year estimate for 2019 reports a total population of 118,700, of which 58,600
are men and 60,100 are women.
How will the proposal impact on people?
We will continue to work with partners and participate in the Sanctuary scheme for victims of
domestic violence.
Aims for 2021 – 2026
The following aims are included in the Strategy as part of our plans for 2021 - 2026

Page

5 of 17

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix B: Equality Impact Assessment for Housing, Homelessness and Rough
Sleeping Strategy
Date of publication – 14 October 2021
Revision: 2

Page 299

Appendix B
Aim
Strengthen the
support for victims
experiencing or at
risk of domestic
abuse

How we will deliver
Implement the Domestic Abuse Act
specifically the duty to provide support to
victims and their children within refuges
and other safe accommodation and
provide housing related advice and
support.

By when
Years 1 - 5

Participate in the multi-agency Domestic
Abuse Local Partnership Board

What action will be taken to reduce or mitigate any potential negative impacts?
No potential negative impacts identified.

Age (including dementia)
Summary of available data, statistics or consultation findings held by the service
Kent County Council district profiles facts-and-figures-about-Kent/area-profiles and facts-andfigures-about-Kent/equality-and-diversity-data
TWBC annual housing register statistics.
How will the proposal impact on people?
Specific groups within the community face particular challenges in meeting their housing
needs. The Strategy considers the needs of young people and older people and those
suffering from dementia, in particular.
Young people
Young people who may be particularly affected by welfare reform and meeting affordability
criteria to access housing.
Young people, if single and under the age of 35, face restrictions on claiming housing benefit
or Universal Credit if renting from a private landlord, as the maximum amount payable is the
shared room rate which is often not suitable especially for vulnerable young people. Care
leavers, of which there are a disproportionately large number in Kent, must be placed in
suitable accommodation with appropriate levels of support.
Older people
The need to provide housing for older people (generally defined as being over 65) is a
significant priority, as the proportion of older people in the population is increasing. The
number, size, location, and quality of dwellings needs to be considered, to enable older
people to live independently and safely in their own homes for as long as possible or move to

Page

6 of 17

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix B: Equality Impact Assessment for Housing, Homelessness and Rough
Sleeping Strategy
Date of publication – 14 October 2021
Revision: 2

Page 300

Appendix B
suitable accommodation if they wish. Many older people, 63.5% in the borough would
consider staying in their own homes, with 26.3% considering buying a property on the open
market and 8.5% considering renting from a social landlord.
For older people who wish to remain in their homes, a proportion will need some assistance
and/or adaptations. The disabled facilities grant is a useful intervention for maintaining
independence and helping people to remain in their homes.
New housing, in particular affordable housing, needs to be accessible and adaptable to meet
the needs of older people and those with disabilities and long-term health conditions.
Supporting independent living can help to reduce costs to health and social services and
providing more options for older people to move could also free up family size homes and
release smaller homes for first time buyers.
Extra care and dementia appropriate housing options are provided in partnership with KCC
Adult Social Care team.
Aims for 2021 - 2026
The following aims are included in the Strategy as part of our plans for 2021 - 2026
Aim
Monitor Housing
Register applications
and allocations to
assess number of
vacancies and housing
need
Maximise use of Better
Care Fund to deliver
disabled facilities grants
and other grants and
assistance
Explore the use of the
Better Care Fund to
support people with
dementia
Develop joint and
strategies that align
approaches to housing
and health, promoting
good health and
preventing ill-health

Page

7 of 17

How we will deliver
Review banding system to address
needs of households living with
complex disabilities and other long
term health conditions

By when
Year 1

Prioritise Better Care funding and
specifically disabled facilities grants
to support independent living for
elderly and disabled households

Years 1 - 5

Work with partners to deliver
dementia friendly equipment

Year 1

Work with Housing, Health and Social Years 1- 5
Care sub-group to research local and
national models, share good practice
and develop guidance and advice to
include:
• hospital discharge
• preventing delayed transfers of
care
• use of DFGs
• extra care
assistive moving on schemes,
downsizing and mutual exchanges

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix B: Equality Impact Assessment for Housing, Homelessness and Rough
Sleeping Strategy
Date of publication – 14 October 2021
Revision: 2

Page 301

Appendix B
What action will be taken to reduce or mitigate any potential negative impacts?
No potential negative impacts identified.

Religion or Belief
Summary of available data, statistics or consultation findings held by the service
Kent County Council district profiles facts-and-figures-about-Kent/area-profiles and facts-andfigures-about-Kent/equality-and-diversity-data
How will the proposal impact on people?
The Strategy provides assistance for residents, regardless of their religion/belief.
What action will be taken to reduce or mitigate any potential negative impacts?
No potential negative impacts identified.

Sexual orientation
Summary of available data, statistics or consultation findings held by the service
Kent County Council equality and diversity data facts-and-figures-about-Kent/equality-anddiversity-data
How will the proposal impact on people?
The Strategy provides assistance for residents, regardless of their sexual orientation.
What action will be taken to reduce or mitigate any potential negative impacts?
No potential negative impacts identified.

Pregnancy and maternity
Summary of available data, statistics or consultation findings held by the service
No data available.
How will the proposal impact on people?
The Strategy provides assistance for residents, regardless of their pregnancy/maternity
status.

Page

8 of 17

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix B: Equality Impact Assessment for Housing, Homelessness and Rough
Sleeping Strategy
Date of publication – 14 October 2021
Revision: 2

Page 302

Appendix B
What action will be taken to reduce or mitigate any potential negative impacts?
No potential negative impacts identified.

Gender reassignment
Summary of available data, statistics or consultation findings held by the service
No data available.
How will the proposal impact on people?
The Strategy provides assistance for residents, regardless of gender reassignment
What action will be taken to reduce or mitigate any potential negative impacts?
No potential negative impacts identified.

Marital or civil partnership status
Summary of available data, statistics or consultation findings held by the service
Kent County Council equality and diversity data facts-and-figures-about-Kent/equality-anddiversity-data
How will the proposal impact on people?
The Strategy provides assistance for residents, regardless of their marital/civil partnership
status
What action will be taken to reduce or mitigate any potential negative impacts?
No potential negative impacts identified.

Armed Forces Community
Summary of available data, statistics or consultation findings held by the service
No data available.
How will the proposal impact on people?
Additional priority on the housing register is provided for members of the Armed Forces
Community, as local connection criteria are waived for ex and serving military personnel
applying to join the register.

Page

9 of 17

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix B: Equality Impact Assessment for Housing, Homelessness and Rough
Sleeping Strategy
Date of publication – 14 October 2021
Revision: 2

Page 303

Appendix B
What action will be taken to reduce or mitigate any potential negative impacts?
There are no potential negative impacts, but it is worth noting that the Housing Register
Allocations Policy will be reviewed during 2021 and priority for ex and serving military
personnel will be considered.

Conclusions
This section summarises the details of any positive or negative impacts that have been
identified and any actions that may be required to mitigate negative impacts.

Aims of the Strategy
Some of the aims of the Strategy for 2021 – 2026 apply to all groups with protected
characteristics as follows:
Aim
Develop affordable housing
for residents on the housing
register

How we will deliver
Monitor delivery and review
if the housing needs of all
residents are being met,
including those with
disabilities or long-term
health conditions

By when
Years 1 - 5

Review the Housing
Register Allocations Policy
and adopt new Policy

Ensure alignment with
Homelessness Reduction
Act and work with registered
providers to align allocation
policies
Monitor changing needs

Years 1 -2

Ensure housing provision
aligns with forecast change
in needs of residents

Years 1 - 5

Outcome
The Public Sector Equality Duty (section 149 of the Equality Act 2010) requires the Council to
have due regard to:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)

Page

10 of 17

eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct
prohibited by the Equality Act 2010
(ii) advance equality of opportunity between people from different groups, and
(iii) foster good relations between people from different groups.

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix B: Equality Impact Assessment for Housing, Homelessness and Rough
Sleeping Strategy
Date of publication – 14 October 2021
Revision: 2

Page 304

Appendix B
The impact has been analysed and does not vary between groups of people. The actions
identified in the Strategy will assist all residents at risk of homelessness.
Select one/delete those that are not relevant from the list below:
Continue the policy

When will this equality impact assessment be
reviewed
It will be reviewed every six months when the Strategy is reviewed, by the Housing Advisory
Panel.

Page

11 of 17

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix B: Equality Impact Assessment for Housing, Homelessness and Rough
Sleeping Strategy
Date of publication – 14 October 2021
Revision: 2

Page 305

Appendix B

Annex 1 – Borough Data
Population data
Disability
The 2011 Census recorded that 12,763 households (27.1 per cent) in the borough include
people with a long-term health problem or disability. Of these 2,260 households (4.8 per
cent) include two or more persons with a long-term health problem or disability.
16,371 people (14.3 per cent) in the borough have their day to day activities limited a little or
a lot by a long-term illness or disability. This is lower than the Kent average of 17.6 per cent
and lower than the national average of 17.9 per cent.
9.2% (10,539) of population provide unpaid care.

Age
Mid-year population estimates (2019) recorded the average age of the borough’s population
as 41.5. This compares with a Kent average of 41.2 years and a national average of 40.2
years. Currently, 19.4 per cent of the borough’s population is aged over 65. Population
forecasts indicate that 25.2 per cent of the borough’s population will be aged over 65 by
2038. This is in line with population forecasts for the Kent area.

Sex
The ONS mid-year estimates (2019) puts the percentage of females in the Borough as 50.6
percent, and males as 49.4 percent. The number of females over 85 years is significantly
higher than the number of males.

Race
The 2011 Census recorded that 5,810 people (5.1 per cent) in the borough are from a Black
or Minority Ethnic background. This is lower than the Kent average of 6.9 per cent and the
national average of 14.6 per cent.

Religion or belief
The 2011 Census recorded that 62.9 per cent of the population is Christian. This is higher
than the Kent average of 61.8 per cent and the national average of 59.4 per cent. 26.6 per
cent of the population have no religion. Small proportions of the remainder of the population
are Muslim, Buddhist, Hindu, Sikh and Jewish.

Page

12 of 17

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix B: Equality Impact Assessment for Housing, Homelessness and Rough
Sleeping Strategy
Date of publication – 14 October 2021
Revision: 2

Page 306

Appendix B
Sexual orientation
Sexual orientation data is not captured by the Census. There are plans to include this as a
question topic for the Census in 2021.

Pregnancy or maternity
The ONS Birth Summary Tables (2019) show that the total fertility rate for Tunbridge Wells
Borough was 1.75, which is similar to the Kent average of 1.76 and higher than the national
average of 1.65.
In 2019, there were 56.8 births per 1,000 of the borough’s population. This is lower than the
Kent average of 59.4 and the national average of 57.5.

Marital or civil partnership status
The 2011 Census recorded that 50.1 per cent of the borough’s population are married. This
is higher than the Kent average of 48.9 per cent and the national average of 46.6 per cent.

Gender reassignment
At present, there is no official estimate of the trans population. Gender reassignment data is
not captured by the Census. The Census (2021) will update the national information
recorded on sex and gender and allow for respondents to enter their own identity in a free
text box, if they do not feel it is the same as their sex as assigned at birth.

Residents’ Survey (2015)
Summary of where significant differences were found by demographic group.

Disability
Contact with the Council
Those with a disability were more likely to have contacted the Council (main method of
contact by telephone and in person).

Age
Contact with the Council
Those aged 35-54 were most likely to have contacted the Council overall.

Page

13 of 17

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix B: Equality Impact Assessment for Housing, Homelessness and Rough
Sleeping Strategy
Date of publication – 14 October 2021
Revision: 2

Page 307

Appendix B
A higher proportion of those aged 55+ have contacted the Council by telephone.
Those aged 16-34 were more likely to use the website as the primary means of obtaining
information.
Those aged 35-54 were more likely to use the website as the most common means of
obtaining information but the local newspaper and Local are also common.
Those aged 55+ were more likely to use the local newspaper as the most common means of
obtaining information and Local is also common.
Higher proportions of those aged 16-54 have access to the internet, consider themselves
confident/expert and consider the internet to be essential.
Those aged 35-44 were more likely to disagree that they can influence decisions in their local
area and more likely to be interested in being involved in decisions that affect their local area.
Town Centre
Those aged 16-54 were more likely to visit the town centre at least once a week than those
aged 55+.
Those aged 16-34 were more likely to be satisfied with the town centre than those aged 55+.
Feelings of safety
Those aged 16-54 were more likely to feel safe walking alone in their local area during the
day and after dark than those aged 55+.
Importance of services
Those aged 16-34 ranked providing support to local businesses and the creation of jobs,
activities for promoting health and wellbeing and housing services as important.
Those aged 35-54 ranked protecting the quality of the local environment, providing support to
local businesses/creation of jobs and activities for promoting health and wellbeing as
important.
Those aged 55+ ranked events, theatres and arts as important.
Those aged 16-54 ranked using technology to redesign how services are provided as
important.
Those aged 55+ ranked asking users to pay more towards the cost of discretionary services
as important.

Sex
Feelings of safety
Males were more likely to feel safe walking alone in their local area during the day and after
dark.

Page

14 of 17

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix B: Equality Impact Assessment for Housing, Homelessness and Rough
Sleeping Strategy
Date of publication – 14 October 2021
Revision: 2

Page 308

Appendix B
Race
Satisfaction with the Council and value for money
Respondents of a Black and Minority Ethnic background were more likely to strongly agree
that TWBC provides value for money than residents of White origin.
Respondents of a Black and Minority Ethnic background were more likely to be very satisfied
with how the Council runs things than residents of White British origin.
Contact with the Council
Respondents of White origin were more likely to have visited the Council’s website than
respondents of a Black and Minority Ethnic background.

Religion or belief
This information was not collected by the Residents’ Survey.

Sexual orientation
This information was not collected by the Residents’ Survey.

Pregnancy or maternity
This information was not collected by the Residents’ Survey.

Marital or civil partnership status
This information was not collected by the Residents’ Survey.

Gender reassignment
This information was not collected by the Residents’ Survey.

Performance indicators by service
Data collected in 2019-20.

Page

15 of 17

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix B: Equality Impact Assessment for Housing, Homelessness and Rough
Sleeping Strategy
Date of publication – 14 October 2021
Revision: 2

Page 309

Appendix B
Assembly Hall
Number of Access Focussed Performances per annum – 6.

Cemetery and Crematorium
Percentage of Muslim burials at the Crematorium – 5%.

Housing
Percentage of applicants from a Black and Minority Ethnic Background on the housing
register – 13.5%
Percentage of applicants from a Black and Minority Ethnic Background housed through the
housing register – 10.9%.
Percentage of full-time and occasional wheelchair users on the housing register – 1.6%.
Percentage of full-time and occasional wheelchair users housed through the housing register
– 3%.
Percentage of those aged 16-24 on the housing register – 13.8%.
Percentage of those aged 16-24 housed – 18.4%.
Percentage of those aged 55+ on the housing register – 20.5%.
Percentage of those aged 55+ housed – 28.9%.
Number (estimated) of rough sleepers aged 16-24 (snapshot 31/03/2020) – 1.
Number of households in temporary accommodation aged 16-24 (snapshot 31/03/2020) - 4.
Number of homeless acceptances aged 16-24 (snapshot 31/03/2020) - 11.
Number of Disabled Facilities Grants completed per year - 89.

Human resources
Average age of the Council's workforce (mean) – 43.98.
Percentage of women in top 10 per cent highest paid Council employees – 43.36%.
Percentage of local authority employees with a disability- 3.4%.
Percentage of local authority employees from a Black and Minority Ethnic Background –
4.23%.
Percentage of applicants for Council vacancies with a disability – 2.31%.
Percentage of those recruited with a disability – 3.51%.

Page

16 of 17

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix B: Equality Impact Assessment for Housing, Homelessness and Rough
Sleeping Strategy
Date of publication – 14 October 2021
Revision: 2

Page 310

Appendix B
Percentage of applicants for Council vacancies from a Black and Minority Ethnic Background
– 12.08%.
Percentage of those recruited who are from a Black and Minority Ethnic Background –
7.01%.
Gender pay gap reporting figures are available at:
https://tunbridgewells.gov.uk/council/freedom-of-information-and-transparency/gender-paygap

Licensing
Number of licensed wheelchair accessible taxis and private hire vehicles - 27.

Revenues and Benefits
Number of 16-24 year olds affected by the benefit cap (annual) - 0
Number of people in receipt of single room rate aged under 35 (annual) - 12

Page

17 of 17

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Appendix B: Equality Impact Assessment for Housing, Homelessness and Rough
Sleeping Strategy
Date of publication – 14 October 2021
Revision: 2

Page 311

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 14

Urgent Business
For Cabinet on Thursday 17 March 2022

Procedural Item
To consider any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent, for the reasons to be
stated, in accordance with Section 100B(4) of the Local Government Act 1972.

Page

1 of 1

Page 313

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Urgent Business

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 15

Date of the Next Meeting
For Cabinet on Thursday 17 March 2022

Procedural Item
To note that the next scheduled meeting is Thursday 14 April 2022 at 10:30am

Page

1 of 1

Page 315

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Date of the Next Meeting

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 16

Exempt Items
For Cabinet on Thursday 17 March 2022

Procedural Item
It is proposed that, pursuant to section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 and the
Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006, the public be excluded
from the meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that they may involve the
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Schedule 12A of the Act, by virtue of the
particular paragraphs shown on the agenda and on the attached reports.

Page

1 of 1

Page 317

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Exempt Items

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix A

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended).

Document is Restricted

Page 319

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix B

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended).

Document is Restricted

Page 325

This page is intentionally left blank

